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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RARE CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
BHE12A31HIEFE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
AR®FTT AR®FT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
LN Revenue 85,428 41,826
FRPRISIRATEE Loss before income tax (59,466) (110,400)
FREEN ZEEIEAREE Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year (59,108) (127,162)

KBRS NELER Loss and total comprehensive loss for the

BN EEEBAERE year attributable to owners of the Company (59,311) (127,033)

BEMEE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
#12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
ARETTT AR®FT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets
ERBNEE Non-current assets 79,140 91,819
mEEE Current assets 187,424 234,581
BEHE Total assets 266,564 326,400
Emhas Equity and liabilities
IERBas Non-current liabilities 10,121 12,219
mEaE Current liabilities 246,788 245,418
BE4EE Total liabilities 256,909 257,637
TR AEEE Total equity 9,655 68,763
e (8B BEFE Net current (liabilities)/assets (59,364) (10,837)
“ETUEFR
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6 China New Energy Limited

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of China New Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group” or “We”), | am pleased to present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“Reporting
Year”).

In 2024, the global economy continued its slow recovery amid multiple
challenges. According to forecasts by the International Monetary Fund
(IMF), global economic growth is projected to reach 3.2% in 2024,
slightly lower than 3.3% in 2023. Escalating geopolitical tensions,
rising trade protectionism, and further expansion of global debt have
contributed to a sluggish economic outlook. The prolonged tensions
between China and the United States have significantly impacted the
global trade system, increasing trade barriers worldwide. In addition,
our potential projects abroad, such as those in Africa and Southeast
Asia, have seen slow progress in recent years.

Despite challenges such as weak recovery, geopolitical tensions
and shrinking external demand, there are new opportunities for
the global economy amid turbulence and transformation. Scientific
and technological innovation has become a new driving force for
economic development, and investment in fields such as artificial
intelligence, new energy and biotechnology has accelerated the pace
of industrial upgrading and economic structure optimization. China’s
economy has maintained relatively sound growth. According to the
latest forecast of the World Bank, China’s economy is expected to
grow by 4.8% in 2024, placing it among the fastest-growing major
economies worldwide. Particularly in high-tech and green, low-carbon
sectors, China’s proactive policies signal long-term and high-quality
development.

Leveraging this opportunity, the Group’s marketing team explored
project opportunities by participating in industry exhibitions, seminars
and visiting existing and new customers, and did their very best
to secure new projects. With the joint efforts of all employees, the
Group succeeded in reversing the downward trend of operations and
achieved significant improvements in profitability.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Our total revenue increased by 104.2% from approximately RMB41.83
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB85.43 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Due to the
aforementioned market environment and other factors, the number of
newly signed contracts significantly increased in 2024, resulting in a
significant increase in operating income.

Our net loss dropped by 53.21% from a loss of approximately
RMB126.72 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to a loss
of approximately RMB59.29 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, mainly due to the increase in turnover and the increase in gross
profit by approximately RMB21.99 million from a gross loss of last
year. At the same time, due to the provision for loss of contract assets
and receivables, which was reduced by 53.1% as compared with last
year, the Company’s net operating loss was significantly reduced.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group has always been focusing on researching energy
conservation and emission reduction, updating technology and
equipment, and providing respective upgrades for the industries in
which we operate. The Group has also strengthened its efforts in
research and development in the fields of clean energy and new
energy, such as hydrogen energy technology development and
equipment manufacturing. In the future, capitalizing on its leading
position in the clean energy technology industry, the Company
will continue to increase investment in technology research and
development. With a view to empowering the Group’s business growth
with leading technologies, we will conduct effective exchanges and
cooperation with customers, universities and research institutes so as
to create an organic combination of production, learning and research.

—EFFR
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8 China New Energy Limited

Looking ahead, the development and innovation of new technologies
have brought about new opportunities to the global economy.
However, climate change and environmental issues will become
one of the major challenges to global economic growth. With the
continuous improvement in people’s awareness of environmental
protection, governments and enterprises around the world have begun
to increase investment in environmental protection, thereby promoting
the development of the green economy. The green economy plays an
increasingly important role in future economic growth. Over the coming
years, with the world’s attention and commitment to carbon emission
reduction and carbon neutrality and China’s dual carbon goals, the
application and development of new energy production technologies
will enter into a new era. The Group will actively adapt to this trend and
continue to increase its investment in the fields of clean energy and
new energy to contribute to the realization of sustainable development
goals.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my appreciation to the
valued shareholders of the Company, supportive business partners
and associates, insightful management team and dedicated staff for
all their contributions and commitments to the Company. In addition,
| would also like to thank the Board for their valuable leadership in
steering the Group.

Yu Weijun
Chairman and Executive Director

31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is a leading ethanol system producer in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”). We primarily provide
integrated services including engineering design, equipment
manufacturing, installation and commissioning, and subsequent
maintenance for the core system of ethanol production system in
the ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage industries in the PRC. The
Company has been qualified as a National High-Tech Enterprise
equipped with a provincial standard technology centre. We have
cooperated with Guangzhou Institute of Energy Conversion, Chinese
Academy of Sciences and various well-known universities, and
have undertaken many national research projects with 39 patented
technologies researched and developed by the Company. These
proprietary intellectual properties enable us to provide production
processes and technologies for alcohol, ethanol fuel and similar
chemicals for customers at large. The pressure vessel equipment
designed and constructed by the Company is both CE and ASME
certified.

The Company is well-equipped to undertake a full range of services
from engineering design, large-scale equipment manufacturing to
integration, installation and commissioning, and maintenance for
alcohol, ethanol fuel, biobutanol, recycling of waste alcohol after
extracting xanthan gum concentration and similar production systems.
We provide customers with complete customised solutions for
project construction, relocation, upgrading, transformation, system
manufacturing and installation of systems. According to our business
process and operation system, we have established a business
model led by marketing service and followed by technical research
and development (“R&D") centre support, centralised procurement,
collaborative production, distribution and on-site production,
equipment system integration, installation and commissioning, where
each step is assigned with technical engineer service. We have thus
created a comprehensive system of design, construction, installation
and commissioning and turnkey project to sincerely serve our
customers.

—EFFR
Annual Report 2024 9



EEEmED
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

20245 » "ABFERNMH ZENHRER
ERHESRRTE » BERTT  ERABRER
RIS - B - WMEBKRE - AN ZEH
BIBEHETRETL &M 28 BEEE
7 BEAOHMKE CEEELEELEBA
80% > HRRFEIEEBRS > N152023F 2
EREN—F - EXRA > BIRAMBZENEE
SPERS  BESHENRE - X B8 T
TR98E > BN REEMARFZE > NEKE
MELLEEES » EBRAIERE - B
BERBHHARERHTEM - BN ZEN
HEBINCRLIRBEIRR » RMMAREERERE
MEE BRI T RED » HEEER
REBZANRSKT  EMTE TR CE
AHE - EEMER T EERRTBEREBXR
TIBNERER > THIIBERNEMEIR
ETERFAEMNE > SEERFRBBIAMEA
Mo ERARSFRIBGTSHMNE - BRL
HRMGBRRRRETE > RFPEEER
By —LEIEN  RERFEMNEEREERE
1€ o EHAINRRE—ERELFET FTX
MAERBRFRIER o

FTREBEBBEEEHSM 0 R T EER
RRFHEIREMERBCELWIRBE T
BRIERNERZETENRERE » AAFH
RANARRATR M S > BB 2B ER
EEGRE - RBZE  BAENERRSE - 5
Sh 0 BRARBANRZEZFHNRBERIE
RERNBR10F - WHEERBRMNER
FHREERX » XRBBRBRRMBEREH
B BESKRCNEHETR > FRERSES
BVGMRE o

10

China New Energy Limited

In 2024, the development of the ethanol fuel market in which the
Company operates was characterised by stable production but
declining prices and sluggish domestic demand. Firstly, in terms of
production volume, the domestic supply of ethanol fuel was mainly
concentrated in the provinces of Heilongjiang, Jilin, Anhui and
Liaoning, which accounted for more than 80% of the national ethanol
fuel production, with the Heilongjiang Province having the largest
production volume, accounting for approximately half of the total
volume of China in 2023. This indicates that domestic ethanol fuel
production was highly concentrated and relatively stable. Secondly,
the downward trend in prices was partly attributable to adverse factors
on the cost side, such as a year-on-year decline in corn prices, which
resulted in insufficient cost support. Thirdly, despite the increase in
travel after relaxation of the pandemic restrictions, the consumption of
ethanol fuel did not show significant growth. On the contrary, due to
structural changes in energy sources, the demand for fuel decreased
and the consumption of petrol was much lower than the peak before
the outbreak, which in turn affected the consumption of ethanol fuel.
As a result, manufacturers are no longer pursuing an indiscriminate
expansion of market share, nor are they adding production capacity
or constructing new factories. Involution of the industry has
intensified, with various enterprises vying for market share through
technological innovation and product upgrades. Internationally, due
to the cumulative influence of geopolitical factors, potential projects in
Africa, Southeast Asia, and other foreign countries that we have been
communicating with in recent years have made slow progress. The
above internal and external factors have to some extent affected the
development of the industry and the Company’s business.

The Company has been actively changing the direction of marketing
and opened up the market of waste alcohol enrichment and impurity
removal projects and projects for recycling of waste alcohol after
extracting xanthan gum. At present, with the rapid development of the
domestic coal to ethanol industry, the Company will also strengthen
the R&D efforts of that industrial technology and actively participate
in the production line design, equipment installation, commissioning,
and after-sales service of the enterprises. Moreover, since a lot of
equipment of our regular clients has been used for 10 years or
more and is facing the need for equipment replacement or product
upgrades, the Company will actively explore new product marketing
models and make use of a variety of marketing tactics to strive for
more contracts.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

To overcome the difficult economic environment, the Company
focused on the following business activities in 2024:

(1)

(2)

Striving to develop business

The Company continuously strengthened marketing promotion
and customer development efforts through industry research
and market dynamics analysis. We actively visited and
communicated with our customers, actively participated in
industry conferences and exhibitions, and effectively promoted
our business. We also strived to expand our market influence
through good long-term cooperation with our major customers
and reach new customers. Our endeavors yielded outstanding
achievements during the Reporting Year. The Company has
signed 20 new contracts domestically which are currently
executed, with the value of projects signed increasing from
approximately RMB68 million in 2023 to around RMB192
million in 2024. The growth in contract sum for 2024 was
primarily attributable to the anhydrous ethanol dehydration
business within the coal to ethanol industry. Additionally, the
projects for recycling of waste alcohol, as a new business of the
Group, also contributed to the increase in contract sum.

Continuous advancement of R&D of new technologies

The Company continued to increase R&D investment and
adhered to the innovation-oriented business philosophy to
maintain the Company’s technical competitiveness which laid
down a solid technical foundation to support the Company’s
market development. During the Reporting Year, the Company
invested a total of RMB2.7 million in R&D, which mainly
focused on biomass fuel production technology and small
scaled hydrogen production equipment.

—EFFR
Annual Report 2024
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China New Energy Limited

(3)

Progress of contracted projects

The Group has actively executed existing contracted projects,
which included a project for the procurement of ethanol
molecular sieve dehydration system for coalification of 500,000
tons/year of methanol to ethanol in Shaanxi Province; a project
for the procurement of ethanol molecular sieve dehydration
system for electrolyte precursor of 200,000 tons/year of
ethanol unit in Hubei Province; a main contracting project
for the design and construction of energy-saving renovation
of the 4-line distillation and evaporation unit in Jilin Province;
a project for waste alcohol distillation unit for xanthan gum
extraction and an isoleucine amino acid project in Xinjiang
Uygur Autonomous Region. In addition, we also undertook a
number of facility upgrade projects for ethanol fuel and edible
alcohol producers. During the Reporting Year, the Group
invested most of its manpower and resources in these domestic
projects. The three largest projects generated revenue of
RMB50.07 million, accounting for 58.61% of the Group’s total
revenue for the Reporting Year.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

(1)

Business development strategy

It was clearly proposed in the “14th Five-Year Plan” of China
to expand the application of biofuels. The target consumption
of ethanol fuels may reach 12 million tons by 2025, and the
demand for equipment will grow in tandem with the expansion
of production capacity. In the next few years, with the world’s
attention and commitment to carbon emission reduction and
carbon neutrality and China’s dual carbon goals, application
and development of new energy production technologies will
enter a new stage.

The Company will seize this historic opportunity and actively
develop new technologies and new business given its leading
position in the industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Strengthening domestic market position

In the short term, the demand for equipment
replacement in China will yield steady growth. In the
long term, the Company has to withstand industry
fluctuations by leveraging technological innovation
(e.g. cellulosic ethanol, synthetic biotechnology) and
diversification (hydrogen energy equipment and bio-
based materials). We will establish a differentiated
advantage in the realms of energy efficiency,
environmental protection, and intelligent solutions,
emerging as a leader in China’s bioenergy equipment
sector.

Expanding into overseas emerging markets

Internationally, we will continue to actively explore
overseas markets. We will continue to push for the
early commencement of the major overhaul project of
the Romanian ethanol fuel plant signed in 2024. At
the same time, we will target at Southeast Asia (where
there are rich cassava raw materials), Brazil (where
there is demand for the sugarcane ethanol technology)
and other regions for the export of China’s equipment
solutions with high price-performance ratios. Against
the backdrop of strengthening biofuel policies in Europe
and the U.S. (e.g. the EU’s RED Il requires renewable
energy consumption to increase to 40% by 2030),
we will also endeavour to expand our market share by
leveraging China’s price-performance advantage in
terms of equipment.

As climate change poses an increasingly serious threat
to human society, biofuels have gradually developed
into a part of the global energy supply system. In the
future, as the carbon peak and carbon neutral targets of
China are approaching, and the trend of green energy
transformation is getting more and more intense, it is
expected that the biofuel industry will still have much
room for growth in the long run.

—EFFR
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China New Energy Limited

(2)

Looking forward, the Company will further strengthen the
building of our marketing team, continuously improve the
depth and breadth of the sales network, maintain good
relationships with the existing customers and actively acquire
new customers. The Company will also proactively explore
investment opportunities in related industries and increase
production equipment manufacturing and technical service
income from other chemicals in order to expand the current
revenue portfolio.

Strengthening technology R&D

The Company believes that independent innovation is essential
for its sustainable development. Since its establishment,
the Company has committed substantial resources to R&D
for new technologies and processes for energy-saving and
environmental-friendly new energy production. As at the end
of the Reporting Year, the Company and its subsidiaries have
registered a total of 39 valid patents, including 25 invention
patents.

The Company aims to maintain its technical leadership in the
ethanol fuel market. Through our R&D efforts in the cutting
edge 1.5th and 2nd generation cellulose ethanol production
technologies, hydrogen energy production technology, as well
as high-carbon ethanol production technology through ethanol
intensive processing and related equipment manufacturing, we
will be able to increase project income from cellulose ethanol,
hydrogen energy industry and high-carbon ethanol equipment
manufacturing in the future.

Leveraging the development and manufacturing of
pretreatment, fermentation and purification equipment
compatible with multiple raw materials (such as corn, cassava,
straw and cellulose), we will mitigate customers’ reliance on a
single source of raw material supply. By introducing an Internet
of Things (loT) remote monitoring system, we will enhance
the automation level of our equipment, thereby assisting
clients in reducing operational costs. Meanwhile, we will
pursue advancements in energy efficiency and environmental
protection, including the optimization of equipment energy
consumption (such as reduction in steam usage and the
implementation of wastewater recycling technologies) to meet
the environmental standards as required under China’s dual
carbon goals.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capitalizing on its leading position in the clean energy
technology industry, the Company will continue to increase
investment in technology R&D. We conduct effective exchanges
and cooperation with customers, universities and research
institutes so as to create a R&D and production model with
an organic combination of production, learning and research.
Our R&D activities will focus on ethanol fuel technology, super
grade alcohol, hydrogen production, green bio-based chemicals
and equipment manufacturing technology and related chemical
production processes, with our technology ahead of the curve
s0 as to empower the business growth of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Reporting Year, the Company realized a total operating
revenue of RMB85.43 million (2023: RMB41.83 million), an increase
of 104.2% over the year ended 31 December 2023, and a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of RMB59.50 million (2023:
loss of RMB126.59 million), which decreased by 53.0% compared
to the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase in revenue was
mainly because the Company received more orders when compared
with last year. The total amount of contracts for the Reporting Year
increased by approximately 182.4% as the Company actively explored
the business of enrichment and impurity removal of waste alcohol,
recycling of waste alcohol after extracting xanthan gum and coal to
ethanol business in addition to the traditional industry.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales increased by approximately RMB21.61 million, or
46.0%, from approximately RMB46.95 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately RMB68.56 million for the Reporting
Year. Such increase was mainly driven by the corresponding increase
in revenue of the Reporting Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately RMB21.99 million
from loss of approximately RMB5.12 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to profit of approximately RMB16.87 million for the
Reporting Year. The Group’s overall gross profit margin increased
from approximately -12.2% for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately 19.7% for the Reporting Year. The increase in gross
profit margin was mainly due to the increase in the gross profit margins
of contracts.

—EFFR
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China New Energy Limited

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately RMB2.50 million, or 28.5%, from approximately
RMB8.76 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB11.26 million for the Reporting Year, mainly due to
the increase in engineering projects.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately RMB0.09
million, or 0.5%, from approximately RMB17.16 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB17.25 million for the
Reporting Year.

Net impairment losses under expected credit loss model

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group engaged an
independent valuer to evaluate the expected credit loss on the trade
and other receivables and contract assets. Based on current economic
conditions, historical collection experience and outlook, the Group was
required to record a further impairment loss on the trade and other
receivables and contract assets totalling approximately RMB35.67
million for the Reporting Year, which decreased by approximately
RMB40.36 million, or 53.1% compared to RMB76.03 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group has strengthened its
collection policies and held ongoing discussions with the customers
about collection and billings and is prepared to take legal action if
necessary.

Other income and other losses — net

The total of other income and other losses — net increased by
approximately RMB1.86 million from loss of approximately RMB2.48
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to loss of approximately
RMB4.34 million for the Reporting Year, mainly attributable to the
increase in provision for claims for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Finance costs — net

The Group’s finance costs — net decreased by approximately
RMB50,000 from approximately RMB1.83 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB1.78 million for the
Reporting Year. The finance costs mainly represented interests on
bank borrowings.
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Loss attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, for the Reporting Year, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB59.50 million as compared to a loss of approximately RMB126.59
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB67.09 million or 53.0%, mainly due to
the increase in revenue and decrease in impairment losses under the
expected credit loss model.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, there were a total of 589,758,898 shares
in issue. There was no change in the number of issued shares of
the Company during the Reporting Year. The Group’s operation and
investments were financed principally by cash generated from its
business operations and equity contribution from the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”). As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately RMB59.36 million
(2023: net current liabilities of approximately RMB10.84 million) and
bank deposits, balances and cash of approximately RMB4.17 million
(2023: approximately RMB5.17 million). As at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB10.10 million (2023: approximately RMB69.41
million), and the Group’s total debt comprising lease liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB256.91 million (2023: approximately
RMB257.64 million). The Directors have confirmed that the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall
due in the foreseeable future. The Group expresses its gearing ratio
as a percentage of total debts divided by total equity. The Group’s
gearing ratio was approximately 26.60 (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately 3.75).

BORROWINGS AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings were approximately
RMB32.23 million (31 December 2023: RMB26.99 million), of which
RMB26.03 million will be repayable within 1 year. Such loans were all
denominated in RMB. The weighted average effective interest rates as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were 3.85% and 3.72%, respectively.
There is no seasonal requirement for borrowings. As at 31 December
2024, certain bill receivables and the right-of-use land and buildings of
the Company’s subsidiaries have been pledged to the bank as security
for banking facilities granted to the Group. The pledged land and
properties will be released upon the settlement of relevant loans.

—EFFR
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China New Energy Limited

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the Group’s operations in China, the major revenues and expenses
are denominated in RMB. Since there are certain monetary assets and
monetary liabilities that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, the
Group would be exposed to foreign exchange risk. The Group currently
does not have any foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Company monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the
need arises.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not have significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures, and neither did the Group have any
plans for material investments or acquisition of capital assets as at 31
December 2024.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group’s financing and treasury activities are centrally managed
and controlled at the corporate level. Bank borrowings of the Group
are all denominated in RMB and have been arranged on instalment
repayment basis. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into derivative
transactions for speculative purposes.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material capital
commitments (2023: Nil).
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LITIGATIONS

On 13 December 2024, a customer initiated a legal claim (Court Case
No. (2024)50181 EE#J6713%5%) against Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan
New Energy Science and Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company. The claim involves the cancellation of a revenue contract
and a request for a refund of RMB3,000,000 for the settled sales
amount, along with RMB500,000 in damages for breach of contract.

Based on the opinion of the Group’s external lawyer, the Company’s
directors consider it probable that the customer will successfully
claim these amounts. Consequently, a provision of approximately
RMB3,500,000 has been made regarding this claim for the year
ended 31 December 2024, which is included in other payables as of
31 December 2024.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information for the Group is disclosed in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 82 employees (2023: 85
employees). The decrease in the number of employees was mainly
attributable to the staff turnover in the project management and
support department in the PRC. The Group believes that ongoing and
continuous development of its employees is critical to its success.
The Group provides its employees with tailored training programmes
that are designed to upgrade their skills and knowledge and to
prepare them for the next step in their career paths within the Group.
The Group entered into separate labour contracts with each of its
employees in accordance with the applicable labour laws of China.
The remuneration offered to employees generally includes salaries and
bonuses. In general, the Group determines salaries of its employees
based on each employee’s qualifications, position and performance.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the distribution of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

From 31 December 2024 to the date of this annual report, no
significant events have occurred.
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China New Energy Limited

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YU Weijun, aged 60, is an executive Director and chairman
of the Board. He joined the Group in August 2006. Mr. Yu is
primarily responsible for the overall strategic planning and corporate
development of the Group. He is also a member of the remuneration
committee, the chairman of each of the nomination committee and the
risk management committee of the Company. Mr. Yu is a director of
Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology
Co., Lid.* (EERHRKTHERREERLQE), Guangdong Boluo
Zhongke Tianyuan High and New Technology Engineering Co., Ltd.* (&
REBEPRKXTEMEM TEERAE) and Guangzhou Hydrogen
Power Technology Co., Ltd.* (BMEEFRHEBIENE).

Mr. Yu has over 36 years of experience in the technology sector. From
June 2014 to October 2018, he was appointed as the supervisor of
Tiandi Science & Technology Co., Ltd.* (R RN HREAE])
(a listed company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
600582). From September 2015 to December 2018, Mr. Yu was
the director of Hubei Jin Zhuang Renewable Resources of Science
and Technology Co., Ltd.* Gt £HREBEERERERE). From
January 2016 to January 2022, he acted as an independent non-
executive director of Guangzhou Startec Science and Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (BMNEZERE DB IR AE]) (a listed company on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code: 430429).

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Jilin University
of Finance and Economics (MBI KE) (previously known
as Jilin Institute of Finance and Economics* (EMEEERR)) in
Changchun, China. He also obtained an Executive Master of Business
Administration from Sun Yat-Sen University (also known as Zhongshan
University*) (FILLIKZ2) in Guangzhou, China. Mr. Yu is a member of
The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants* (PRI &5t
Bt &) and a member of the Guangdong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants* (BER A EZTENHE) .

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. TANG Zhaoxing, aged 55, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company. He joined the Group in August 2006.
Mr. Tang is primarily responsible for overseeing the overall operation,
sales and project design and management of the Group.

From June 2002 to August 2006, Mr. Tang was a general manager of
Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan Regeneration Resources Engineering
Co., Lid.* (BERFRIKXTHBEERIEBEAT). He is the director
and deputy chief executive officer of Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan
New Energy Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (e R K TH
BERRIBBRAE)) and the director of Guangdong Boluo Zhongke
Tianyuan High and New Technology Engineering Co., Ltd.* (EBER&1#
ZEPRIITTEMRIT TEGRAE) and Guangzhou Hydrogen Power
Technology Co., Ltd. *(BEMNEERE B RAE).

Mr. Tang has over 34 years of experience in the engineering and
technology sectors. Prior to joining the Group, he has held various
management and engineer positions in the sectors of operation and
sales; process and equipment installation design; process planning
and design; and technology and project management.

Mr. Tang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in engineering from South
China University of Technology GERIET AZ) in Guangdong, China
and an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from
Peking University (JEERAZ) in Beijing, China.

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Richard Antony BENNETT, aged 56, was appointed as a Director
and re-designated as an independent non-executive Director in March
2011 and July 2020 respectively. He is also a member of each of
the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination
committee and the risk management committee of the Company.

Mr. Bennett has over 31 years of experience in the technology sector.
Prior to joining the Group, he was a director and a co-founder and
later a consultant of FAI Inc. (currently known as Ziff Davis Inc.) from
January 1994 to June 1999. Mr. Bennett was a director of Virtual
Internet plc (stock code: VI), the shares of which are listed on the
London Stock Exchange, from January 1999 to December 2001 and
was a corporate development director at Coms plc and later promoted
as the chief executive officer from November 2005 to January 2013.
He was also a non-executive director of MTI Wireless Edge Ltd. (stock
code: MWE), the shares of which are listed on the London Stock
Exchange, from February 2013 to March 2022. He is a non-executive
director and chairman of Getech Group plc (stock code: GTC) and
an independent non-executive director of Ethernity Networks Ltd.
(stock code: ENET). Both companies are listed on the London Stock
Exchange. Mr. Bennett is also a director and chief executive officer of
Sunbird Bioenergy Africa Limited and a director of related companies
that include Grey Reach Investments Limited, Sunbird Bioenergy
Management Services, Sunbird Bioenergy Sierra Leone Limited,
Sunbird Bioenergy and Zambia Limited.

Mr. CHAN Shing Fat Heron, aged 62, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in July 2020. He is also the
chairman of the remuneration committee, a member of each of the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in marketing and sales
management. He has held various senior management, managing
directors, consultants and directors positions in sectors of account
management and marketing, managing sales and marketing activities,
liaison to various entities and business associations and project
partnership. Since May 2007, Mr. Chan has been the managing
director of IC Strategy Company Limited, where he has been
responsible for organising education and business related projects,
and the business development of the trading business in China and
the international market.
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Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Public Administration
and Mathematics from the University of Saskatchewan in Canada,
a master’s degree in Business Administration from Oklahoma City
University in the United States and also a doctorate degree in Business
Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong
Kong.

Ms. WONG Mei Ling, aged 63, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in March 2023. She is also the chairman of the
audit committee and a member of the risk management committee of
the Company.

Ms. Wong obtained a master degree of Finance of the Curtin
University. She is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 30 years of experience in accounting
field. Ms. Wong was the chief financial officer of Sun Television
Cybernetworks Enterprise Limited from July 2011 to January 2016,
and the financial controller of Up Energy Development Group Limited
(the shares of which were delisted from the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 5 January 2022) from September 2006 to
July 2011.
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China New Energy Limited

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. PAN lJinfeng, aged 52, is our general manager. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the overall management and daily
operations of the Group, including providing technical support,
equipment supplies, after-sales technical services and company
operation management.

Mr. Pan joined the Group in April 2008 as the marketing director and
was responsible for the liaison, undertaking and post-construction
services of the domestic and overseas projects of the Group. He has
been the general manager of Guangdong Boluo Zhongke Tianyuan
High and New Technology Engineering Co., Ltd.* (EER&1EZE+
RRTEHEMIEEEAE)since February 2012, where he
is responsible for overseeing the overall management and daily
operations of the company. Mr. Pan has been the general manager of
the Group since March 2022.

Mr. Pan has over 30 years of experience in the engineering and
technology sector. Prior to joining the Group, he has held management
positions in the sectors of technology and project management.

Mr. Pan graduated from Guangdong Science and Technology School*

(FEERERIEBRMIER) . He has also obtained the national certificate
of senior winemaker.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. ZHOU Hongcai, aged 56, is our deputy general manager. He
is mainly responsible for overseeing the overall technical design,
development and management of engineering projects.

From April 2003 to August 2006, Mr. Zhou was a technical director at
Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan Renewable Resources Engineering Co.,
Ltd. * (BERAARRTBAEERTZERATE). From September 2006
to August 2016, Mr. Zhou became the technical director of Guangdong
Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (B
R KTTHEERRHE B EAF]) . Since August 2016, Mr. Zhou has
been our deputy general manager of Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan
New Energy Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (& RIRTTHEER
RHZERAT).

Mr. Zhou has over 30 years of working experience in the engineering
sector. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhou has held various positions
at Hunan Jintian Chemical Fertilizer Company Limited* G4 X
1HRBIL THERAF]) . From July 1990 to July 1992, Mr. Zhou was a
teacher at the company’s vocational school where he was responsible
for delivering lectures. From August 1992 to December 1997, Mr.
Zhou was the technical supervisor and technical factory manager of
the company’s adhesive manufacturing plant where he was involved
in management of the factory. From January 1998 to March 2003,
Mr. Zhou was the technical supervisor of the company’s technology
development centre, where he was mainly responsible for technical
management.

Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor's degree in chemical engineering at
South China University of Technology (B3 T A%)in Guangdong,
China in July 1990.

* For identification purpose only
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Ms. CHEN Yin, aged 46, is our finance director. She has been
responsible for overseeing the daily financial management and
accounting matters of the Group. Ms. Chen joined the Group in
August 2020 and served as the Investment Development Manager of
Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology

Co., Ltd.* (BEEERRIF TR AERRHEAIRAE)

Ms. Chen has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting,
with rich experience in finance and investment and financing, and
strong management and risk control abilities. Prior to joining the
Group, from July 2003 to January 2007, Ms. Chen was the cost
accountant and financial manager at Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan
Renewable Resources Engineering Co., Ltd.* (EEARKTEASE
JRITF2ABRAE) where she was responsible for cost accounting and
financial matters. From February 2007 to September 2007, she was
the Financial Manager of Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy
Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (EERF R R THEERRE I BIR
~&E])where she was responsible for supervising daily financial and
accounting matters. From October 2007 to January 2012, she was
the Environmental Protection Project Manager at Guangzhou Zhongke
Environmental Energy Technology Co., Ltd.* (B ARRISEERE AR
7)) where she was responsible for supervising the implementation
and revenue and expenditure of the company’s environmental
engineering projects. From February 2012 to July 2020, she was the
Chief Financial Officer of Guangzhou Guanghang Logistics Co., Ltd.*
(BN EMYIRERAE) where she was responsible for supervising
the company’s financial department and financing work. During the
period from February 2012 to July 2020, she also was the Financial
Manager of Guangdong Guoke Venture Capital Co., Ltd.* (&
RlEIZEKLEERAT)and its management company Guangdong
Hongde Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (BEAEHR EEIRER
AT]) where she was responsible for the accounting of the company’s
investment projects.

Ms. Chen obtained her Bachelor’s degree in Accounting at Changsha

University of Technology* (¥ T A2)in June 2003. Ms. Chen also
obtained a Registered Risk Manager Certificate in January 2016.

* For identification purpose only
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Ms. XU Huijuan, aged 45, is our Board secretary/joint company
secretary. Ms. Xu joined the Group in September 2006. She is
primarily responsible for equities management and company
secretarial matters of the Group.

Ms. Xu has over 19 years of experience in finance, accounting and
company secretarial matters. Ms. Xu has held various positions in
the Group since joining us in September 2006. From September
2006 to December 2007, she was the deputy office supervisor
of Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy Science and
Technology Co., Ltd.* (BERARKITHEEFEFILBR AR . Ms.
Xu has been the board secretary of Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan
New Energy Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (EEHRRIXTT
HEERREAMRAT)) since May 2011. She has also been the
finance manager of our Company since January 2008 and our
Board secretary since May 2011.

Before joining the Group, from July 2003 to September 2006, she
was an accounting assistant and an asset management manager
at Guangzhou Zhongke Environmental Energy Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (BEIMNARIREERI L BIRAE)), where she was primarily
responsible for accounting matters, asset management and
equities management.

Ms. Xu obtained her bachelor’s degree in Accounting at
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies* (BEEIMNESNE AE2)
in Guangdong, China in June 2003. She obtained an intermediate
economist qualification issued by the Human Resources and Social
Security Department of Guangdong Province* (BE& A& R
AL RBEEE) in January 2011. Ms. Xu also obtained a master’s
degree in Professional Accounting from Sun Yat-sen University* (77
LX) in Guangdong, China in December 2013.

* For identification purpose only
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Dr. OU lJingshen, aged 48, is the deputy director of our research and
development department. He is primarily responsible for overseeing
laboratory operations of the Group.

Dr. Ou joined the Group in 2007. From January 2007 to August 2007,
Dr. Ou was a researcher of Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy
Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (BERHARKTHEERERERA
&), where he was responsible for the operation of laboratories and
experiments. Since November 2015, he has been our deputy director
of the biofuel engineering technology research centre of Zhongke
Tianyuan, where he has been responsible for its daily operations,
developing research and development plans, and providing technical
support to other departments in Zhongke Tianyuan.

Dr. Ou has over 7 years of experience in laboratory operations. Prior
to joining the Group, from July 1999 to February 2001, Dr. Ou was an
assistant of Guangdong Huaning Group Co. Ltd.* (BERZEEEE SR
7)), where he was responsible for the operation of laboratory tests.

Dr. Ou obtained a bachelor’'s degree in biopharmaceutical at South
China University of Technology (Z£mgI2 T A2 )in Guangdong, China
in July 1999. He then obtained a master degree in engineering at
South China University of Technology (ZEF3I2 T A22)in Guangdong,
China in June 2006. He also obtained a doctor of science degree at
South China University of Technology GERFIE T A2)in Guangdong,
China in December 2014. He has published various articles such as
“The Specific siRNA Plasmids Construction and their Inhibition Effect
on Expression of mcl-1 Protein in Liver Cancer Cell” and “Incorporation
of Endoglucanase E4 into Minicellulosomes by In-Vitro Assembly” on
the Modern Food Science and Technology and the Journal of South
China University of Technology (ZERIE T AE)in 2010 and 2013,
respectively.

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. The Board believes that good and
effective corporate governance practices are the key to safeguarding
the interests of the Shareholders and sustaining the success of the
Group to create long-term value for the Shareholders. The Company
has applied the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with all code
provisions set out in Part 2 of the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2024, except for the deviation disclosed in this report.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board takes the lead to establish, promote and continually
reinforce a positive and progressive corporate culture which is vital
for the Company to achieve its objectives towards sustainable growth
and reward to community. Our sound corporate culture reaches all
levels of the Group with the core principles of fostering management’s
accountability to ensure the highest standards of business ethics and
integrity and mutual commitment of the leadership team and the
employees, and aligns with the Company’s mission, corporate values
and strategies.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirms that the Directors complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2024.

“TTUEEFR
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised a total of five Directors,
being two executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairman) and
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing (Chief Executive Officer); and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett, Mr.
Chan Shing Fat Heron and Ms. Wong Mei Ling. Biographical details of
the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 23 of this annual report.

The Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to having (i) at least three independent non-executive
directors under Rule 3.10(1); (ii) at least one of the independent non-
executive directors must have appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise under Rule
3.10(2); and (iii) independent non-executive directors representing at
least one-third of the board under Rule 3.10A during the year ended
31 December 2024. As such, there exists a strong independent
element in the Board which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for overseeing and approving the
Group’s overall business plans and strategies and monitoring the
implementation of such business plans, strategies and policies, and
the leadership and control of the Company.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices for
the year under review and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the
corporate governance practices, including the adequacy of the Group’s
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget relating to its environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting.

The executive Directors are primarily responsible for overall
management of the Group, while the senior management including
the finance director and the general manager are delegated the
responsibilities of managing the day-to-day businesses and operations
and executing the business decisions of the Group.
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The roles of the independent non-executive Directors are to oversee
the Board independently to ensure that there is no potential conflict
of interest, to provide independent advice to the Board, and to
ensure that the Board has taken into consideration the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole and the advice of the
senior management team of the Group when making decisions.

The Company has put in place mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. This is achieved by giving
Directors access to external independent professional advice from
legal advisers and auditor, as well as their declaration of independence
according to the Listing Rules during the year. The Board reviews the
implementation and effectiveness of the aforementioned mechanisms
on an annual basis and is satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanism.

Board Process

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategies as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Directors may participate in meetings either in person or
through electronic means of communication. According to the current
Board practice, if a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to
be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be
material, the matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting rather than by a written resolution. The articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”) also stipulate that save
for the exceptions as provided therein, a Director shall abstain from
voting and not be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
any transaction, contract or arrangement in which such Director or any
of his/her associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) has a material
interest.

Board and committee minutes are recorded in appropriate detail and
draft minutes are circulated to all Directors and committee members
for comments before being approved.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, five Board meetings, of
which four were regular Board meetings, were held and attendance of
each Director at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed
“Attendance Record of Meetings” of this report.

—EFFR
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China New Energy Limited

Code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code stipulates that notice of at least
14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to give all directors
an opportunity to attend. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
one of the regular Board meetings was convened with less than
14 days’ notice to enable the Directors to react timely and make
expeditious decisions in respect of internal affairs of the Group. As a
result, the aforesaid regular Board meeting was held with a shorter
notice period than required with no objection by the Directors. The
Board will endeavour to meet the requirement of this code provision in
the future.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, a formal meeting was arranged
between the Chairman of the Board and the independent non-
executive Directors without the other Directors’ presence. The
independent non-executive Directors may communicate and discuss
with the Chairman directly at any time to share their views on the
Company'’s affairs. The Company considers that there are sufficient
channels and communication for discussion of the Company’s affairs
between the Chairman and independent non-executive Directors in the
absence of other Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Yu Weijun was the
Chairman of the Board and Mr. Tang Zhaoxing was the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for overseeing the functions
of the Board and providing leadership for the Board to ensure that the
Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all
key and appropriate issues are discussed at the Board level in a timely
manner. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for overseeing the
overall management, operation and businesses of the Group.
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Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each independent non-executive Director. The Company has
assessed their independence and concluded that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the relevant
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Group has an internal policy in place to give each newly appointed
Director a formal and tailored induction after his/her appointment so
as to ensure that he/she has a clear understanding of the Group’s
business and operations and of his/her duties and responsibilities
under the Listing Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements. The Company provides regular updates on the
business performance of the Group to the Directors. The Directors
are continuously updated on the latest development about the
Listing Rules and other applicable statutory requirements to ensure
compliance and maintenance of good corporate governance practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Directors participated in continuous professional
development by way of attending training and/or seminars organised
by professional organisations and director training webcasts organised
by the Stock Exchange and also reading materials relating to new
practices, rules and regulations to keep themselves updated on the
roles, functions, knowledge, skills and duties of a listed company
director.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by the Directors for the year ended 31 December
2024 is as follows:

B EREY e BEM R

Training/Seminars/

EEHH Name of Directors Reading materials
BITES Executive Directors

REERTE Mr. Yu Weijun v
KB E Mr. Tang Zhaoxing v
BIIERITES Independent Non-executive Directors

Richard Antony Bennettst 4 Mr. Richard Antony Bennett v
BREXEE ST Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron v/
BEERLLT Ms. Wong Mei Ling v/

EENEESS Appointment and Re-election of Directors

EEREATRZTRIGRXEB.2.2GRRE > 84
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Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

All Directors have been appointed for a specific term. Each of the
executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years until terminated by either party by
giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice. Each of
the independent non-executive Directors was appointed to the Board
pursuant to his/her respective letter of appointment for a term of three
years until terminated by either party by giving to the other not less
than one month’s prior notice.

According to the Articles, any person appointed by the Board either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall hold office only
until the first annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company
after his/her appointment and shall be eligible for re-election at that
meeting. The Articles also provide that if any one or more Directors
(a) were last appointed or re-appointed 3 years or more prior to
the meeting; (b) were last appointed or re-appointed at the third
immediately preceding AGM; or (c) at the time of the meeting will have
served more than 9 years as a non-executive Director (excluding as
the chairman of the Board), he or they shall retire from office and shall
be counted in obtaining the number required to retire at the meeting.
Moreover, at each AGM, one third of the Directors who are subject to
retirement by rotation shall retire from office and shall be eligible for
re-election at that meeting.
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The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available on the website of the Company.

Attendance Record of Meetings
Set out below are details of the attendance records of each Director

at the Board meetings, Board Committees’ meetings and AGM held
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

HERY/ AERLRAH
Attendance/Eligible to attend
17 4 oM EmERE
E3083 28083 28903 28083 268088 RRAFAE
Risk
Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration ~Management Annual
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General
EEltY Narme of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
#irEs Executive Directors
REREZE(ZR) Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairmear) 55 - Il il 22 n
BB (%) Mr. Tang Zhaoxing (Chief Executive Officer) 505 5 5 = = 1
BiEnTES Independent Non-executive Directors
Richard Antony Bennettfc Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 55 33 11 11 202 1
PREkE Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 55 213 n n = n
EESte Ms. Wong Mei Ling 505 33 - - i) 1
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committee (collectively, the “Board Committees”) on 16 June 2020.
All the Board Committees perform their distinct roles and functions in
accordance with their respective terms of reference which are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses.

The attendance of each member of the Board Committees during
the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the section headed
“Attendance Record of Meetings” of this report.
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Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are (among others) to
review and supervise the financial reporting process of the Group,
review the effectiveness of internal audit function, and oversee the
audit process and the audits of the financial statements of the Group.
Meetings of the Audit Committee shall be held at least twice a year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Wong Mei Ling, Mr.
Richard Antony Bennett and Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron. Ms. Wong
Mei Ling is the chairman of the Audit Committee. All members of the
Audit Committee possess in-depth experience in their own professions.
At least one of the committee members possesses appropriate
professional qualifications in finance and accounting and meets the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held
three meetings to (i) review the audited annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the unaudited interim
results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024 with
recommendations to the Board for approval; (ii) review the internal
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023; (iii) review the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions; and (iv) approve the
auditor’'s remuneration and make recommendations to the Board on
the auditor’s re-appointment.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (among others)
to make recommendations to the Board regarding the candidates to
fill vacancies on the Board, review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors. Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be
held at least once a year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprised the
Chairman of the Board, Mr. Yu Weijun, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett and Mr. Chan
Shing Fat Heron. Mr. Yu Weijun is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the objective and approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance its effectiveness.
The Board Diversity Policy provides that the Company should
endeavour to ensure that the Board members have the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are
required to support the execution of the Group’s business strategy.
Pursuant to the policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age,
cultural background, education, ethnicity, length of service, personal
integrity and time commitments of the proposed candidates. The
Board Diversity Policy also provides that the ultimate decision is based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board which will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board, through the Nomination Committee, has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
and confirmed that the Board has an appropriate mix of skills and
experience to deliver the Company’s strategy.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised one female Director
(independent non-executive Director) and four male Directors
(comprising two executive Directors and two independent non-
executive Directors), representing one over five of the Board’s
composition. The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of
female representation, with no immediate numerical targets as to the
number of female Directors on the Board.
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As at 31 December 2024, around 21% of the Group’s workforce
(inclusive of Directors) was female, and around 40% of the Group’s
senior management was female. The table below summarizes the
proportion of women at different position levels across the Group as at
31 December 2024.

B
Level
B2 ROEEE ELSE k&
Senior
£33 Gender Director Management ~ Manager  Employee
ks Male 4 3 6 52
g3 Female 10
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Note: The above data is calculated based on the number of total employees of the
Group as of 31 December 2024.

The Company is committed to promoting gender diversity and
inclusivity within our organization in the long run. The Board will
continue to explore opportunities to increase the proportion of female
Board members and female staff across the Group’s workforce over
time as and when suitable candidates are identified.

The Board has also adopted a policy on Directors’ nomination (the
“Nomination Policy”). The purpose of the Nomination Policy is
to set out the procedures for nominating candidates for Directors,
the procedures and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee
in selecting and recommending candidates for Directors, and the
follow-up procedures for considering and approving, as appropriate,
nominations made by the Board and, where applicable, Shareholders.
The nominating procedures are as follows:

a. To assess the qualifications, skills, knowledge, ability and
experience of candidates, and the time and attention that may
be spent in performing the duties of Directors with reference
to the relevant business activities and objectives of the
Company, as well as the contributions that candidates may
bring to the Board (including qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity);

b. To assess the personal ethics, integrity and reputation of
the candidates (including, but not limited to, conducting
appropriate background checks and other verification
procedures on the candidates);
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G With reference to the Board Diversity Policy, to consider the
structure, size and composition of the Board at that time
(including but not limited to skills, knowledge, balance of
experience and diverse perspectives that is in line with the
Company’s business requirements) and the Company’s
corporate strategy, and take into account the benefits of the
diversification of Board members and the contribution that
candidates may bring to the Board;

d. To consider the factors of Board succession planning and the
long-term needs of the Company;

e. In the case of a candidate for an independent non-executive
Director, to assess the independence of the candidate by
reference to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules; and

f. To consider any other factors and matters that the Nomination
Committee may consider appropriate.

The Board shall consider the recommendations of the Nomination
Committee and make a decision on whether the nominated candidate is
eligible for appointment as a Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to (i) assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; (i) review the structure, size and composition
of the Board; (iii) review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy; and (iv) make recommendations to the Board
on the re-election of the retiring Directors at the 2024 AGM.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are (among
others) to review and make recommendations to the Board on the
policy and structure or the remuneration payable to the Directors and
senior management, and to make recommendations on employee
benefit arrangements. The Remuneration Committee has adopted
the model under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. Meetings of the
Remuneration Committee shall be held at least once a year.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee comprised
one executive Director, namely Mr. Yu Weijun and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron and Mr.
Richard Antony Bennett. Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group for the year 2024.

Remuneration of the Directors and Senior Management by Band

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the senior management (including all executive
Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December 2024 are as
follows:
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A
Remuneration band Number of individuals
RMBO to RMB1,000,000 10
RMB1,000,001 to RMB2,000,000 0

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Risk Management Committee

The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are (among
others) to monitor the Group’s exposure to sanctions risks and to
oversee its implementation of the related internal control procedures.
Meetings of the Risk Management Committee shall be held at least
twice a year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Risk Management Committee comprised
one executive Director, namely Mr. Yu Weijun and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett and
Ms. Wong Mei Ling. Mr. Yu Weijun is the chairman of the Risk
Management Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Risk Management
Committee held two meetings to (i) review the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management system of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023; (ii) recommend corporate governance
practices improvement of the Company; and (iii) review the potential
business and operational risks of the Group with recommendations to
the Board.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The total fees paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, KTC Partners
CPA Limited, for services rendered in respect of the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out below:

20244
AR¥FT
2024

RMB’000
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Audit services 1,108

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'’S
RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for presenting a clear,
balanced assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects and
preparing the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
Group on a going-concern basis.

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately RMB59,292,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB59,364,000. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Save for disclosed above, for the
purpose of the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In light of the measures disclosed in note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 taken by
the major shareholders and management of the Company to improve
the working capital and liquidity and cash flow position of the Group
together with the expected results of these measures, the Directors
are of the view that the Group will have sufficient working capital for
its current requirements and it is reasonable to expect the Group to
remain a commercially viable concern. Accordingly, the Directors are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

“TTUEEFR
Annual Report 2024

41



EXELARS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TR BBIULBENE M B RERFTEFHB R RS
BRI AFIRFEIDSEI HNE I ZHENR

==
= °©

b E TR K P BRIE !

EFTHEFNMERAREZ AREENAZ
ERRIENENBEREBREEE - BRESR
SEERNHRBUARERRAGEREATZ
BE - A > ZFFESTEEEMIFEERARRE
MR RBEEZRRE > WEPLERERBRL
FIERRHESEMIFBHORE - 2EEDE
—EB R AERERIGIE > BFE5T 8RB MIHE;
BNERZBERE W2 BERRF ~ T
EXSHBEREERRHZEERMBERS
HTEFERZOEERRERETEBTREU
NEEGTEMBERAEEYFHRE

BERLZEOEPERAEECENE 88
GRS RREEREZ AR ERIRIEZE
MERFTEE > LR~ SHEREERR » I
FREVEERE B R IR D e HAEEE
BREBERTHTEZ AR - ERBETEE
ARBEESH M BERBES E2ER - 8
TEENMERERES - BRBREEE EHTE
1) SHERRITIOAE BB MR INE B I ZH
EIHRIZ EAREIEER ©

42

China New Energy Limited

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 95 to 97 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and ensuring
effective implementation of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing
their effectiveness to safeguard the Shareholders’ interest and the
Company’s assets. However, these systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate risk of failure in business operations, and can
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Group has implemented an effective internal
control system which includes a defined management structure with
clear lines of responsibility, limits of authority, proper procedures for
income and expenditure, monthly review by the executive Directors of
management reports on operations and financials, regular business
meetings between executive Directors and the core management team
and periodic review of the Group’s financial results by the Board.

The Audit Committee reviews regularly the effectiveness and adequacy
of the Group’s internal control system which includes financial,
operational and compliance mechanisms and risk management
functions in order to identify, evaluate and manage risks and take
appropriate measures to avoid or mitigate those risks that could
adversely impact the Group’s business activities. The review also
covers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function. The
review process consists of, amongst other matters, assessment and
implementation of material control issues identified by an independent
external auditor during the statutory audit.
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The Board has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system (including risk management functions)
under code provision D.2.1 of the CG Code. The Company has
engaged an independent internal control consultancy firm in February
2025 to carry out several review procedures (“Internal Control
Review”) on the Group’s main procedures, systems, and monitoring
measures. The Internal Control Review which covered the period from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 served to assist the Board in
evaluating whether the Group can provide reasonable benchmarks
and has established sufficient procedures, policies and monitoring
measures, to enable the Directors to make appropriate assessments of
the financial condition and prospects of the Group.

In the year under review, no material issues in the Group’s internal
control system were identified in the review areas and the findings of
the review were reported to the Audit Committee. The independent
internal control consultancy firm also performed a follow-up review
of the remedial actions undertaken by the management of the Group
on the control risks identified during the Internal Control Review.
The Board considered that the risk management and internal control
systems were adequate and effective.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION
OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules, and the overriding principle
that inside information should be announced as soon as reasonably
practicable when it is the subject of a decision.

The Board has implemented a policy on handling and dissemination
of inside information (“Inside Information Policy”) which sets out
the procedures and internal controls for guiding the Group’s officers
and employees how to handle confidential and price-sensitive inside
information. It ensures that inside information of the Group can be
disseminated to the public promptly in accordance with the applicable
laws and regulations.
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Below is a summary of the key provisions of the Inside Information
Policy:

(i) Directors and employees must follow the reporting channels
to disclose the inside information and take reasonable care to
safeguard the confidentiality of all inside information;

(ii) The Directors are empowered to take appropriate actions to
ensure compliance with the disclosure requirements including
issuing announcements and making a request to the Stock
Exchange for a trading halt in case the Company is facing an
unexpected and significant event; and

(iii) Directors and employees of the Group must not deal in
the Company’s securities when they are in possession of
unpublished inside information.

The Group also keeps Directors and employees informed of the latest
regulatory updates on disclosure requirements of inside information.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

To promote effective communication with the Shareholders and to
enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
the Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”). The Board communicates
with the Shareholders and investors through various channels. The
Board members meet and communicate with Shareholders and
investors at annual general meetings and other general meetings where
the Shareholders can obtain a better understanding of the business
and operating performance of the Group. Corporate communications
(such as interim and annual reports, notices and circulars) are sent to
Shareholders in a timely manner and are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy including steps taken at the
general meetings, the handling of queries received (if any) and the
multiple channels of communication and engagement in place, and
considered that the policy has been properly implemented during the
year and remains effective.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the issuer should
have a policy on payment of dividends and should disclose it in the
annual report.

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
June 2020 which sets out the guidelines on distribution of dividends
to its Shareholders. Under the Dividend Policy, the Shareholders
are entitled to receive dividends that the Company declares. The
declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and
may require the approval of the Shareholders, and the Company may
change the Dividend Policy in the future. There is no assurance that
the Company will be able to distribute dividends of such amounts or
any amounts in every year or any year in the future.

The Board may recommend a payment of dividends in the future
after taking into account the Group’s operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions, capital expenditures and other factors which the Board
may deem relevant at such time.

Any declaration of payment of dividends as well as the amount of
the dividends will be subject to the constitutional documents and
the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, including the approval of the
Shareholders, if required.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Xu Huijuan, a joint company secretary and the Board secretary,
is primarily responsible for equities management and company
secretarial matters of the Group.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company
has also engaged Mr. Chan Kwong Leung Eric, the director of Gladson
Secretaries Limited, a company secretarial service provider, as a
joint company secretary to assist Ms. Xu to discharge her duties. Mr.
Chan’s primary contact persons at the Company are Mr. Yu Weijun,
an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board, and Ms. Xu
Huijuan.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Xu Huijuan and Mr. Chan
Kwong Leung Eric took not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

—EFFR
Annual Report 2024

45



EXELARS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AR EREF
RRBERFAAE

RIBARR 9.3 » RERFRIAR (TRRERARIK
) AR—RIULNEREREBRETRD
RERBBRRE Dz — MERRRAE L
UFRBERETER—BHEEFEHKREN
R WA NBRER (BERANEER (REA
BN HEXRERH - ZBREUEETLABDE
FEUBEADWEEL » MUBETRTNE
BIEERME (RUNEBR LIRXAERES0
SE24182406%) » It B REZEBMARKRRE
BIRE > DUREZEREM IR ERES -
ESRZEM EARRRIEAH T AR ARE o

MEFGERZHMES2IARRBETEZH
BRAEMEE  BIERA@FZHHERAN) TH
TRERASNBTAREE  BBERKARES
EREARLESEMBROAESEER
AMAENREEFERA °

RROEFEEH

RERO RN EETATEEANBTNESE
EEEME ) W ABARAESTTRHED
SIE > siEEEzkty@zkty.com.cn ° &KA T
— MR RIBOEREL T -

RERERRAEG LIR2RER

MRIZL1991 FAF) (BA E) AL EBIEX TR
RIRRAE LIRERER - RRNMIEZE R
FE - REVN EXFIAEREFARERE IR
) WHRZEmMERPIIBHRZES o

46

China New Energy Limited

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 9.3 of the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
(the “EGM”) shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
members of the Company (including a recognised clearing house (or
its nominee(s))) holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings, on a one vote per share basis in
the share capital of the Company. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the joint company secretaries at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong, which is presently
situated at Unit 2406, 24/F., Strand 50, 50 Bonham Strand, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong, for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business clearly specified in such
requisition with reasons therefor and signed by the requisitionist(s).

If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/nerself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene such
meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Enquiries by Shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send written enquiries to the Company
for the attention of the Board or the joint company secretaries at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or email to
zkty@zkty.com.cn. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.

Putting Forward Proposals by Shareholders at Shareholders’ Meeting

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to put forward proposals
at a general meeting under the Articles or the Companies (Jersey) Law
1991. If Shareholders wish to do so, they may request to convene an
EGM as described above and specify the proposals in such written
requisition.
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2024.

By order of the Board
Yu Weijin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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This Environmental, Social and Governance Report outlines the
measures, planning, and performance of China New Energy Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the
“Group”, in terms of environmental, social, and governance (the
“ESG”) aspects, to ensure the sustainability of all aspects of its
business activities. This report is prepared in accordance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the (“Stock Exchange”) Listing Rules) as set
out in Appendix 27 of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guidelines (the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guidelines”) (hereinafter referred to as “ESG Reporting
Guidelines”). All information contained herein reflects the Group
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (“Reporting Period” or
“2024 Financial Year”) in terms of environmental protection and
social responsibility. This report complies with the “comply or explain”
provisions of the ESG Reporting Guidelines. The Group will regularly
issue annual reports, and is available for public inspection at any time,
to continuously improve the transparency of information disclosure.

INTRODUCTION

(a) Compliance with the Guidelines

The Group strictly adheres to the ESG Reporting Guidelines of
the Stock Exchange, mandatory disclosure requirements, and
refers to the International Sustainability Disclosure Standards
(ISSB IFRS S2), Greenhouse Gas Accounting System:
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards (2004) and
other international standards, to ensure the transparency,
consistency and comparability of information disclosure.

(b)  Overall Approach

The Group is firmly committed to the green and low-carbon
development strategy, transforming the challenges of climate
change into development opportunities. As an industry-leading
new energy technology enterprise, the Group incorporates
sustainable development into its core business model, and
through measures such as new energy technology innovation,
optimization of carbon emission reduction strategies, and green
upgrading of the supply chain, improve ESG management
levels. The Board of Directors and management continuously
promote ESG governance system improvement and incorporate
climate-related factors into key strategic decisions, to ensure
sustainable growth of the Group.
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Reporting Principles

This report is based on ESG Reporting Guidelines requirements,
following the “materiality, quantification, balance and
consistency”, to ensure the completeness and comparability of
information.

The Group will continue to strengthen ESG governance system
construction, in conjunction with industry development trends,
improve the quality of information disclosure, to enhance
the confidence of investors and stakeholders in the Group’s
sustainable development.

MANDATORY DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

(a)

Control Framework

The Group has established a sound ESG Control Framework,
to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Stock
Exchange ESG Reporting Guidelines disclosure requirements,
and benchmark against the (ISSB IFRS S2) International
Sustainability Disclosure Standards. We have established a
clear sustainable development governance framework. The
Board of Directors leads the various functional departments
and subsidiaries of the Company to promote the orderly
progress of corporate governance. The Board of Directors
reviews and provides independent opinions during the review
of ESG reports. This will strengthen risk management in ESG,
assume internal control responsibilities, and protect the long-
term benefits of the Group’s development and stakeholders.

Effective ESG management requires the attention of senior
management and the participation of all employees. The
Company integrates the ESG concept into its corporate culture
and daily operations and has established a top-down ESG
governance framework, with the board of directors overseeing
and ultimately responsible for the Company’s ESG matters. We
incorporate relevant information disclosure in daily operations
and management in a targeted manner based on the actual
situation of each department, to promote the deep participation
of the management, horizontal coordination of all business
departments, and the implementation of ESG monitoring
indicators by subsidiaries, to further improve the management
level of ESG matters.

—EFFR
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o Management

After reviewing major matters and ESG reports, the Audit
and Risk Management Committee reports to the Board
of Directors, and the Board of Directors deliberates and
makes decisions, with senior management responsible
for promoting implementation.

o Organization Level

According to the division of business and functions,
different project teams are established to coordinate
the relevant work of major subsidiaries, such as
performance indicator collection, analysis, and
compilation.

o Execution Level

Each major subsidiary has established a special working
group, equipped with full-time personnel, to carry out
relevant work in combination with its own business
characteristics, such as regularly counting and reporting
performance indicators.

ESG Matters Supervision

The Board of Directors regularly listens to the operating
management situation, safety management situation and other
ESG related matters, and the directors put forward ESG related
matters and requirements at the meeting.

ESG Management Policies and Strategies

The Board of Directors and its committees adhere to the
concept of “innovation, excellence and integrity” and integrate
ESG-related matters such as corporate governance, operations,
production safety, climate change and social responsibility into
management, deliberation and decision-making.

The functions of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
involve risk management, including ESG risks; the annual
internal control evaluation report is submitted to the Board
for approval after review by the Audit and Risk Management
Committee of the Board to establish an effective and reliable
internal control system.
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Reporting Principles

The Group, in its ESG information disclosure process,
strictly adheres to the four core principles of “materiality,
quantification, balance and consistency”, to improve the
completeness and comparability of information.

° Materiality: The Group identifies and gives priority
to disclosing ESG issues, such as greenhouse gas
emission management, carbon neutrality strategy, green
finance, and supply chain sustainability.

. Quantification: Calculate greenhouse gas emissions
using scientific methods (Scope 1, 2), and quantitatively
disclose key data such as low-carbon investment and
carbon trading market participation.

° Balance: Fully demonstrate the Group’s progress in
sustainable development, and at the same time disclose
challenges and areas for improvement, ensure the
impartiality of information.

° Consistency: The Group ensures that the data
calculation methods are consistent with previous
years — to ensure the reliability and comparability of
information.
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Scope of Disclosure 1, 2 Emissions, and provides data sources and

accounting methods

KEEEGNEEEEESCEE RNITHNERKE

Disclosing the specific responsibilities of the Board of Directors and
management in ESG supervision and implementation

The Group will continue to optimize the ESG management
system, combined with industry development trends,
continuously improve the quality of climate-related information
disclosure, to enhance the confidence of investors and
stakeholders, and actively promote the global green and low-
carbon transition. In the future, we will further improve the
level of data automation management, and strengthen the
connection with the international carbon market, to optimize
the Group’s low-carbon development path.

The scope of the report covers the key performance indicator
data of the Group’s main operating activities: It mainly includes
an office in Guangzhou and a processing plant in Huizhou,
providing comprehensive services for the core of the ethanol
production system in China’s ethanol fuel and alcoholic
beverage industry, including engineering design, equipment
manufacturing, installation and commissioning and subsequent
value-added maintenance. The equipment installation work is
completed by certified contractors, who are not employees of
the Group and do not include relevant information.

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are listed
in the “Corporate Governance Report” of the annual report for
FY2024.
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Stakeholder Engagement and Importance Assessment

The Group believes that building strong relationships with
stakeholders is a key driver of its business success. It maintains close
communication with various stakeholders (including but not limited to
investors and shareholders, customers, contractors, subcontractors,
suppliers, employees, governments and regulatory agencies, and
the community, non-governmental organizations and media)
through different channels. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
communication channels with major stakeholders include emails,
conference calls, interviews, training, annual and extraordinary general
meetings, and annual reports with stakeholders to help improve the
Group’s environmental, social and governance strategies and reports.

The importance assessment program for environmental, social and
governance areas includes: (1) identifying environmental, social
and governance reporting matters; (2) determining the importance
of relevant issues to the company based on industry benchmarks;
(3) stakeholder communication, with priorities listed; and (4) the
verification and approval by management, the results of which show
that employee-related issues, product liability, anti-corruption, and
customer service are considered the most concerning issues for the
Group’s stakeholders. The Group is committed to regularly reviewing
these issues to continuously improve its sustainable development
performance.

Contact Us

The Group welcomes feedback from stakeholders on its environmental,
social and governance approaches and performance. Please contact
via zkty@zkty.com.cn to make your suggestions or share your views
with the Group.
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GREEN OPERATIONS

The Group is aware of the importance of environmental protection
for sustainable development and is committed to incorporating the
concept of green environmental protection into every business process.
As a manufacturer of clean energy systems, the Group has outstanding
R & D capabilities and an innovation-oriented business philosophy in
the ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage industries. In the process of
business operation and management, the Group takes environmental
protection as its core. The Group is committed to fulfilling its social
responsibility to protect the environment and is committed to protecting
the earth and building a sustainable future for the next generation.

We have complied with the laws and regulations related to the Group’s
environmental protection, including but not limited to:

° The Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Environmental Protection

° The Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Air Pollution

o The Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution

° The Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste

° Waste Disposal Ordinance
° Water Pollution Control Ordinance
° Air Pollution Control Ordinance

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
violations of the relevant laws and regulations regarding the emission
of waste gases and greenhouse gases, the discharge of pollutants into
water and land, and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste, and such matters did not have a significant impact on the
Group.
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ENVIRONMENT

As a marketer of clean energy systems, the Group has
outstanding R & D capabilities and an innovation-oriented
business philosophy in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage
industries. During business operations and management,
the Group focuses on environmental protection. The Group
is committed to fulfilling its social responsibility to protect
the environment and is committed to protecting the Earth
and building a sustainable future for the next generation. To
control environmental management and minimize the impact
of business operations, the Group has formulated relevant
policies on environmental management and reduces its
environmental footprint through the effective use of resources
and the adoption of environmentally friendly technologies,
while enhancing employees’ environmental awareness and
complying with relevant laws and regulations.

The Group’s primary greenhouse gas emissions increased
from 76.5 metric tons of carbon dioxide in FY2023 to 139.1
metric tons of CO, in FY2024, representing an approximate
81.8% year-over-year increase. However, the total intensity of
emissions in FY2024, measured as CO,e per million RMB of
revenue, remained at 1.63 metric tons of CO,e per million RMB
of revenue. The decrease in carbon emission intensity per unit
of output is primarily attributed to the industry’s recovery, the
rise in global carbon neutrality sentiment, a slight increase
in total revenue, and the implementation of certain emission
reduction measures by the company during the current year.

—EFFR
Annual Report 2024 5 5
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The main emissions of waste gas and greenhouse gases of the
Group come from the consumption of gasoline by vehicles,
the electricity consumed by processing equipment and offices,
and business air travel, general waste, packaging materials and

paper used.
WEHR » KEBRERICRE REEHEN During the Reporting Period, the Group’s waste gas and
BIENT - greenhouse gas emission data are as follows:
B 2024814 2023014
IEH Project Unit FY2024 FY2023
BERHEM Waste gas emissions
—gELEHIN — Nitrogen oxides (NOX) N 2.69 1.48
—RELE(SO — Sulfur oxides (SOX) Kg 0.05 0.03
—ZBRIYI(PM) — Particulate matter (PM) 0.21 0.11
BEREHR Greenhouse gas emissions

—EZBERESM (BEE]L) - Direct greenhouse gas emissions BE— LI EE 129 7.1

FURERE (Scope 1) Gasoline consumption  tons of carbon
—EEEEREEEM (8E2) - Indirect greenhouse gas dioxide equivalent 111.3 61.2
BEEE emissions (Scope 2) Electricity
consumption
—HittE R E R B — Other indirect greenhouse gas 149 8.2
(EEER)BHMEER emissions (Scope 3) Business
—AREEY) ~ BARFIEEEMEL  air travel, general waste, paper
and packaging materials
BEREHES Total greenhouse gas emissions M _E(REE 139.1 76.5
tons of carbon
BEEREEE ARBWEST  Total density calculated per million dioxide equivalent 1.63 1.83

RMB revenue
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The Group aims to continuously reduce the waste gas and
greenhouse gases generated from business operations. To
reduce waste gas emissions, the Group has adopted the
following measures to reduce fugitive emissions:

° Monitor and manage fuel consumption

° Perform routine vehicle maintenance

° Encourage employee utilization of public transportation

° Employ teleconferencing or video conferencing systems
to reduce the carbon footprint associated with business
air travel

To ensure proper waste management, the Group has
established clear and specific guidelines, strictly adhering
to local waste classification standards for the segregation of
discarded materials. During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not generate significant quantities of hazardous waste,
producing only a limited amount of non-hazardous waste.

B 2024814 202384

RS Types of waste Units FY2024 FY2023
BEEEY Hazardous waste B B B
N/A N/A N/A
BEREEY) Non-hazardous waste
sy Paper N 199.78 149.22
mERGOEARBKRGET Density per million RMB revenue Kg 1.10 1.11
— Rk General waste 123 68
PERSAEARBIEST  density per million RMB revenue 0.43 0.45

—EFFR
Annual Report 2024 5 7
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The Group is committed to reducing waste at the source and
the recycling of waste. We adhere to the 3R principles, which
are Recycle, Reuse and Reduce, and to the implementation of
specific waste management and disposal measures:

Waste Disposal Program:

° Appropriate classification of recyclable and non-

recyclable waste, and centralized storage in designated
collection areas

° Entrusted to collectors for regular recycling — disposal

° Entrust designated management personnel to handle
waste in a timely manner, and maintain environmental
hygiene

Waste Reduction Measures at the Source:

° Also encourage employees working in the office to
develop green lifestyle habits

° Posters are displayed in various places in the cafeteria,
to warmly reminder: ordering appropriate amount of
food, to avoid wasting food

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all
relevant laws and regulations regarding atmospheric and
greenhouse gas emissions, wastewater discharge to water and
land, and the generation of non-hazardous waste. The Group
did not violate any environmental laws or regulations in the
regions where it operated during the Reporting Period, nor did
it have to pay significant fines, face non-monetary penalties, or
litigation for environmental protection.
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Aspects A2: Resource Utilization

Energy Use Efficiency

Gasoline and electricity are the main types of energy consumed
by the Group in its overall and daily operations. The Group has
formulated strict resource utilization policies, to control the
conservation of energy, water and raw materials, to improve
resource utilization efficiency, reduce waste and promote
recycling.

During the Reporting Period, energy consumption is as follows:

B 20248445 2023814

BERHEEE Type of energy consumption Unit FY2024 FY2023

AH Gasoline N 5018 2752

TERSHEARBIRGT Density calculated per million RMB Liters 10.83 21.2
revenue

B Electricity FEE 300438 99716

TERSHEARBIRGET Density calculated per million RMB KWh 351 719
revenue
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We are actively implementing environmental protection
measures to improve energy use efficiency:

° Monitoring and regulating fuel consumption, performing
routine maintenance on vehicles

° Using high-efficiency processing equipment.
° Using technology to simplify the processing procedures
° Turning off all electronic equipment during lunch

breaks and when leaving the office

° Setting computers to energy-saving mode
° Using energy-saving light bulbs and tubes
° Making good use of telephone or video conferencing

systems to replace business air travel

—EFFR
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Water Resources

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not had any
problems in obtaining applicable water sources. Due to the
nature of work, Water consumption mainly comes from the
daily water use of employees at work. The Group’s water
consumption data is as follows:

B 2024814 202314

FekE Water Consumption Unit FY2024 FY2023

HIERK Domestic Water AYISP/ 1210 664
m3

PERSEE AR Density per million RMB of revenue A 4.65 47
mS
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To reduce water consumption, the Group reminds them to:

° Control the water flow from the tap by avoiding turning
the tap to the end

° Turn off the tap when using soap or hand sanitizer
° Avoid unnecessary flushing
Packaging Materials

During the Reporting Period, packaging materials used by the
Group for the transportation of material processing equipment
for ethanol production systems, including cartons, adhesive
paper, plywood, etc. The Group has packing skills to effectively
pack and protect products, and save materials. In addition,
the Group chooses recyclable packaging materials and reuses
packaging materials as much as possible to reduce waste
generation and encourages suppliers and subcontractors to
comply with environmental requirements.

Bl 2024815 2023814

BEEMEHER Use of packaging materials Unit FY2024 FY2023

@3 BE - BAaRE Cartons, adhesive paper, plywood, /N 58 32
etc. Kg

PEREEE AREWET Density calculated per million RMB Ny 0.068 0.07
revenue Kg

China New Energy Limited
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Aspects A3: Environment and Natural Resources

The Group conducts business in China and overseas,
upholding corporate social responsibility, actively promoting
environmental protection plans, and investing significant
resources to reduce the impact of its business activities on the
environment and natural resources. The Group strictly complies
with all environmental regulations and international standards,
and incorporates environmental protection concepts into its
management system.

To ensure effective monitoring of environmental risks, the
Group has implemented an environmental monitoring system
to continuously assess and monitor the environmental impact
of daily operations. The Group assumes responsibility for the
environment and natural resources of the local community, and
takes various measures to reduce the environmental impact,
including:

° Applying advanced environmental protection
technologies and processes within processing facilities,
to reduce the consumption of non-renewable resources
(such as gasoline, water and electricity) and reduce
related greenhouse gas emissions

° Through reduction, recycling and reuse, reduce waste
generated from daily operations.

Noise Management

Although there is less heavy machinery involved in the
business operations, noise may still be generated by the
processing plants. To reduce noise levels, the Group regularly
inspects processing equipment, to ensure it remains in optimal
operating condition. In addition, to comply with industry noise
pollution standards and reduce the impact on the environment,
the processing plants have implemented effective noise control
measures for high-noise equipment.

—EFFR
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SOCIAL

Aspects B1: Employment Relations

The Group strictly complies with the local labor laws and
regulations in which it operates, including the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China (referred to as the “Labor
Law”), the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China (referred to as the “Labor Contract Law”), participation
in the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(referred to as the “Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme”),
compliance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (Chapter 485), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter
608), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57), and Employee
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282) of the Hong Kong
laws and regulations, and provides competitive wages, medical
insurance, disability and disability insurance, maternity leave
and other compensation to employees.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 82 full-time
employees. They are respectively from the United Kingdom,
Hong Kong of China, and Chinese Mainland, and their data
distribution by gender, age group and employee type is as
follows:

B 2024815 20234

{BE LG Employee Ratio Unit FY2024 FY2023

RERIE D - B By Gender: Male Bt 77 76
pegi Female Percentage 23 24
BEHE D 30%UT By Age: Under 30 years old Bt 2 3
30-50%% 30-50 Percentage 70 54
S0RE M E 50 years and above 28 28
ZREE D | SE By Level: Senior BDLL 7 5.8
= Middle Percentage 21 176
EE Basic 72 76.6
EEAEMAE Total Employee Turnover Rate Bt 36 9
Percentage

62 China New Energy Limited
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The Group provides competitive remuneration, promotion
opportunities, compensation and benefits to attract and
retain talent, such as contributions to social security funds
and employee housing provident funds. The Group has
a remuneration committee, responsible for reviewing the
remuneration of directors. For general employees and
management, remuneration is reviewed annually with reference
to market trends, employees’ qualifications, experience and
performance.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 82 (as
of 31 December 2023:85) employees as full-time employees.
The talent turnover rate was 9% in 2023 and 3.6% in 2024, a
decrease of 5.4% compared to 2023.

Aspects B2: Health and Safety

The health and safety of employees have always been the
focus of the Group. The Group strictly complies with the Work
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Occupational
Disease Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic
of China, and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Hong Kong Law). In terms of metal
processing facilities, employees may engage in operations
that have a significant impact on health and safety while using
equipment. The Group is mindful of this risk and pays special
attention to the metal processing business. The Group has
obtained the special certification of “Level 3 Safety Production
Standardization Enterprise” issued by the “Huizhou Safety
Production Association”, providing guidance and policies for
regulating the safety working environment. Health and safety
affairs will be assigned to designated staff responsible for
reviewing and updating manuals and procedures on a quarterly
and annual basis.

During the past reporting periods, the Group has not
experienced any serious injuries or work-related injuries to
employees (for more than 7 consecutive days). The Group
has no records of any accidents that have resulted in death
or serious injury, and has not paid any reimbursement or
compensation to our employees as a result of such accidents.
We are also not aware of any serious violations of laws and
regulations regarding the health and safety of our employees.

—EFFR
Annual Report 2024 6 3
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China New Energy Limited

Aspect B3: Development and Training

All new employees must participate in onboarding training and
ISO9001:2015 certification standard training to ensure that
they understand the values, policies and goals of the Group,
and to ensure that they understand their role within the Group.
At the processing facilities of the Group, all workers undergo
training and possess necessary skills and knowledge before
starting work. The management encourages employees to plan
their own training objectives, in order to acquire or enhance
necessary skills and knowledge for their work, such as training
on protecting intellectual property rights.

Aspects B4: Labor Standards

The Group complies with laws and regulations related to the
employment of young people under the age of 16 and their
legal rights, such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Regulations on the Prohibition of Child Labor in the
People’s Republic of China, the Employment Ordinance, and
the Hong Kong Children’s Law.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not find any
significant violations of preventing child labor or forced labor
that would affect its business activities.

The Group strictly prohibits the use of any child labor and
forced labor in its business activities. All new employees joining
the Group will be required to provide truthful and accurate
personal information for recruiters to strictly verify, including
educational certificates, ID cards and hometown information.
Recruiters can verify the identity of all new employees by means
of WeChat applet “Yueshengshi” or Alipay applet “electronic
ID card” and other methods. The Group has a comprehensive
recruitment process that allows for the investigation of each
candidate’s educational background and past work experience,
and has a formal reporting process to handle any special
circumstances. The Group also conducts regular inspections
to prevent child labor or forced labor in its operations. The
probationary period or labor contract of any employee who uses
false data or forced labor is strictly prohibited, and no employee
can start working before completing relevant training.
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Equal Opportunities

The Group is committed to ensuring equal opportunities for
employees in recruitment, training and development, job
promotion, compensation and benefits. Employees are not
discriminated against or deprived of equal opportunities based
on gender, racial background, religion, skin color, sexual
orientation, age, marital status, family status, retirement,
disability, pregnancy, or any other discriminatory factors
prohibited by applicable laws in China and Hong Kong.
To eliminate workplace discrimination, if employees are
treated unfairly or feel discriminated against in their behavior
or speech, they can report directly to management. The
management will investigate the reported incident and take
corresponding strict disciplinary actions after verification.
Employees can also report directly to the Equal Opportunities
Commission.

Operational Management
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group supports the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions
and will give priority to local suppliers with the same conditions
as non-local counterparts. The total number of suppliers and
subcontractors is 115 (FY 2023: 122) companies, all from
Mainland China.

The Group’s internal regulations and systems include the
Procurement Management System and the Outsourcing
Management System, which stipulate the procedures for
selecting and evaluating suppliers and subcontractors
based on the conditions to be considered, to adhere to fair
and transparent operational practices. In addition, when
selecting suppliers or subcontractors, those with questionable
environmental practices should be avoided. Through our
procurement department’s supplier management policy, we
require suppliers and subcontractors to ensuring to comply
with all applicable laws and regulations related to safety,
environmental and social aspects.

The Group adheres to the business philosophy of full
participation and continuous operation, continues to improve
in aspects such as corporate governance, environmental
sustainability, social responsibility and public welfare. The
Group deeply understands that working with suppliers can
continuously provide responsible and high-quality one-stop
integrated services to the environment, society and customers.

—EFFR
Annual Report 2024 6 5
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The Company, in order to be a responsible corporate citizen,
launched the “Initiative on Developing a Low-Carbon Supply
Chain”, to encourage suppliers to actively engage in energy
conservation and emission reduction actions, and assist
suppliers in connecting with the People’s Bank of China’s direct
financing tools for carbon emission reduction.

Aspects B6: Product Responsibility

Product and Service Complaints

The Group strives to provide customers with high-quality core
ethanol production systems and comprehensive services. The
Group’s quality control requirements are in accordance with
ISO9001: 2015 certification standards, aiming to continuously
improve its quality control system, and enhance the standards
of product manufacturing and service management. The
Group has established multiple channels for complaints and
feedback, including telephone hotlines, emails and websites, to
collect customer opinions and suggestions, and adheres to the
Group’s policies to protect customer data and privacy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group completed 18 (FY2023:
12) systems, and did not receive any complaints or recalls due
to safety and health reasons.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is committed to protecting intellectual property
rights and has revised the “Intellectual Property Management
Manual” to ensure the protection of business data and prevent
sensitive information from being disclosed to cooperation
partners without authorization. The Group reviews and updates
the existing policies and procedures regularly, to comply with
the latest local laws and regulations, such as the “Patent Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, and the “Hong Kong 2016 Patent
(Amendment) Ordinance” etc.
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Confidentiality

Confidential information includes all knowledge the Group
possesses regarding the Group’s business, secrets, or
information — all knowledge, including but not limited
to matters, secrets, and data related to business scope,
personnel, operations, policies, strategies, customers,
contracts and financial conditions. All employees have signed
employment contracts, confirming and guaranteeing that they
will not disclose the above information during or after their
employment.

Aspects B7: Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to managing all businesses without
undue influence, and regards honesty, integrity and fairness
as its core values. All directors and employees must strictly
comply with Hong Kong law, Section 201, the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance to prevent unethical demands. The
Personnel Management Rules stipulate that employees have
the responsibility to know and comply with the provisions on
preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
Through the annual internal control self-assessment, all
departments and subsidiaries of the Company need to conduct
self-inspection of their operations, and adjust the design
and implementation of the internal control system in a timely
manner, and implement a self-supervision mechanism.

At the same time, the Group distributes relevant anti-corruption
brochures and cases, to educate all employees to comply
with laws and regulations, to promote the importance of anti-
corruption and advocating integrity. The Group has established
multiple channels such as telephone hotlines, email addresses
and mailboxes, for reporting purposes. Dedicated personnel
will regularly collect and classify the reported information,
while the supervision and investigation of reported matters
are transferred to the audit department for processing. The
Group also adopts several measures to encourage employees
to actively report violations of rules and laws and strengthen the
protection of the privacy of the reporting persons.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
corruption lawsuits against the Group or its employees.

—EFFR
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CLIMATE-RELATED DISCLOSURES

(a)

Governance Organization Responsible for Overseeing Climate-
Related Risks and Opportunities

The Company’s board of directors is fully responsible for
overseeing climate-related risks and opportunities, and
has established within the Company ESG Promotion Team,
responsible for formulating, implementing and monitoring
climate-related policies and goals.

(i) Skills and Competencies

Board members regularly receive climate-related
training, to ensure they can oversee climate-related
risks and opportunities. Training includes carbon
neutrality policies, carbon market development, green
technology innovation, etc. In addition, the Company
hires independent third-party organizations to conduct
climate risk assessments and provides professional
advice to the Board, to ensure the scientific and
forward-looking nature of its decisions.

(ii) Information Acquisition Methods and Frequency

Management submits climate-related reports to the
Board quarterly, including carbon emissions, energy
use, environmental compliance and major climate
risk assessments. For major climate events or policy
changes, management needs to report to the Board
immediately and provide response plans.

(iii)  Consideration of Climate Risks and Opportunities in
the Decision-Making Process

The Board evaluates climate-related risks and
opportunities when reviewing company strategies, major
investments, supply chain management and business
expansion. For example, at the project approval
stage, the Company conducts environmental impact
assessments, to ensure compliance with the “Dual
Carbon” policy and the requirements for sustainable
industrial development. For businesses that may be
affected by extreme weather or carbon taxes, the
Company takes corresponding adjustment measures to
reduce the impact of climate risk on operations.
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Supervision of Climate Target Setting and Monitoring
of Progress

The Board has set clear carbon reduction and
sustainable development goals, and monitors progress
regularly. The ESG Promotion Team reviews emission
reduction progress annually and proposes improvement
plans. In addition, the compensation of some
senior management is linked to ESG performance,
including key indicators such as carbon reduction
and energy efficiency improvement, to strengthen the
implementation of climate goals.

(b) The Role of Management in Climate-Related Governance

(i)

(ii)

Management’s Responsibilities and Supervision
Mechanism

The management sets up a sustainable development
team, responsible for implementing climate-related
policies. The team reports regularly to the Board
accepts its supervision. In addition, the company
has established a cross-departmental coordination
mechanism to incorporate climate strategies into core
business processes such as operations, finance, supply
chain and marketing.

Integration of Management Monitoring Measures and
Internal Functions

The Company adopts several monitoring measures,
including a carbon footprint monitoring system,
energy use analysis and supply chain environmental
compliance review, to ensure that climate goals
are effectively implemented. These measures are
closely integrated with the company’s internal control
system, for example, incorporating carbon emission
data into the annual financial report, and introducing
environmental performance evaluations in investment
decisions, to ensure that all business activities comply
with climate governance requirements.

Through the above-mentioned governance framework
and monitoring mechanism, the Company ensures that
climate-related risks and opportunities are effectively
managed and is committed to achieving long-term
sustainable development goals.

—EFFR
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China New Energy Limited

STRATEGY

Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities

(a)

Impact of Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities on Cash
Flow, Financing Channels and Capital Costs

With the aggravation of global climate change, international
attention to this issue continues to rise. As a responsible
enterprise, we deeply recognize the connection between
corporate activities and climate change and the risks arising
therefrom. In the face of increasingly severe climate conditions,
environmental protection is not only a global challenge, but
also directly relates to the continuity and development of our
business. The country has clearly formulated 2030 to achieve
carbon peak and 2060 to achieve the dual carbon goal of
carbon neutrality, provides us with a clear direction. In this
context, “the 14th Five-Year Plan” of ecological environment
protection sets carbon reduction transformation as the core
task, highlights the urgency and importance of low-carbon
development. We firmly believe that a shift towards energy
conservation, reduced energy consumption and reduced
carbon footprint, will be the inevitable path for the future growth
of enterprises. Therefore, the Group will maintain consistency
with the country’s green development goals, through the
implementation of stricter environmental protection measures,
to continuously strengthen our response strategy to climate
change.

Given the increasing restrictions imposed by governments and
financial institutions on high-carbon industries, coupled with
the prioritization of low-carbon and renewable energy projects,
traditional high-energy-consuming enterprises face diminished
financing opportunities. Conversely, the Company focus on
providing green liquid fuels aligns with the national emphasis
on transition finance. Consequently, the Company is positioned
to potentially benefit from national green finance policies.
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Climate-Related Physical Risks and Transition Risks
The Group mainly faces two types of climate risks:

Physical risks: Extreme weather (heavy rain, hail, earthquakes
and floods) may affect the transportation and subsequent
maintenance services of the Group’s equipment in the ethanol
production system. The Group assigns dedicated personnel
to observe weather and climate and maintains close contact
with the Emergency Management Bureau. If the weather
and climate are force majeure, the management will reduce
unnecessary losses to the Group according to the emergency
plan. The Group has developed a general emergency plan
and has prepared sufficient materials accordingly, to ensure
preparedness for major climate emergencies that may affect
the Group.

Transition risks: Global carbon reduction policies, changes in
market demand and technological advancements may force
the Company to adjust its business model, such as investing in
low-carbon technologies. The Group emphasizes technological
innovation (such as fiber ethanol and synthetic biotechnology)
and diversified layouts (hydrogen energy equipment and bio-
based materials) to accelerate the development of bioenergy,
in response to the needs of the times, and contribute to the
low-carbon transition from traditional non-renewable energy to
renewable bioenergy.

The Company refers to the disclosure of climate-related
information, in accordance with the “International Financial
Reporting Standards S2” industry implementation guidelines,
and combines industry best practices, to ensure the
transparency and reliability of information. For climate-related
opportunity information that involves a competitive advantage
or future business plans, such as information that has not
been disclosed, or whose disclosure may seriously harm the
Group’s economic interests, the Group, in accordance with
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG guidance exemption
clauses, chooses not to disclose. For each piece of undisclosed
information, the Company will regularly assess whether it
meets the exemption conditions, and conduct a review on each
reporting date, to ensure compliance and completeness of
information disclosure.
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BUSINESS MODEL AND VALUE CHAIN

(a)

(b)

Impact of Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities on the
Business Model and Value Chain

The Company is committed to providing fuel ethanol EPC
projects for customers. Low carbon development brings
more opportunities than challenges to the Company. The
opportunities are reflected in the increasing demand from the
Company’s customers, such as the green transformation of
international shipping and the demand for low-carbon products
in the global ethanol industry, which require the engineering
and operational equipment provided by the Company to
customers to be efficient, green, low-carbon, and intelligent.
The Company will conduct in-depth research on customer
needs, integrate low-carbon into engineering management,
customer operation and maintenance, and create low-carbon
value for customers.

Concentrated Areas of Climate Risks and Opportunities

The Company’s main operating base is located in the southern
region of China, which currently has no foreseeable risks in
the context of global climate change. At the same time, most
of the Company’s service customers are located in the north.
In addition, our production equipment has a high demand
for energy efficiency optimization, and some facilities still
rely on traditional energy sources. It is urgent to improve
energy efficiency management and reduce carbon emission
intensity. In terms of supply chain management, the global
low-carbon trend drives suppliers to adopt environmentally
friendly technologies, prompting our company to strengthen
environmental compliance in raw material procurement,
logistics transportation and supply chain management
Processes.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in the provision of ethanol production
system technology integrated services in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic
beverage industries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”
or “China”). Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 216 of this annual
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A comprehensive review of the business of the Group as well as a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2024 and an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business can be found in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 19 of this
annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
under review using financial key performance indicators is provided in
the Financial Highlights on page 5 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties which could
have a material impact on the Group’s performance and could cause
actual results to differ materially from expected and historical results.
The Board monitors risks on an ongoing basis and has implemented
appropriate procedures and processes to manage and mitigate the
adverse consequences of such risks. The principal risks are as follows:

Order book and contract backlog

It is often difficult to predict whether or when the Company will secure
new contracts as it depends on a number of factors, such as the
actual business needs of the potential customers, market conditions,
financing arrangements and government policies.
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China New Energy Limited

Whilst the Group has sufficient orders and backlog of contract, the
projected revenue amounts might not be able to result in actual
revenue or translate into profits and therefore are not indicative of
the future operating results of the Group. Contract backlog figures
represent the estimated total contract values of work which remain
to be completed pursuant to the terms of the outstanding ethanol
production system technology integrated service contracts. The
contract value of a project or other transaction represents the amount
the Group expects to receive as at the relevant date. However, such
backlog figure is based on the assumption that the relevant contracts
will be performed in full in accordance with their terms and schedule.
Since the contract may be subject to cancellation or change of order or
schedule by the counterparty or other force majeure which may affect
the progress of the project, such changes to any one or more sizeable
contracts could have substantial and immediate effect on the backlog
of the Group, leading to reduction in the amount of backlog and
revenue and profit which, in turn, put pressure on our working capital.

Accounts receivable and progress payment from customers

The Group may experience delays or defaults in recognising trade
receivables and progress payments from its customers. For the
ethanol production system technology integrated service projects,
project owners typically make progress payments to the Group based
on the percentage of work completed at specific milestone dates. In
accordance with the contracts entered into between the Group and
its customers, once the service project reaches a certain stage as
specified in the relevant contract, the Group will be paid a portion of
the contract value on a progressive basis. The milestone stages of
payment generally include (i) the signing of the contract; (ii) before
delivery of the equipment to the project site of the customer; (iii) after
completion of installation of the equipment and issuance of project
completion report; and (iv) the expiry of the defect liability period,
which is generally 12 months from the date of project completion
report issued by the customer. From time to time, the Group may be
required to commit cash and other resources to the projects prior to
reaching a payment stage to cover certain expenses for the projects.
There is a risk that the customers do not fulfil their contractual
obligations pursuant to the terms and conditions of the contracts
and will fail to make full and timely payments to the Group. Delays in
progress payments by the customers may significantly undermine our
working capital position and thereby affect the liquidity of the Group,
and would also adversely affect the financial conditions and results of
operations of the Group.
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Research and development

As part of the business strategies, the Group continues to focus on
research and development to strengthen its design and engineering
capability. Advanced biofuels using cellulose as feedstock have been
touted as the next step beyond the corn-based ethanol. However,
cellulosic ethanol is more difficult to produce than grain ethanol
because it uses the inedible and irregular parts of the plants. Cellulosic
ethanol production also requires the in-house development of new
technologies. The Group may be unsuccessful in researching and
developing such new technologies. The success of the Group’s
business is therefore dependent upon its ability to continuously
develop, in a timely manner, new technological applications through
research and development and introduce new solution designs to cater
to the customers’ requirements. The Group may be required to invest
extra time and resources to develop new technological applications
for solution designs in order to satisfy changing requirements of the
customers.

Competition

The Group operates in a competitive industry and it may not be able
to maintain an edge over its competitors. There are other providers
of ethanol production systems operating in the market who may
possess more in-depth experience, expertise, technical know-how and
financial ability to capitalise on pricing strategies and other services to
gain an edge in the competition. There can be no guarantee that the
competitiveness of its competitors will not improve or that the Group
will be successful in expanding its market share against its competitors
or expanding into new markets. Hence this could adversely affect the
Group’s business, financial conditions and operating results.

The Group’s financial instruments and financial risk management
objectives and policies are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 101 of this
annual report.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

—EFFR
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RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group and the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 102 and notes 33 and 43(b) to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserves consist of share premium and
retained earnings. As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not
have any distributable reserves (2023: RMB47.1 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 which would oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the Group’s five
largest customers amounted to approximately 73% of the total sales
and sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately 24%.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers amounted to
approximately 51% of the total purchases and purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for approximately 16%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the total number of issued Shares) had any interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates
and the local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success.
The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging
employees, providing quality services to customers and collaborating
with business associates (including suppliers and contractors) to
deliver sustainable products and services and support the local
community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 48 to 72 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairman)
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Richard Antony Bennett
Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron
Ms. Wong Mei Ling

Pursuant to Article 19.6 of the Articles, Mr. Yu Weijun and Ms. Wong
Mei Ling will retire by rotation at the 2025 AGM and shall be eligible
for re-election.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 20 to 28 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors regarding their independence
in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers each of them to be independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts or appointment letters,
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Group were entered into or
subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS
IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no contract of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing
Rules, the “Controlling Shareholder”) or any of its subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO
PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of an acquisition of
Shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and neither the Directors nor any of their spouses or children under
the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for securities of the Company
or had exercised such right.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company or any related
company (holding companies, subsidiaries, or fellow subsidiaries) was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2024,

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors or the Controlling Shareholders or their
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) was interested in any
business which competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group nor any conflicts of interest which has
or may have with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report, the Company has in force indemnity provisions as permitted
under the relevant statutes for the benefit of the Directors (including
former Directors) of the Company. The permitted indemnity provisions
are provided for in the Articles and in the Directors and officers liability
insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential liability and
costs associated with legal proceedings that may be brought against
such Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")), which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the
Directors and chief executive of the Company were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
therein, or were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

WRRRHITE ! Long positions in Shares:
HEARBET
EEEY B,/ #ntE FRisi & B et REBAESLE
Approximate
% of issued
Capacity/ Number of share capital
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held Total  of the Company
REEKE TEELEER () 99,012,168 99,012,168
Mr. Yu Weijun Interest in controlled corporation
(Note 1)
BREBA 3,070,352 3,070,352
Beneficial owner
102,082,520 17.31%
BEIE gL TP EERER (HE2) 48,000,000 48,000,000
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing Interest in controlled corporation
(Note 2)
BEREEA 3,070,352 3,070,352
Beneficial owner
51,070,352 8.66%
Richard Antony Bennettst4 BEmEEA 3,908,099 3,908,099 0.66%

Mr. Richard Antony Bennett Beneficial owner
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Notes:

1 These 99,012,168 Shares were held by Tewin Capital Holding Limited (“Tewin
Capital”) which was wholly owned by Mr. Yu Weijun. Mr. Yu was deemed or
taken to be interested in the same block of Shares held by Tewin Capital for the
purpose of the SFO.

2. These 48,000,000 Shares were held by Tonzest Capital Holding Limited (“Tonzest
Capital”) which was wholly owned by Mr. Tang Zhaoxing. Mr. Tang was deemed
or taken to be interested in the same block of Shares held by Tonzest Capital
for the purpose of the SFO. On 9 October 2020, 48,000,000 Shares have
been pledged by Tonzest Capital in favour of an independent third party as a
security of a loan in the amount of HK$1,500,000. As at 31 December 2024, the
outstanding amount of the loan was HK$670,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, so far as is
known to the Company, none of the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which the Directors and chief executive of
the Company were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register referred to therein; or were required, pursuant
to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

—EFFR
Annual Report 2024

31



ERERS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FTERRERIIGD RERRR DRI SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

7 K233

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

752024128318 » BESFTH > T4 A+ As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the
(TIFEEHANTTEBTHAD) FBEMHEIE  following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
R B EREE S MAEEAIEXVEIE  Company) had interests or short positions in Shares or underlying
2R3 EBRIME A A AT KB RZFriREE » 35C  Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
FRANAT RIS S NS IEMFE33618EF  Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the

FENERMNNREIYLE ;

R, AHE

SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to the Section 336 of the SFO:

(2% VNS

BT

EEME FrisiRin 8B BABESL
Approximate

% of issued

Number of share capital

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held  of the Company

Tewin Capital EnB A WD 99,012,168 16.79%
Beneficial owner (Note 1)

ERMEYL Fodtgss (st1) 102,082,520 17.31%

Ms. Tan Fenggiao Interest of spouse (Note 1)

Tonzest Capital BEnEaA W2 48,000,000 8.14%
Beneficial owner (Note 2)

BRELL Fof@igem (17222 51,070,352 8.66%

Ms. Zeng Fanghua Interest of spouse (Note 2)

Best Full Investments Limited e A H523) 45 444,000 7.71%
Beneficial owner (Note 3)

ZHERE TP EERE R (173#3) 45,444,000 7.71%

Mr. Liang Hongtao Interest in controlled corporation (Note 3)

BEZL Pt (Hzt4) 45,444,000 7.71%

Ms. Han Jing Interest of spouse (Note 4)

Kapok Capital Management Limited EnEaA WS 44,652,107 7.57%
Beneficial owner (Note 5)

PRI &+ R E R (EEs) 44,652,107 7.57%

Ms. Chen Wan Ling

82 China New Energy Limited

Interest in controlled corporation (Note 5)
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MR, AiE EmE FRisi & E BB 57 B
Approximate
% of issued
Number of share capital
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held of the Company
Jojo Global Investment Limited EmES A (M5t6) 31,884,000 5.41%
Beneficial owner (Note 6)
=BTt Sy EEER (W) 31,884,000 5.41%
Mr. Jiang Xinchun Interest in controlled corporation (Note 6)
BREEA 3,070,352 0.52%
Beneficial owner
Tz L BB (HaE7) 34,954,352 5.93%
Ms. Wang Yan Interest of spouse (Note 7)
Hiat - Notes:
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RHEEER > BRIE R LB R B &
HE R I E R TR s o

BRI L+ BEIESE ((TRABZFNTESR)
BIECHE o [BIKE L AR L IR s B ()R 2 &
HEBHIL E]Tonzest CapitaltF & HI48,000,0004% %
1 5 Rii) &S £ EEHFE 3,070,352 1% ° 1R
WS RETEER] » A EL 115 EK A
LB EE Em BB RGPS B

Best Full Investments Limited @22 5554 2 EH
G o FUt - RIFFEHRFENRA - ZRELEW
1B EERBest Full Investments Limited#F&H7
45,444,0008R 5% 19 G 177 ©
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BHEE o Fit - IRFE S REIE RG] » R 21+
W18 % 8L = ER Kapok Capital Management Limited
FFBEHI44,652, 107 R (1 H#E B s ©

Jojo Global Investment Limited A Z=FT & 554 £ EHE
B o [t - IRIFEFRHIEIRS » ZHELLER
A ETE Jojo Global Investment Limited?F & HT
31,884,000/R 1% (G s o

TR L ERTE L EHIECN o IRIFEE S RATEE
Bl » ER LW R IR E S LB HITE
RO FHEE Ea

Ms. Tan Fengqiao is the spouse of Mr. Yu Weijun, the Chairman and an
executive Director. The interests of Mr. Yu Weijun in the Company comprised (i)
99,012,168 Shares held by his wholly-owned corporation, Tewin Capital; and (ii)
3,070,352 Shares held by Mr. Yu directly. Ms. Tan Fengqiao was deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Yu Weijjun was beneficially interested for
the purpose of the SFO.

Ms. Zeng Fanghua is the spouse of Mr. Tang Zhaoxing, the Chief Executive
Officer and an executive Director. The interests of Mr. Tang Zhaoxing in the
Company comprised (i) 48,000,000 Shares held by his wholly-owned corporation,
Tonzest Capital; and (i) 3,070,352 Shares held by Mr. Tang directly. Ms. Zeng
Fanghua was deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Tang
Zhaoxing was beneficially interested for the purpose of the SFO.

Best Full Investments Limited was wholly owned by Mr. Liang Hongtao. Therefore,
Mr. Liang Hongtao was deemed or taken to be interested in 45,444,000 Shares
held by Best Full Investments Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Ms. Han Jing is the spouse of Mr. Liang Hongtao. Ms. Han Jing was deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Liang Hongtao was interested for the
purpose of the SFO.

Kapok Capital Management Limited was wholly owned by Ms. Chen Wan
Ling. Therefore, Ms. Chen Wan Ling was deemed or taken to be interested in
44,652,107 Shares held by Kapok Capital Management Limited for the purpose
of the SFO.

Jojo Global Investment Limited was wholly owned by Mr. Jiang Xinchun.
Therefore, Mr. Jiang Xinchun was deemed or taken to be interested in
31,884,000 Shares held by Jojo Global Investment Limited for the purpose of the
SFO.

Ms. Wang Yan is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Xinchun. Ms. Wang Yan was deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Jiang Xinchun was interested for the
purpose of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no other person
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above) had, or were taken or deemed to have
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED/RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which were required
to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
in the normal course of business are set out in the note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements. None of the related party
transactions as disclosed constituted disclosable non-exempted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the Company complied with the
relevant requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Tewin Capital and Mr. Yu Weijun, Tonzest Capital and Mr. Tang
Zhaoxing, and Jojo Global Investment Limited and Mr. Jiang Xinchun
(collectively, the “Covenantors”) has each entered into a deed of non-
competition dated 16 June 2020 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”)
in favour of the Company (for itself and for the benefit of each of its
subsidiaries).

The Covenantors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition. The independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and written
confirmation from the Covenantors, and confirmed that, as far as they
can ascertain, all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
have been complied with by each of the Covenantors during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and up to date of this report.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group is set up to reward employees
and Directors based on their qualifications, experience, performance,
competence demonstrated and market comparable companies. A
remuneration package typically comprises salary, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonuses relating to the profit of the
relevant company. The remuneration of the Directors and the senior
management is recommended by the Remuneration Committee and
then decided by the Board.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in
notes 3.2 and 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
subsisting at the end of or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied
with the relevant environmental and occupational health and safety
laws and regulations in China and we did not have any incidents or
complaints which had a material and adverse effect on the business,
financial condition or results of operations of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

For more detailed information about the Group’s environmental
policies and performance for the year under review, please refer to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 48 to 72 of
this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations including the
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 of the Jersey, Channel Islands, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Business Registration Ordinance (Chapter 310 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), etc. The Group has put in place internal controls to
ensure compliance with the same. In addition, as the Group carries
out business activities in China, compliance procedures are in place
to ensure adherence to applicable PRC laws, rules and regulations
which have significant impact on the Group. Any changes in the
applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and relevant operation units in the Company and
subsidiaries from time to time.

Save as otherwise disclosed, as far as the Board is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business
and operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was
held by the public under the Listing Rules.
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ERGRS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

AUDITOR

KTC Partners CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the
Company by the Board with effect from 7 January 2022 to fill the
causal vacancy following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers.
Save for the above, there was no other change in the auditor of the
Company in the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by KTC Partners CPA Limited who shall hold
office until the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-
appoint KTC Partners CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company will
be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

By order of the Board

Yu Weijin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of China New Energy Limited (incorporated in
Jersey with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New
Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 98 to 215, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

Room 1305-07, 13/F., New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
FBNFER DR FHPEEE ORI R EH E P o134#1305-07%

Tel E35: (852)2314 7999
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Key Audit Matter

BRCEBEERGERESRERE
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB59,292,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31
December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately RMB59,364,000. These conditions, along
with other matters as set forth in note 3.1, indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty Related
to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

EENENARIERARE T EIE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition for ethanol production system construction contracts

B2 A B IRAMES ©

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BE2024F12R31BILFE » EXEEIELEERGE o
wmeRELEREYARES3,154,0007t > BRAEREERE

FRFfEIFESR ©

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
revenue of approximately RMB83,154,000 was derived
from ethanol production system construction contracts for

which revenue is recognised on over time basis.

EEREERRESSEMITNREREE .
Our procedures performed to address this key audit matter
included:

TERHEEEEM MMEEEEEMU R B
TEZRGERSRA S X EMDOAEER ;
Obtained an understanding of the key controls
over management’s review and approval of project
budgets and estimates of revenue recognition from
ethanol production system construction contract;

. BERENREIEE AR > TRIBEENEERIER
BEMER
Discussed with management and the respective
project teams to understand the progress of the
projects and relevant contract terms;

—EFFR
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EEEERLERGERSRSNEEEETER BT
RENRESEE NERNSEEIEERT - ZEETREAH
i fhst o EETHIRE ERERBITERAFEMELRN
BAFEAMETE » WBEEERSARMESLNSRERL
KMEEREEmbstARRANE DL

The Group recognises revenue from its ethanol production
system construction contracts based on progress
made towards complete satisfaction of its performance
obligation under contracts. This basis involves significant
judgements and estimates. The progress is measured
based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligation, by reference to the contract
costs incurred up to the end of the Reporting Period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each product in the
contract.

EERRER—EMRENSEE > ERABEEEME T
I8 B PR RIER N AR A E A HE - UESTR B 5
tb > Rt 2R REAS H R &5 AR D

We considered this as a key audit matter because
management applied significant judgements in estimating
the remaining cost to complete the projects in order to
determine the percentage of completion and thus the
revenue to be recognised for the Reporting Period.
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° IR EZEEE2024F 12831 HIEEEESE
HIEE A » U RFEIEERERE « MEIREBE
RN LA LIRS
Tested, on a sample basis, the project costs
incurred during the year ended 31 December
2024 to supporting evidence including purchase
agreements, materials receipt notes and labour cost
records;

. BBERFREBEENERNANBIREEHIEEMN
ANHY R S AT Y TR M 0 ST ST A IE B RS ET AL
7
Evaluated the estimated cost to complete the project
by considering the actual costs incurred subsequent
to the year end, and the accuracy of management’s
historical estimation of the project costs;

. BHREEZHEREENRE =R sHEEM
TRBHNEENEE » SEERETNERERNRK
ERUEESD 5
Checked, on a sample basis, the settlements from
customers and third-party evidence to evaluate
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation, including final customer
confirmation of acceptance when a project is
completed; and

. ZHEEEBHEEHE2024F 12831 HIEFEEFR

EENERBA GG ERAT D LIS > Wik
BZANtLERTEEEE -
Checked management’s calculation of percentage
of actual costs incurred up to the year ended 31
December 2024 to total estimated costs, and
recalculated the revenue recognised based on the
percentage.

EBLERIEE TR ETNERSRAENAETER SF4R
RRAETTEIREM B » DEMLEIRERAMLt a8 -
Performed retrospective review by comparing the total
actual contract costs incurred at completion against the
total budgeted contract costs to assess the reasonableness
of the estimates used by the management.
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Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables and contract assets

SH2RFEE M BBRRMEE22 « 24%37(b) ©
Refer to notes 22, 24 and 37(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

152024F 12831 B E 5 EUEIE N BN R R 42 ZE L
MEREEDNAA ARE109,333,000 2 AR
184,326,0007T » F52024F 12831 BREGRBEED BINA
AE#95,885,0007t M A K #35,421,0007T ©

The gross trade and bills receivables, and contract assets
amounted to approximately RMB109,333,000 and
RMB184,326,000 respectively as at 31 December 2024,
with loss allowance of approximately RMB95,885,000 and
RMB35,421,000 respectively as at 31 December 2024.

EEEGRITETHENX « ENBRAXEAKER TR
TEEEBEESERAR2 B G E ZRIGEIE N BN
MUEREREENTEIREERIEHE - TstETRREEREE
K> SEEZRGRENRE - TREPERNEERER
AR WSS BRI AT R ZETRE o 7E5Tha
BUERZEN > EEEEENRROESHBECE - REKH
BF ~ ITERRRE R IERES o

The Group assesses expected credit loss allowances of
trade and bills receivables and contract assets using the
risk parameters including industry average default rates,
loss given default, forecast economic conditions and
expected credit loss. When measuring expected credit loss,
the Group considers the ageing of the balances, the nature
and credit profile of different customer base and adjusted
by considerations such as current conditions and forward-
looking factors. In assessing forward-looking factors, the
Group considers factors including economic policies,
macroeconomic indicators, industry risks and changes in
customers’ conditions.

EETREZRHRIENRERERUNERE ENRERT
hA—IBRREENEE > NHREEERETRATEKX
Flkr o

We considered this as a key audit matter because
management applied significant judgements in the
impairment assessment of trade and bill receivables and
contract assets.

EEREEZRESEEMATHNEFEE
Our procedures performed to address this key audit matter
included:

. TREEEETHE ZRRIENR BN ERU RS
FI&ERENRAREZER ;
Obtained an understanding of the key controls over
management’s assessment of the impairment of
trade and bills receivables and contract assets;

. ML B BT T BRI EEEERRANGEHEY

KHENIBLER > BFst R TEEFERENMEE R
ERREUREREENEE ;
Assessed the estimated default rates and loss
given default applied by management in the
ECL calculation, by considering the nature and
credit profile of different customer base and the
appropriateness of data used;

. BIB2ERERE ~ TENMTIZER ) FEEFIAR
NNEEEEMETE BVRIFEEREE ;
Assessed current conditions and the forward
looking factors considered by management in the
assessment by referencing to macroeconomic,
industry and market information;

. IR EEZH B S RIGIE R BN ER U R SE
BEHREENRE N EMREESER ; &
Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
ageing of the trade and bills receivables and contract
assets to invoices and other supporting evidence;
and

. EHEEERHEEAREBNRTRER -
Tested, on a sample basis, settlement made by the
customers subsequent to year end.

EER R B RHRIENRENERUNERE ER AT
FrABRARRER T BRI ©

We found the key assumptions used in impairment
assessment of trade and bills receivables and contract assets
were supported by the available evidence.
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PRIXTREELEN ((FEELEN) PYE « BERRR « HEREEURCEHAEEEZREE GEEAHGEH

FIRAMIZE16  17518)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets in Zhongke
Tianyuan cash-generating unit (“CGU”) (please refer to Notes 16, 17 and 18 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements)

52024128310 > BB K TRSELEUNY
X -BEMRE BREEENERAEEERBDFED I
A ANEH7,369,0007T ~ AR¥E16,357,0007T 2 AR
6,309,0007T ° IRFEIRERITE > B E2024F12831H
IFFERETRARERRERE HPRXcRTELE
IR el EE I HAREE ©

As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
right- of-use assets belonging to Zhongke Tianyuan CGU
were approximately RMB7,369,000, RMB16,357,000 and
RMB6,309,000 respectively. Based on management’s
assessment, no impairment loss has been recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2024, as
the recoverable amount of the Zhongke Tianyuan CGU was
higher than its carrying amount.

EEBREIRN A TRSELBUNFRABEETCHEYTI
Bl > MBMSENRRSELESBUERELE Z KRR
EMEBZIREFE °

The management determined the recoverable amount
of the Zhongke Tianyuan CGU based on its value in use,
which was calculated based on the present value of the
future cash flows directly generated by the CGU.

EERRPHITREELEUNRET ER—ERRES
STEIE  YHREHGSMBRENEEN » UM RE
BEHRNEARGHAEBES ETRRAZRERETEAIE
Rz BREEAEI St Z S EREEN ©

We have identified the impairment of the Zhongke Tianyuan
CGU as a key audit matter because of their significance to
the consolidated financial statements and the involvement
of a significant degree of judgements and high estimation
uncertainty made by the management for the profit
forecasts and cash flows projections for the value-in-use
calculations.
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EHMPMEENGESERBE T > KPIERABER 22
FFEliE -
With the assistance from our engaged valuation specialists,
our procedures in relation to the impairment review
included:

. ES(hERE @ WeHEEIGEM 2 A8E ~ BEJT ~
BT REEMY ;
obtaining the valuation report and assessing the
independent valuer’s competence, capabilities,
independence and objectivity;

. FEEBETEIBA > sHMEEE I WREIEEEER
ERBRESBENGE ;
assessing the appropriateness and reasonableness
of the valuation methodology and assumptions in
determining the recoverable amount with reference
to the industry practice;

. TEEEERReERERAN (EHEEEEXK
WA EANHENEE M RETNEIEE
assessing the appropriateness of the management
judgements and reasonableness of the estimates
used in the cash flow projection, including the sales
growth rates and profit margins;

. HERENmGEPFAZEMRR  wEEEER
TERAELR AR Z EMTIZERE T E8Em AR
B2 SBMIRHER (iEMEIRE S S18M) ;
discussing with the management about the other
assumptions used in the valuation and to challenge
the reasonableness of the key inputs including
assessing the reasonableness of the discount rate
based on relevant market data of comparable
companies where appropriate;

. TRE AR R R AER 0 U B E R
STEAFT R 2 AHRARE 2 BRI &
checking the accuracy and relevance of the input
data and mathematical accuracy of the valuation
calculation and the underlying data used in the
calculation; and

. IR E TG ST A 2 FERBETHRIED
Mo WE BZEHEFREFUABHIBAEZRE o
performing sensitivity analysis around the key
assumptions for forecast revenue and estimated
costs and considering the extent of change in those
assumptions that would result in impairment.
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Impairment assessment of interest in an associate

H2RGE M BERRMEEL
Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

152024F 12831 HAS MBI R R PGS A B #m
BERREIPREMENREBRAR ZKRE > RE
BB ARTEA7,949,0007T © i E2024F12831HIESF
B impl i miE sl pERE o

Interest in an associate in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024 included
investment in Heilongjiang Zhongke Green Biotechnology
Co., Ltd. with a carrying amount of approximately
RMB47,949,000. No impairment loss was recognised in
respect of this interest for the year ended 31 December
2024.

REERPIEHE AR AR EETRENR > 1A
AT REE2024F 12831 HILFERSGHEE - &%
FRIPTIEHE AR T A —IBRARE T HIE » THEK2024
F12A31 BMEHE A B RN GRS aMBIRAM S
BEX > AEBREANGE I REREAHEBEKEIRRE
RHE 1 2B (b (EAT ) F IR K 5t o

The Group tested the carrying amount of the interest in an
associate for impairment as the associate was loss making
for the year ended 31 December 2024. We identified
interest in an associate as a key audit matter due to the
balance of interest in the associate as at 31 December
2024 are material to the consolidated financial statements
and the Group’s impairment test involves the application
of significant judgement and is based on assumptions
and estimates made by management and an independent
professional valuer (the “Valuer”).

BILIZHAEN RS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BENEHEFEE Hha) -

Our audit procedures included, among others:

. T EEEZIEZ IMEREERMAYEES ~ B MR
EEM
Assessing the competence, independence and
objectivity of the external valuers engaged by the
Group;

. BHPTERANGEEBRE « FE RIS R FG
BEREIPTANEARHIE SRR ;
Challenging the valuation process, methodologies
used and market evidence to support significant
judgements and assumptions applied in the
valuation model;

. ML ERABEEFTENEMERM ;
Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of value-in-use
calculations;

. SHERARRR (BIEE XL R WA=~ &Y
EELERER)NEEY ; &
Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions (including revenue growth, profit
margins, terminal growth rates and discount rates);
and

. WIS RIRSE » REWMARUR ©

Checking input data to supporting evidence.

EERAMEME AR R ETEFTBNRERERR A
FERIK o

We found the key assumptions used in impairment
assessment of interest in an associate were supported by
the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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EMNEET > BUIFETEH EEER
BIERNERIEELRER -

. SHEPTRESHRESIEE » UNES
PRIFEsHaBENMERIRER S IR
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidation financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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BILIZHAEN RS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that are of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Ng Yan Chak
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO8328
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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AREIRIR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HE 2024512831 HIEEE  For the year ended 31 December 2024

HiaE 20244 20234
AR¥FTT AR®FT
Notes 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
= Revenue 5 85,428 41,826
THE A Cost of sales (68,556) (46,948)
E£7, () Gross profit/(loss) 16,872 (5,122)
THE N IHEY Selling and marketing expenses (11,258) (8,763)
TR Administrative expenses (17,250) (17,158)
FEHAEEEEEEIUTAYRIME  Impairment losses under
518 o 0BR[] expected credit loss model,
net of reversal 10 (35,674) (76,031)
HA A Other income 7 1,208 1,571
HMESIE— 358 Other losses — net 8 (5,552) (4,050)
Fr{aBtE AR & DRE Share of result of associate (6,032) 981
SR Operating loss (57,686) (108,572)
AR Finance costs 9 (1,780) (1,828)
FRFRISMAIESIE Loss before income tax 10 (59,466) (110,400)
Rttt (Fiz) Income tax credit/(expense) 11 174 (16,323)
FRE5E Loss for the year (59,292) (126,723)
DU FE(LESIE - Loss attributable to:
. YNCIEZZ=DN — Owners of the Company (59,495) (126,594)
—IEER R — Non-controlling interest 203 (129)
(59,292) (126,723)
EAEHEE AEMLEEMNSE  Loss per share for loss
BEESIE (SRR attributable to owners of
ARHETRT) the Company (expressed in
RMB per share)
SRERER Basic loss per share 15 (0.101) (0.215)
S SRR Diluted loss per share 15 (0.101) (0.215)

98 China New Energy Limited




raEmREMEmTmR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE 2024512831 HIEEE  For the year ended 31 December 2024

20244 20234
ARET T AR®FT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEAESE Loss for the year (59,292) (126,723)
Hih2mEEE Other comprehensive loss
BIBET B EM DB Y Items that may not be reclassified to
EHH profit or loss
— B AFESF A EMEERE — Change in the fair value of financial assets
HNEMEENTFEE at fair value through other comprehensive
(OB&IRIE) income, net of tax = (2,126)
OJBEERT D B E IR m Y EE Iterns that may be reclassified to profit or loss
— BB ER Z EREEE — Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations 184 1,687
FRHEMEEEE JNRIRIE) Other comprehensive loss for the year,
net of tax 184 (439)
FREEEEERE Total comprehensive loss for the year (59,108) (127,162)
L2 mESE4E%E © Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
—RRBEEAN — Owners of the Company (59,311) (127,033)
— IR TR — Non-controlling interests 203 (129)
(59,108) (127,162)

“TTUEEFR
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REMBRR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

72024512831 H Asat 31 December 2024

HiaE 20244 20234
AR¥FTT AER¥ET T
Notes 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREMEE Non-current assets
YDZE ~ S Rk Property, plant and equipment 16 7,775 11,691
mEEE Intangible assets 17 16,357 17,844
EREEEE Right-of-use assets 18 6,309 7,553
Fr{aBE AR R Interest in an associate 19 47,949 53,981
BN EST AEMEEEZ  Financial assets at fair value
NEmMEE through other comprehensive
income 20 - -
IRIEFRIEE FE Deferred tax assets 29 750 750
79,140 91,819
MENEE Current assets
=& Inventories 21 9,336 11,822
BEREWFIENEWZHE  Trade and bills receivables 22 13,448 34,393
HEUWEIBNFEIFRIE  Other receivables and
prepayments 23 11,569 16,358
BREE Contract assets 24 148,905 166,834
RITEERRNIRE Bank balances and cash 25 4,166 5,174
187,424 234,581
meEnafl Current liabilities
=Y AN E| Trade payables 26 62,260 71,005
HnERmIa Other payables 27 72,067 61,900
aRA&E Contract liabilities 28 36,190 42,471
IRITER Bank borrowings 30 26,026 19,960
HEAaE Lease liabilities 31 1,146 1,057
FESHRIE Tax payable 49,099 49,025
246,788 245418
BB EFE Net current liabilities (59,364) (10,837)
WEERREAE Total assets less current liabilities 19,776 80,982

]. OO China New Energy Limited




AREMBIRR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

7202412831 B As at 31 December 2024

g 20244 20234
AR¥FTT AER¥ET T
Notes 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREEE Non-current liabilities
RITIER Bank borrowings 30 6,206 7,028
EERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 29 630 804
HEaR Lease liabilities 31 3,285 4,387
10,121 12,219
HERE Net assets 9,655 68,763
BERNHEE Capital and reserves
fig s Share capital 32 1,762 1,762
HE Reserves 33 8,336 67,647
EATEE AEGER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 10,098 69,409
FEiERe Non-controlling interests (443) (646)
‘g Total equity 9,655 68,763

FISE2ILBE VA MBIRERDHL2025%38  The consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 215 were
1A EEEH ENRISHTIZIT B TESA  approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31

REE . March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
RER FE YKk
Yu Weijun Tang Zhaoxing
EES S
Director Director

—EFFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE 2024512831 HIEEE  For the year ended 31 December 2024

(RetE8) /
feA Hitfikfs BEA NGt FREERRER st
AE®Tr ARETR ARETR ARETx ARETR ARET:
(PzE32) (FzE33)
(Accumulated
losses)/ Non-
Share Other retained controlling
capital reserves earnings Sub-total interests Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Note 32) (Note 33)
12023F1R1H At 1 January 2023 1,762 148,282 46,398 196,442 (617) 195,825
FREE Loss for the year = - (126,594) (126,594) (129) (126,723)
EemesE Other comprehensive loss = (439) - (439) - (439)
FR2HEELE Total comprehensive loss
for the year - (439) (126,594) (127,033) (129) (127,162)
R AR Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - 100 100
120235128310 At 31 December 2023 1,762 147,843 (80,196) 69,409 (646) 68,763
1%2024%1R1H At 1 January 2024 1,762 147 843 (80,196) 69,409 (646) 68,763
EREE Loss for the year = - (59,495) (59,495) 203 (59,292)
HEt2EKR Other comprehensive income = 184 = 184 = 184
FERN2EREEE Total comprehensive loss
for the year = 184 (59,495) (59,311) 203 (59,108)
1%2024%12A31H At 31 December 2024 1,762 148,027 (139,691) 10,098 (443) 9,665

]. 02 China New Energy Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE 2024512831 HIEEE  For the year ended 31 December 2024

g 20244 20234
ARET T AR®FT
Notes 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEE Operating activities
& (Fr) /FiisiRe Cash (used in)/generated from
operations 38(a) (2,809) 12,591
EPTER Income tax paid = (520)
&ETES (FRA) RS Net cash (used in)/generated
INEFEE from operating activities (2,809) 12,071
KREEE Investing activities
EEYZ ~ WENEE Purchases of property,
plant and equipment (609) (4,303)
EEETEE Purchases of intangible assets (61) (79)
RETEFTARE S Net cash used in
investing activities (670) (4,382)
RhEEED Financing activities
BAFIE Interest paid (1,780) (1,821)
R TEFRPTERIE Proceeds from bank borrowings 26,139 28,780
EEIRITER Repayments of bank borrowings (20,895) (30,274)
HENRNEASEHD Principal elements
of lease payments (1,013) (1,173)
JEEERER HERE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - 100
A& EENFRTS. (FRA) Net cash generated from/(used)
REPEE in financing activities 2,451 (4,388)
HERBFELEBYGHEA) ~  Net (decrease)/increase in cash
HEIN$%E and cash equivalents (1,028) 3,301
FYRENREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 5,174 1,879
REMIREEEBYN Translation differences on
B AR cash and cash equivalents 20 (6)
FERAENREEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year 4,166 5,174
“ETUEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(FRAHB RS - FREEEREMA ARETT)
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1

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

GENERAL INFORMATION

China New Energy Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
Jersey on 2 May 2006 as a public company with limited liability
under the Jersey Companies Law and its shares have been
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 15 July 2020. The address of its registered
office is at 13 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE1 1ES. The
Company’s principal place of business is at Unit 2406, 24/F.,
Strand 50, 50 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of ethanol
production system technology integrated service in the ethanol
fuel and alcoholic beverage industries in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi Yuan (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”).

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDINGS
(“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning
on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(PRSP ERESN - FRESEEEMNA AR TT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDINGS
(“IFRSS”) (Continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements
IFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to IFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected
by management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months.

° clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity’'s own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’'s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity instrument applying
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

“TTUEEFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDINGS
(“IFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that
only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or
before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant is
assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments
also specify that covenants with which an entity must comply
after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect
the classification of a liability as current or non-current at the
reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability is subject to the entity complying with covenants
within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity
discloses information that enables users of financial statements
to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming repayable
within twelve months after the reporting period. This would
include information about the covenants, the carrying amount
of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that
indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying with the
covenants.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDINGS

(“IFRSS”) (Continued)

Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9 and
IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to IAS 21

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Accounting Standards 2024 —
Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS
7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 73

Lack of Exchangeability?

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to IFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in

the foreseeable future.

“TTUEEFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDINGS
(“IFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and
add an exception which permits an entity to deem a financial
liability to be discharged before the settlement date if it is
settled in cash using an electronic payment system if, and only
if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment
of whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement. The amendments
specify that an entity should focus on what an entity is being
compensated for rather than the compensation amount.
Contractual cash flows are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that is not a basic
lending risk or cost. The amendments state that, in some
cases, a contingent feature may give rise to contractual cash
flows that are consistent with a basic lending arrangement both
before and after the change in contractual cash flows, but the
nature of the contingent event itself does not relate directly
to changes in basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore,
the description of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and
the characteristics of “contractually linked instruments” are
clarified in the amendments.

The disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 in respect of
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are amended. In
particular, entities are required to disclose the fair value gain
or loss presented in other comprehensive income during
the period, showing separately those related to investments
derecognised during the reporting period and those related to
investments held at the end of the reporting period. An entity
is also required to disclose any transfers of the cumulative gain
or loss within equity related to the investments derecognised
during the reporting period. In addition, the amendments
introduce the requirements of qualitative and quantitative
disclosure of contractual terms that could affect the contractual
cash flow based on a contingent even not directly relating to
basic lending risks and cost.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDINGS
(“IFRSS”) (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
(Continued)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new IFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor amendments to IAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33 Earnings per Share are
also made.

[FRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit
or loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of
IFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the IASB. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Going concern assessment

The Group’s recorded a net loss of approximately
RMB59,292,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 and as at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB59,364,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern.

The directors of the Company have taken the following
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve the financial position of the Group:

(i) Major shareholders of the Group have confirmed
that they will provide continuing financial
support to the Group to enable it to continue as
a going concern and to settle its liabilities as and
when they fall due in the foreseeable future;

(ii) Actively negotiating with lenders to renew loans
and borrowings that have fallen due;

(iii) Implementing comprehensive policies to monitor
cash flows through cutting costs and capital
expenditure; and
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Going concern assessment (Continued)

(iv)  The directors of the Company anticipate that the
Group will generate positive cash flows from its
operations in the foreseeable future.

Provided that these measures can be successfully
implemented by the Group to improve the liquidity of the
Group, the directors of the Company are satisfied that
the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis. However,
the eventual outcome of these measures cannot be
estimated with reasonable certainty. Hence there exist
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and that the Group may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods
or service.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or
service underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the
price at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling
price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it
using appropriate techniques such that the transaction
price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation
reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satistaction of a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Revenue recognition on performance obligations for
contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
source:

Provision of ethanol production system technology
integrated service

The Group is engaged in the provision of ethanol
production system technology integrated service in
the ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage industries
and medical and industry of ethyl acetate. Revenue
is recognised when control over the asset has been
transferred to the customer. Control of the asset is
transferred over time as the Group’s performance does
not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date. The equipment
being constructed has generally no alternative use for
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date due to
contractual restrictions and the interpretation of the
applicable laws that apply to the contract.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Revenue recognition on performance obligations for
contracts with customers (Continued)

Provision of ethanol production system technology
integrated service (Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, that is, the actual costs
incurred up to the end of the Reporting Period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each product in
the contract.

The Group generally offers 12 months warranties for
its construction works. The Group recognised retention
money as contract assets as the Group’s entitlement
to the consideration was conditional on satisfactory
completion of the warranty period. The retention money
will be recognised as trade receivables at the end of
warranty period.

The Group does not recognise the warranty service as a
separate performance obligation in a single contract as
the warranty service is assurance type, and the Group’s
obligation to repair or replace faulty construction works
under the warranty terms is recognised as a provision.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of offices and staff dormitories
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made on or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which
case the exchange rates at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of foreign currency translation
reserves (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that require a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those asset, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefit

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when
it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset. A liability
is recognised as benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before income
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associate, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
each reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
IAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed
on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use
assets over the lease payments for the principal portion
of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences. Current and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets,
including buildings that are held for production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase
of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of
the following have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset

and use or sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure (Continued)

° how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial
and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected from use
or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition
of an intangible asset, measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit (“CGU") for
impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the
relevant cash generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of CGUs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the
group of CGUs. In allocating the impairments loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-

of-use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the

consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the

definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather

than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings

in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less the estimated
costs of completion and the costs necessary to make
the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required
to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of assurance-type
warranty obligations under the relevant contracts
with customers for provision of construction services
are recognised at the date of completion of the
relevant projects, at the directors’ best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the Group’s obligation.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which IFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserves, and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to
retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the other
income line item in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model
on financial assets (including trade and bills
receivable, other receivables and bank balances),
which are subject to impairment assessment
under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade and bills receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

i

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
(a)  Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(Continued)

i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that result in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

i

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

i)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

ii)

Definition of default (Continued)

iii)

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following
events:
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

ii) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

a)

c)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(Continued)

iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(Continued)

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
(a)  Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(Continued)

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
and contract assets are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration
past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group
takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the
grouping:

Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and contract assets, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the assets expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified either
as financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently

measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables,
other payables, lease liabilities and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3.2, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue from provision of ethanol production
system technology integrated service in the ethanol fuel and
alcoholic beverage industries and medical and industry of ethyl
acetate is recognised over time when the Group’s performance
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date. The Group cannot change or
substitute the product or redirect the product for another use
as the product is tailor made to each customer’s needs and
thus the product does not have an alternative use to the Group.
However, whether there is an enforceable right to payment
depends on the terms of contract and the interpretation of the
applicable laws that apply to the contract. Such determination
requires significant judgments. In assessing whether the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for its contracts,
the Group has performed an assessment on the contractual
terms as well as any legislation that could supplement or
override those contractual terms, and conducted an evaluation
of any existence of circumstances that could restrict the
Group to enforce its right to payment for specific performance.
Management uses judgments to classify contracts into those
with right to payment and those without the right. Management
will reassess its judgments on a regular basis to identify and
evaluate the existence of any circumstances that could affect
the Group’s enforceable right to payment and the implication
on the accounting for contracts.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation at the reporting date. The progress is measured
based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligation, by reference to the contract
costs incurred up to the end of the Reporting Period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each product in the
contract. Significant judgments and estimations are required
in determining the completeness of the estimated total costs
and the accuracy of progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation at the reporting date. Changes in
cost estimates in future periods can have effect on the Group’s
revenue recognised. In making the above estimations, the
Group relies on past experience and work of contractors and, if
appropriate, surveyors.

The information about revenue is disclosed in note 5.
Capitalisation and amortisation of internal development costs

The Group capitalises costs incurred on development
projects as intangible assets when recognition criteria are
met. Significant judgement is involved in assessing whether
the criteria set out in the accounting standards required for
capitalisation of such costs have been met, including the
likelihood of the project delivering sufficient future economic
benefits, and whether costs, including employment costs, were
directly attributable to relevant projects. The Group starts to
capitalise research and development expenditure upon patent
application. Notwithstanding that the Group has used all
available information to make this estimation and judgement,
inherent uncertainty exists and the capitalised costs may have
to be expensed if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.



AR T IRR I EE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(PRSP ERESN - FRESEEEMNA AR TT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

FED +¥U%ﬁ&1ﬁ§+7r i3
ERZENEERIR @

FER & 5B SR B = 2R (48)

RIEBFZ R BT B AL R (1

BEXREMANEETEHG R ER
FIRALEREIR AR R B
i - AEESFFIRFEENMGF L
FER - IR EIEEH R EAERE
EEREL > RIFERRAENBHE
o

Bt AETEENHARA S AMEMN
A BAEE 0 BT (RUWHRE T
RERERM T E B B IR E M) 1FRE
Al - ERM B RSB REREER
BEEARMES - HREBHIENEEETT
MEEE o BENLERERFE LG
5t o MIRFBHEREST TR » ZEEN
FERTEENREENZGOFEER
BIRRESEA -

ERABAENENER 17K

Eﬁ o
R RERRNEERR

TXEHF RS HARERAREHEER
RAfEst A RERRVEMEEZRR
FRRBEFERE MEMBEERNEE
RERREBEETEAFAENERR
B o

B EUTIER SRR ERE

AEEMNUERES A BEE S RRRIEN
BREENTEREERE - BEXLHE
REREE BUBEEINZEEF D
BETOEMABRNEHEE - HikE
BBA B RIS FRERER - TR
BRI E R B TR o

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Capitalisation and amortisation of internal development costs
(Continued)

Capitalised development costs are amortised from the point at
which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The Group reviews the estimated
useful lives of the assets semi-annually. The amortisation
expense for future periods is adjusted if there are significant
changes on the useful lives from previous estimates.

Development cost not yet ready for use, which are capitalised
as intangible assets are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Impairment assessment requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact both the carrying value of
intangible assets and the impairment charge in the period in
which such estimate has been changed.

The information about internal development costs is disclosed
in note 17.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the Reporting Period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

The Group calculates ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets on collective basis. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns. For the balance with significant
amount and different risk characteristic, the ECL will be
assessed on individual basis.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress
and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the
trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group
has therefore concluded that the ECL for trade receivables are
a reasonable approximation for the loss rates for contract assets.

The ECL calculation is based on the estimated default rates
and loss given default applied to each category of debtor,
adjusted for forward-looking information. In assessing forward
looking factors, the Group considers factors including economic
policies, macroeconomic indicators, industry risks and changes
in customers’ conditions.

The assessment of the correlation among estimated default
rates, loss given default, forecast economic conditions and
ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s estimated default rates, loss given default and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative
of customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECL on the Group’s trade receivables and contract
assets is disclosed in note 37(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The information about the ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets is disclosed in note 37(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets belonged to
Zhongke Tianyuan CGU

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has the following other
non-financial assets belonged to Zhongke Tianyuan CGU:

° property, plant and equipment
° intangible assets
° right-of-use assets

The Group reviews its non-financial assets for impairment and/
or indications of impairment at end of each reporting period
according to accounting policies set out in Note 3.

Determining whether other non-financial assets are impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs
to which the non-financial assets have been allocated. The
recoverable amount calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
or recent transaction prices of similar assets when they are
available and depreciated replacement cost when appropriate
for assets. Where the estimation of recoverable amount is
different, there will be a material impact to the Group’s profit
or loss. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in Note 17.

“TTUEEFR
Annual Report 2024 1 55



rR e MRS M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB ERIN » FRESEEEMNAANREETTT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

5. W=

() EFREAWAME

5. REVENUE

(

Disaggregation of revenue from
customers

contracts with

BEY s RS LR Types of goods or services

20245 20234
AR¥T T AR®TIT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

IEHEIERRTS Provision of construction services

- ZEEEEZRGEEMEGS - ethanol production system
AR5 technology integrated services

IR T Ethanol fuel industries 26,696 18,562
TEREENETE Alcoholic beverage industries 26,077 20,349
HAith Others 32,655 2915
“ast Total 85,428 41,826

TE M) T EIERBEN AR

TXAARIRE EE I ©

“Others” mainly refers to revenue generated from
projects relating to medical and industry of ethyl

acetate.

Woas FESEPF T - Timing of revenue recognition:
20244 20234
ARET T ARETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
e s Over time 83,154 39,868
RS At a point in time 2,274 1,958
85,428 41,826

]. 56 China New Energy Limited




5.

(RS EREAS  FIEHEUBARKETT)

AR T IRR I EE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Uzt @ 5. REVENUE (continued)
(i) SERFELEHNRGRENES (i)  Transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied
MR 5 E% - performance obligation for contracts with customers:
20244 20235
AREBTT ANREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FRX Within one year 138,834 150,605
—FEY HETRBEWE More than one year but not more than
two years 27,178 82,723
166,012 233,328
SEER 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION

EEEEREZEEERREBHIR
HEELZENE > TBEERREAS
NECE R EHEEE D ERRIRIT o T2
RERAREC WA BT RBRITE
£o

AERETENRCEMEISOEBREITSR
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B—EEE D SRR LB MERR
Wz PRSI BNEFI R R ETERD
RFETEMARATETRENE
B ©

Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segment. The chief operating
decision maker has been identified as the executive directors
of the Company.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of ethanol
production system technology integrated services in the ethanol
fuel and alcoholic beverage industries and projects relating to
medical and industry of ethyl acetate. Management reviews the
operating results of the business of the Group as one segment
to make decisions about resources to be allocated. Therefore,
the executive directors of the Company regard that there is
only one operating segment which is used to make strategic
decisions. Revenue and profit before income tax are the
measures reported to the executive directors for the purpose of
resources allocation and performance assessment.
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6 DEHER® 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
MEER Geographical information
AEBEZRE B PIEMEI 2SN = B UL The amount of the Group’s revenue from external customers
RN MRS © broken down by location of the customers is shown in the table
below.

20244 20234

AR®FTT AR®FT

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

FRE PRC 79,943 40,930

g Myanmar 187 249

BT Russia = 349

ENfE Indonesia 5,249 126

HtEx Other countries 49 172

“EEt Total 85,428 41,826

122024F K2023F 128310 » &&EH

BFTEIFRENE AT

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the non-current

BREEXRNER

HEFEGAAERBNEI0% U ENE

assets of the Group were located in the PRC.

Information about major customers

Reven

ue from customers of the corresponding years

PUEIT - contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as
follows:

20245 20234
ARYETTT ANREET T
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERA! Customer Al 20,240 N/A B
ZFEB Customer B 19,197 =
EZEC Customer C 10,632 15,432
BED? Customer D? N/A RiER 4,714
BRE? Customer E2 N/A RiEHR 4,385
#ast Total 50,069 24,531

! MR B S A SR EE E2023F 128
31BLEFEBRTAII0%LE ©

2 TERE R R I R AN EEEE £ 20245128
31BIEFEARWERII10%U L ©
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The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Hthr A 7 OTHER INCOME
20245 20234
AR¥FT AR¥EFTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITH EWA Bank interest income 7 7
FEEIA (FIEE®)) Subsidy income (note (i) 880 1,564
FEIEUTA Sundry income 321 =
1,208 1,571

0] AW A X RN R AERRHOE
By (ERERI R RE B RAIST R M
B - BRI A B RICREIR DA

()

Subsidy income mainly represented government grants provided to the
Group for its support and award to innovative and growth enterprises.

The grants were unconditional and were recognised as income when

WA o

Hthgsi8 — 548

received.

8 OTHER LOSSES - NET

20244 20235
ARET T AR®FIT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
EHIRER Bad debts written off (2,475) (4,270)
PERESIR - JFRE Exchange losses, net (79) (1,170)

m B ERERRED Impairment loss reversed on
intangible assets 502 1,390
TRERZRETHR BB (F95E42) Provision for claim (Note 42) (3,500) =
(5,552) (4,050)

UE %N 9  FINANCE COSTS

20244 20234
ARMETTT AR®TIT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITEFFI SR Bank borrowings interest expense (1,596) (1,698)
HEaENEM% Lease liabilities interest expense (184) (130)
(1,780) (1,828)

—Z2-

MO AESR
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(FRAHB RS - FREEEREMA ARETT)

10

PRER1SHRIRS 1R

BRFT1SIRATERTH bR K& (5T A) BUR

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

10 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging and

HITE (crediting) the following:
20244 20234
ARETTT AREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
BTA (BIEEEFHI Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration)
T& -~ Fie ~ AL HMER Salaries, wages, bonuses and other
benefits 8,130 11,108
BEETETEIRHER Contribution to pension scheme 1,542 1,920
9,672 13,028
B REEEEEAL Less: Capitalised in intangible
assets (23) .
9,649 13,028
SFAUTHEITRA Staff costs included in
—SHEMA — Cost of sales 948 1,287
—HENEHEMAY — Selling and marketing expenses 2,459 3,896
—1THEREIZ — Administrative expenses 6,242 7,845
TI2ARFEA A Costs of engineering services 13,587 9,226
BERRE ~ MK~ BEHK Equipment, materials, parts and
THIES consumables used 46,110 29,078
YD~ BB MR BITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 4,508 4923
EREEEITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,244 1,212
TS ETE Amortisation of intangible assets 2,050 1,850
mA E EME Write-off of intangible assets = 2,245
TEL TN B IEHESRA R EES18 Impairment losses, net of reversal
(0px#EEED) - recognised on:
— B S FEW =R TE N FE U 24 — Trade and bills receivables 22,253 31,268
—aR&EE — Contract assets 15,355 (1,499)
— HAfEWERIE — Other receivables (1,934) 46,262
35,674 76,031
FTAITE G V%R - Amounts included in administrative
expenses:
—EENEEER — Legal and professional fees 1,161 1,570
2 CIE ) — Auditor’s remuneration 1,108 1,086
—hfEE R A — Research and development costs 2,686 6,427

]. 60 China New Energy Limited
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11 FRriSHE (R%) B 11 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE
20245 20234
ARYET T ANREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
BPHATRIA - Current tax:
R (TSR PRC Enterprise Income Tax = -
RIEFATSHR (%) FEIxZ Deferred income tax (credit)/expense (174) 16,323
FriSii (IK5) Bk 4B%E Total income tax (credit)/expense (174) 16,323

BHANER

RIENSRMRT  SEREEERERN
BE2HBBTENLE.25% MR R
o MBE2AEE BT @M N16.5%
BURR IR ©

AR AEBNWATIEREBEETR
BEE WU EMREERBIEHEE
(20234 : ) o

BINFRIIR

KRERIEINIF AT (BAR) ATTE
FAEEMALBARERATE s

B ARERBIEEASER » X
AEEIIFEEEFREINE (19614F)
() MEMNEMRFERERNLAHLE
REE - ANENEASHAFRRE
REPZE

Hong Kong profits tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity is taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong
Kong (2023: Nil).

Overseas income tax

The Company was incorporated in Jersey as a public company
with limited liability under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.
The Company is regarded as resident for tax purposes in Jersey
and on the basis that the Group is neither a financial services
group nor a utility group for the purposes of the Income Tax
(Jersey) Law 1961, as amended. The Company is subject to
income tax in Jersey at a rate of zero per cent.

“TTUEEFR
Annual Report 2024 ]. 6 ].
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

11

FRiSH (E%R) FAx @
SREIR RS

7SR B L EL BT BB 2 B R AR B P L S TS Y
PSR E IR IRE 2 2024F %2023
FI2B31BIEFERITEG ~ 2ENIE
Bl SRR A IEBREE o

RIEFL2008F 1B 1HEMBI R EA
RHEMBIEEFREHRE (TEERER
&) BRARTEAMEERERRNEE
PRSI K 225% » BERARIKRITH
RERBHE R AR (THRRIXIT) 122016
FREDER BB Ri52019
FR2022F12RESEE (BB =
F) » KBE2024F %2023F12831H
I FERGASHERINETN 5% =R EE
PRSI o

RIE P B E R IR FH5 A8 B M8 ffr B9 — IR I
IR B20085FiE - WEEMEAFHE
RERNEEHZFEBERIEN K
RBEEIMAERCEEN G ERNEE
FA50%BITRIRR SR ° RIEPEBEIRRTS
BB H2018F9 A MMRIFIR BRI
R BRIMIER RS ERTEERRN
50%IBNNE)75% » BH2018F E20204F
ER(TBERRER ) - REBEPEBERRE
BEH2021 3 A MMRIFIR BRI
2R B2021FiE ) RIERTEENGER
e ERRBRIMRIER R EEAIUE75% RS
£100% °
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11

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

PRC enterprise income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of the
operations of its subsidiaries in mainland China has been
calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable
profits for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
based on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices
in respect thereof.

The enterprise income tax rate applicable to the group entities
located in mainland China is 25% according to the Enterprise
Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “EIT
Law”) effective on 1 January 2008 except Guangdong Zhongke
Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Zhongke Tianyuan”), which was qualified as “High and New
Technology Enterprise” in 2016 and renewed in December
2019 and 2022 with a validity period of three years and was
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% on its estimated
assessable profits for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of
the PRC and effective from 2008 onwards, enterprises engaged
in research and development activities are entitled to claim
an additional tax deduction amounting to 50% of the qualified
research and development expenses incurred in determining its
assessable tax profits for that year. The additional tax deduction
has been increased from 50% of the qualified research and
development expenses to 75%, effective from 2018 to 2020,
according to a new tax incentives policy promulgated by the
State Tax Bureau of the PRC in September 2018 (“Super
Deduction”). Effective from 2021 onwards, the additional tax
deduction rate of the qualified research and development
expenses for manufacturing enterprises has been increased
from 75% to 100%, according to a new tax incentives policy
promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of the PRC in March
2021.
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11 PSR GER) X @ 11
CREITEIA S

RIFERPISHIRE » BE2008F 18 1H
o EhERINERER A B AR
B ABB7K2008F 18 1 HEBEXN &
MBI BE » BH P EIRINERER
NEHBURI0% TR

reBmMEMEEWE RN FEARFRS
i (%) B s B BRAR B RS TR A ¥ BR N

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

PRC withholding income tax

According to the EIT Law, starting from 1 January 2008, a
withholding tax of 10% will be levied on the immediate holding
companies outside the PRC when their PRC subsidiaries
declare dividend out of profits earned after 1 January 2008.

The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of

S ¢ profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
20244 20234
ARBTT ARBFT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRiRAIESIE Loss before tax (59,466) (110,400)
B EEREITEN Tax at the applicable enterprise
FRI8 © 25% (20234 : 25%) income tax rate of 25% (2023:
25%) (14,866) (27,600)
MEBABMEEENTE Effect of different tax rates of
subsidiaries 5,975 11,345
RIER A IRIEIRTEE EMRIE Effect of tax losses and temporary
RN R EBI T E difference not recognised as
deferred tax assets 7,662 32,202
MW BEMMS > FrI0JERS.  Expenses not deductible for tax
purposes 1,458 1,349
P57 HBVB AR Super deduction of research and
development expenditure (403) (973)
(174) 16,323

“TTUEEFR
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12 EFERFTETHAEME 12 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS
RIFER R REELEEAIRE Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
NEARAZEENTETHRAEMEUT ! disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

HE2024F12H31HIEEEEEEN The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31
EfEEHIT - December 2024 is set out as follows:
IE % BEEHE

g REMEN - BRETEL e w5t
ARETRT AREFR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR

Salaries, Contribution
wages and Discretionary to pension
Fees other benefits  bonuses scheme Total
22 Name RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000  RMB’000
HITES Executive directors
RERKE Mr. Yu Weijun - 387 - - 387
BIKELE Mr. Tang Zhaoxing = 307 = 51 358
BUERTES Independent non-executive
directors
Richard Antony Bennett?c4  Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 184 = = = 184
BEELE Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 111 = = = 111
BERUTL Ms. Wong Mei Ling
111 - - - 111
406 694 - 51 1,151
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12 EBFERFEITHAEMNE 12

(&)

B E2023F12B31HLFEREEMN

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31

Ef=EHIT December 2023 is set out as follows:
TE Hig B A
wE RHMEN  BETEL B #8st
ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETR AREBTT
Salaries, Contribution
wages and  Discretionary  to pension
Fees other benefits ~ bonuses scheme Total
22 Name RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HITES Executive directors
REGREE Mr. Yu Weijun - 388 - - 388
BIKELE Mr. Tang Zhaoxing = 307 = 43 350
BUERTES Independent non-executive
directors
Richard Antony Bennett?c4  Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 176 = = = 176
GRS Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 109 = = = 109
BERUTL Ms. Wong Mei Ling
(X2023F3F15H#E&MA)  (appointed on 15 March 2023) 86 - - - 86
371 695 - 43 1,109

B ATEEHNE TR AREMN
BEANBRFAEBEHRENRER
B o

BRI IFRITESMERRE
TERA AR EFRHEBIBRFBINE

FRABEERESNEURERELEM
#ENEYZ Tk o

FR - AEETERAAATEAES
AENE > (ERIIA SN AREEER
RENSERBEE (2023F | ) °

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which the directors waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

During the year, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of
the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023:
Nil).

“TTUEEFR
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13 S5

FRN > AEEBLBRSHFMALEE2
BARNFESE (2023F | 2%ESE) » H
N BRI EXMIEEL2 o XS FER T
3% (20235 : 3%) ALBIFENAOT :

13

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the
year include 2 directors (2023: 2 directors) of the Company,
details of whose emoluments are set out in note 12 above. The
emoluments paid to the remaining 3 (2023: 3) individuals are

as follows:
20245 20234
ARET T ARET T
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
TE -~ Hre MEAMER Salaries, wages and other benefits 812 853
BEETTEIRHER Contribution to pension scheme 147 113
959 966

REBER T AT B TEHE -

The emoluments of these remaining individuals of the Group
fell within the following bands:

20244 20234
2024 2023
Frh#oE Emolument bands
221,000,000 7T Nil to HKD1,000,000
(HBHET AKR#924,0007T) (equivalent to RMB924,000)
(2023%F : AE#5905,0007T) (2023: RMB905,000) 3 3
14 IR 14 DIVIDENDS
720244 » HEMAA B EEIRRERIK No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary
I~ EIRSEURMEMRRE » BIREGHR shareholders of the Company during 2024, nor has any
TR EDEAIAR S (20235 © f&) o dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2023: Nil).
15 Sikksa 15 LOSS PER SHARE

(@) SREXEHEER

SREAGBEREARTE
BEAEEFEEBENARE
59,495,0007% (20234 : AR
#126,594,0007T) M EREE
BR AV NN 1980589, 758,898%
(20234 : 589,758,898%) &t
% °

]. 66 China New Energy Limited

(a) Basic loss per share

The computation of the basic loss per share amount are
based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately RMB59,495,000 (2023:
RMB126,594,000) and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 589,758,898 (2023: 589,758,898)
during the year.
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(PP ERBSN - FRESEEEMA ARKETT)
15 EREE®

(b) SRIEEEE (b)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
15 LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

Diluted loss per share

HE2024FR2023F12831H
IEFE > SRIEEHEIRNERE
KEEER  RRANRGHEE
TWRB I TEBEEBER -

16 ¥ ~ BB Kkt

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
computation of diluted loss per share were the same
as the basic loss per share as there were no potential
ordinary shares outstanding during the years.

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BF BoRE 1 HE 485t
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETET
Office Motor

Buildings  equipment  Machinery vehicles Total

RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Rz cosT
120231810 At 1 January 2023 5,772 847 24,044 7,903 38,566
HE Additions - 31 4,272 - 4,303
12023%12A31H At 31 December 2023 5772 878 28,316 7,903 42 869
HE Additions - 22 587 - 609
Hi3H Write-off - (142) = = (142)
1120245128318 At 31 December 2024 5,772 758 28,903 7,903 43336
BEHNE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
12023F1B1H At 1 January 2023 4,768 670 13,997 6,820 26,255
FREE Provided for the year 102 48 4367 406 4,923
12023F12831H At 31 December 2023 4870 718 18,364 7,226 31,178
FNEE Provided for the year 102 30 3,970 406 4,508
b6z Write-off - (125) - - (125)
12024F12831H At 31 December 2024 4972 623 22,334 7,632 35,561
fREfE CARRYING VALUES
120245128318 At 31 December 2024 800 135 6,569 271 7,775
12023F12831H At 31 December 2023 902 160 9,952 677 11,691

T MEFHR
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16 % - BERHRE @

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

R EF A RENSREEEEN
AU ~ BRPS MR Z AREEL T ¢

(Continued)

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
belonging to each CGU for impairment assessment purpose is
as follows:

20245 20234
ARYETTT AREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
DA - Analysed into:
Rl RTIREELE B Zhongke Tianyuan CGU (Note 17)
(H2£17) 7,369 10,854

BRERESETE » SB2RMEL7() °

TERBERESE WAL RIER
FH O DBER AR RAEFRE

@) :

T4 AR 5ZE 106
JRE 5E104%E
WNRE 3FE5E
BF 20%

BENFGREENREREHMESRS
HIRETIRG - REBERAE -

ARG RmERIRIIYIZE « B MRk

For details of impairment assessment, please refer to Note
17(a).

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Machinery 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
Office equipment 3-5 years
Buildings 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been

BITEWT - charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
follows:

20244 20234
AR¥TTT AREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEREZ Administrative expenses 411 414
THE A Cost of sales 4,078 4,475
THE METHRSY Selling and marketing expenses 19 34
4,508 4,923

1R2024F 12831 HERERENR/AR
#£800,0007T (20234 : AE#902,000
7o) R F EIREAREEERE
7 a (P5EE30) ©

]. 68 China New Energy Limited

Buildings with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB800,000 (2023: RMB902,000) as at 31 December 2024
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (Note
30).
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mEE 17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BiThI%
B HEF iz RS 485t
AREBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETET
Self-
Computer developed Development
software patents  Trademarks costs Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
o COoST
12023F181H At 1 January 2023 60 22,022 1,374 11,524 34,980
HE Additions = = = 79 79
Hi3H Write-off = = = (5,748) (5,748)
EREaT| Transfer to patents = 2,281 = (2,281) -
152023128318 At 31 December 2023 60 24,303 1,374 3,574 29,311
HE Additions = = = 61 61
BEEE] Transfer to patents = 965 = (965) =
1:2024%12831H At 31 December 2024 60 25,268 1,374 2,670 29,372
HH AMORTISATION
12023F181H At 1 January 2023 60 6,855 571 - 7,486
FREE Provided for the year = 1,713 137 = 1,850
112023F12831H At 31 December 2023 60 8,568 708 - 9,336
FREE Provided for the year = 1,913 137 = 2,050
120245128318 At 31 December 2024 60 10,481 845 - 11,386
e IMPAIRMENT
1K2023%F181H At 1 January 2023 = = = 7,024 7,024
FRHEH Write-off for the year = = = (3,503) (3,503)
ENEE] Write-back for the year - - - (1,390) (1,390)
12023F12831H At 31 December 2023 - - - 2,131 2,131
FERNEE] Write-back for the year = = = (502) (502)
1202412831 H At 31 December 2024 - - - 1,629 1,629
IREE CARRYING VALUES
120245128318 At 31 December 2024 - 14,787 529 1,041 16,357
12023128318 At 31 December 2023 - 15,735 666 1,443 17844

BivREN h RS ReEEEU

The carrying amount of intangible assets belonging to each

WESE EEENT CGU for impairment assessment purpose is as follows:
20244 20234
ARBTT ARBTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
DA Analysed into:
R R TIREEE B Zhongke Tianyuan CGU 16,357 17,844

B E2023F12H31HIEFEE » EFHH
RIEEHBARLE > IR A B R B

8 o

During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain research
projects were terminated and the related development costs
were fully written off.

-_=
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17 #REE®

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

17

AEBMRENBRFAKBEERZEBEE
EMMEEE URBABEER 2 E
SEXBHEELERERE - XEH
REMNPRAFEERABERCEAZEME -
B E2024%F K2023F 12831 HIEE
E>r&ETEXHEZMMIIERALR
SEEN LB E AL A EBE
AEBBEMEEF o ABEZH (B
FERNERERZHEMAE) NEEBEO5
ANE#2,747,0007¢ (20234 : AR

6,506,0007T) ©

AEBFEAEAIN TR REER
FHERNEFEE | EREFAIRIE
BERNRBEEER TN EEERNBEE
EERETTEE - BRKBTHENER
BRIMERFEHRNIRIBERIERIOERE

= o
BRI 106
G2 105
BITHZERER) 10E20%F

B EENBHF AGTRERIEES

PRA R AT ©

]. 70 China New Energy Limited

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The Group incurred development costs on its research and
development projects for enhancing and upgrading its alcohol
and ethanol production technology, and expanding the
business scope of alcohol and ethanol production. The Group
starts to capitalise development costs upon patent application.
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, some of
the self-developed technologies were successfully registered as
patents of the Group and the related capitalised development
costs were transferred to self-developed patents of the Group.
The total expenditure on research and development, including
capitalised and expensed costs for the year amounted to
approximately RMB2,747,000 (2023: RMB6,506,000).

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful
life using the straight-line method over the following periods:
The useful life of computer software is estimated based on
the asset’s conditions and management’s past experience.
The useful life of trademarks and self-developed patents is
determined in accordance with relevant laws and regulations.

Computer software 10 years
Trademarks 10 years
Self-developed patents 10-20 years

Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in cost of
sales and administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statements.
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FE > BEPRRTHRSELES
IR ~ BB ekt ~ BV E
ENEREEERETRERE
(20234 1 @) - BEEER A £
MEABRRZERESEAIEES)
WA EERZIRTELEMNIR
EEBREACIEEE

AR TSR IEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

Impairment tests for Zhongke Tianyuan CGU

In view of significant loss incurred by Zhongke
Tianyuan CGU, the directors of the Company performed
impairment assessment on the non-current assets of
the CGU. Zhongke Tianyuan CGU mainly comprises
of Zhongke Tianyuan and its subsidiaries, which are
engaged in the provision of ethanol production system
technology integrated services in the ethanol fuel
and alcoholic beverage industries. The recoverable
amount of Zhongke Tianyuan CGU as at 31 December
2024 has been determined to be approximately
RMB64,991,000 (2023: RMB57,624,000) based on the
value-in-use calculation with reference to a professional
valuation performed by Access Partner Professional
Services Limited (“Access Partner”). That value-in-
use calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a
period of 5 (2023: 5 years) years. The pre-tax discount
rate used was 16.3% (2023: 15.5%). Management
determined the budgeted revenue and costs based on
past performance and new contracts obtained, and its
expectations for the market development. The cash
flows beyond five years have been extrapolated using a
steady 3.0% (2023: 3%) growth rate for revenue and
expenses respectively. The growth rate reflected the
long-term growth rate for the country in which the entity
of the CGU operated. As a result of the impairment
assessment, no impairment loss had been recognised in
respect of the property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets in relation to Zhongke
Tianyuan CGU during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil). Management believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of above assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of this CGU to
exceed the recoverable amount of this CGU.

—EFFR
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17

18

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
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‘|LEE® 17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(b) #F2023F12H31HLLFER (b)  Changes in key assumptions used in impairment
BERHEERREE testing for the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12831HLEEE » During the year ended 31 December 2023, part of the
AEEE D B FEREMERD self-developed technologies are successfully registered
EMAERN > Rk ()Pt as patents of the Group and based on the impairment
BERE » B EERE BRI test as mentioned in (a) above, the related development
B A A4 AR #1,390,0007T 5 costs which were impaired in prior year of approximately
[El e E =R o RMB1,390,000 were written-back and transferred to

patents.

EREEE 18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

FAELH THEYE
(HaE() (Hi&Ea) a5t
ARETFT AR®TRT AR®TR

Leasehold Leased

lands properties
(Note (1)) (Note (i) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
72023%F1H1H At 1 January 2023 2,276 590 2,866
= Additions - 5,899 5,899
TEER Depreciation charge (83) (1,129) (1,212)
72023%F12H31H At 31 December 2023 2,193 5,360 7,553
TEEH Depreciation charge (83) (1,161) (1,244)
#2024%12H31H At 31 December 2024 2,110 4,199 6,309




(RS EREAS  FIEHEUBARKETT)

18 FHEEE®@

RIUREF A RERNSREEEEN

rRE MRS IRR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets belonging to each

NEBEEEZREEWNT ! CGU for impairment assessment purpose is as follows:
20244 20235
AREBTT ANREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
baLiiv=1N Analysed into:
FRIXTTIRESEE BN (5E17)  Zhongke Tianyuan CGU (Note 17) 6,309 7,553
20244 20234
AREBTT ANEETT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
A EEX Interest expense
(T ABATERAS) (included in finance cost) 184 129
ERAEEY=EAEENRHX Expense relating to short-term
GIATTERHS) leases in respect of leased
properties (included in
administrative expenses) 554 31
HERE M5 Total cash outflow for leases 1,771 1,127

et -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

5 LB PR S BB L METHE
Bz BRILHEIE FHEA10E30
Fo

KEFE » AEEGRZEHERLE
RETESE o 5] B G489 ELERIIR
#31F54F (20234F | 1E5EF) » WHER
ReAE LR o S ETRRIRETHE T BT
HHIIRRE RS » A EBEHSANIEZEL
ETE R B HBITEAIEIHIIR

1520244F 12531 HERETAREA) BN R
2,110,0005T (20234 | A E#2,193,000
TT) BIEFHIEE B EIEPFIE % K EE
BIHEFFLR (B13£30) ©

Notes:

()

(i)

(i)

It represents the Group’s ownership interests on leasehold land held for
own use in the PRC, with remaining lease term of between 10 and 30
years.

For both years, the Group leases offices and staff dormitories for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 5
years (2023: 1 to 5 years) without extension and termination options.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Right-of-use assets with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB2,110,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB2,193,000) were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (Note 30).
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19 FR{LEtSAEIER 19 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
20245 20234F
AEBETFT AR#ETFIT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
JEEHEE Unlisted investment:
P& EF a1 EE Share of net assets 47,949 53,981

TRITFRAEEBEZZHEATE
Kl o ZBE QB RARmARG ST
BWRAAR ° M B EHBEEE
BMBRISEIMENTNYHFREE
5l

i UNI P2y
Name of associate

FESEMI
EEaiiinAvEIER

Principal place of business/
country of incorporation

FEEF

Principal activities

$52023%F8H31H » ARBENZ BB
NEERPHRITHEERRIRERAT
(THhfIRTT)) » BIAREEEANE IS
= MK E R P RIS MET IR
5% (FL2023%E 108 18 B @R & @
7t) 0 FEEE AR KS3,000,0007T58
B R M ARERY25.38% o ItbAh o A
TEBRERERERBEARBRA T
PR RIAEMET ISR RE > BER PR
R EBARER 1% - BEDEEER
g R > PRIRTRMEER D
BB PREME I ARHERI24.54% K
75.46% (I3BB& &) ©

]. 74 China New Energy Limited

The following table shows information of an associate that is
material to the Group. This associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method. The
summarised financial information presented is based on the
IFRSs financial statements of the associate:

BETHREMEYRE B RAE (THRRAgH])
Heilongjiang Zhongke Green Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (“Zhongke Green”)

Hr[E

The PRC

FTENMBEERBERMNSEQRN

Production and sales of edible alcohol and high protein feed.

On 31 August 2023, Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan
New Energy Science and Technology Co., Ltd (“Zhongke
Tianyuan”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a subscription agreement (as supplemented in the
Supplemental Agreement dated 18 October 2023) with Mr. Lin
Yongmin and Zhongke Green, independent third parties not
connected with the Group to subscribe for 25.38% of the equity
interests in Zhongke Green by injecting RMB53,000,000.
In addition, Mr. Lin shall purchase the equity interest held
by an existing equity interest holder, Ms. Xia Xiaohong, in
Zhongke Green, amounting to 1% of the entire equity interest
in Zhongke Green. Immediately following the Subscriptions and
the said acquisition, Zhongke Tianyuan and Mr. Lin shall hold
approximately 24.54% and 75.46% of the entire equity interest
of Zhongke Green (the “Subscription Agreement”).



19

(PP ERBSN - FRESEEEMA ARKETT)
Fr{bEtE A= @

RIEBE IR - PRRTERBIEHER
PRSI B R ISR R IR E MU T
FHEMBIRIR » RRSH S EREE
AE#53,000,0007t > BERZHBIET

PR ETERERBEZER -

RRIRTIT ML BN RBERT 18 1

BRTMRZER °

rRE MRS IRR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

19 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, Zhongke Tianyuan
shall settle the subscription price of RMB53,000,000 to
Zhongke Green by offsetting the account receivable due from
Zhongke Green as a result of a construction project previously

engaged by Zhongke Green, and the settlement of the

subscription price has been completed upon completion of the

transaction.

Zhongke Tianyuan and Mr. Lin have completed the transaction

immediately following the entering into of the Subscription

Agreement.
20245 20234
2024 2023
EEEREEmA DL % of ownership interests 24.54% 24.54%
AR¥FT AREEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
7128318 At 31 December:
IERBIEE Non-current assets 234,428 254,228
RENEE Current assets 106,887 89,355
ElaE =K Non-current liabilities (19,013) =
mEaE Current liabilities (126,911) (123,610)
EEFE Net assets 195,391 219,973
REBTGEEREDRE Group’s share of net assets 47,949 53,981
KEBEDIREE Carrying amount of Group’s interests 47,949 53,981
B E20244 1283114 Year ended 31 December 2024/
E 2023%F11H12H Period from 12 November 2023
(REHE = (date of subscription) to
2023F 12831 HEA™ 31 December 2023
= Revenue 575,625 151,603
FRIRET (B518) 5 A (Loss)/profit before tax (24,582) 3,999
Hihemhls Other comprehensive income = =
2 (F518) Waiesa Total comprehensive (loss)/income (24,582) 3,999
E B E A E IR B Dividends received from associate = -

“TTUEEFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

19

FRAGEHE A B m @)
AT

BRI MREE2024F12831H
IFFEEESXEMEBGRR%E > EF08HM
(PR M R EITRUERTE o RS
Mz AU [ElEZET5 R E 1 3 h{ERTaE
RIESEERBERAE (TERE)) B
FREBEEE -

ZETEFRAENRPREMRE IR/ AR
EOFMNANIRE S5 HBEE .
WERETER o PRISMBIBESFHHZ
REMERAETIBREIRHE o

RIRD e BRRRAVEERS - PRHEM
Z P el 2849 75 AR 54,000,000
7T ° BRRERHE 0 IRBIE2024512
A3l B I FENERFIEME AT #m
FESDRIEETIE (20235 @ f#) ©
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19

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Impairment assessment

In light of the total comprehensive loss incurred by Zhongke
Green during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors
have performed impairment assessment on interest in Zhongke
Green. The recoverable amount of Zhongke Green has been
determined by an independent professional valuer, Access
Partner Professional Services Limited (“Access Partner”),
based on value-in-use calculation.

That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management of Zhongke Green covering
a b-year period, and discount rate of 15%. Zhongke Green’s
cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a
steady 3% growth rate.

Based on the valuation report prepared by Access Partner,
the recoverable amount of Zhongke Green is approximately
RMB54,000,000. As a result of the impairment assessment, no
impairment loss had been recognised in respect of the interest
in an associate during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).



(RS EREAS  FIEHEUBARKETT)

AR T IRR I EE
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

20 BATEAHMZMEIZ 20 FINANCE ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
mMEMEE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
1520245 X%2023F12831H » A&EEH As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group invested in
KRER—BRPEFMAIINIELS 2.08% equity interests in an unlisted company incorporated
NEANEHPEEYHREERAETHN in the PRC, Inner Mongolia Zhongneng Biotechnology Co.,
2.08% M1 > MIFFHFEE - BHAKE Ltd., which is not held for trading, and which the Group has
BN ARt e SR R R N R irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in the
FEFAEMEEEE (EATFESA financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
Ht2mEWKE ) ERE E D B o income (“FVTOCI”) category. This is a strategic investment and
AN R E B AEBR A DIEE the Group considers this classification to be more relevant.
RIAE °
KABEERS » Fr2024F 520234 In the opinion of the directors of the Company as at 31
128318 » ARG HEEEYRIEE December 2024 and 2023, Inner Mongolia Zhongneng
[RABEE2024F%2023F125831H Biotechnology Co., Ltd. is still unable to generate cash flows
IFFEHABEER  HEEAKREEH to the Group due to no operation had been launched during
EFXEeRE o At » NEZE20234F the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Hence, fair
12831 HIEFERSBATERE > (0 value loss, (net of tax) of approximately RMB2,126,000 was
FFRIE) 89 AR 2,126,000 27K E recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023 to fully write
MWOREZ IR E 2 BRMEE © down the carrying amount of the investment.
BAFEFAHMEERENEREE The financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in RMB.
MARKESHE ©
21 =& 21 INVENTORIES
2024%F 20234
ARET T ARETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
[EAAH Raw materials 3,388 4,536
P Al Finished goods 585 1,850
THETHERS Work-in-progress for standard parts 5,363 5,436
9,336 11,822

“TTUEEFR
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(BB ERIN » FRESEEEMNAANREETTT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

22 BZEWFERERERE 22 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

20245 20234
AREBTT ANREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRRKWRIE-F=7 Trade receivables — third parties 105,263 104,365
R =% Bill receivables 4,070 3,660
109,333 108,025
A BREWGRIENEWNEEEE Less: Allowance for credit losses of
1R EHE trade and bills receivables (95,885) (73,632)
BEEUGRIENREWZYE —B%8  Trade and bills receivables — net 13,448 34,393
RIREEH I E S BN TIE R BN E An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables based on
B R RERSIE) FUERE DTN T - invoice date (net of impairment losses) is as follows:
20244 20234
ARET T ARETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—ERN Within one year 11,121 33,391
—EMmE One to two years 1,846 1,002
ME=F Two to three years 481 =
13,448 34,393
7L2024FE%2023FE12831H » B5FE As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, trade and bills receivables
WHRIENEWREREUAREEHE © are denominated in RMB.
7R2024%F12831H AR As at 31 December 2024, approximately RMB3,280,000 of bill
3,280,00070 (2023F : AR receivables (2023: RMB2,120,000) was pledged as security for
2,120,0007T) EWERERIFIEA LS the Group’s bank borrowings. (Note 30)
EIRITEFRBIIER (F5E30) ©
B 5 WA W IR R R E s HhEE Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables

I5ERMIEEI7 (b) © are set out in Note 37(b).
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HAMBUGRE R TR IEFIBNT ¢

rRE MRS IRR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

23 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT

Details of other receivables and prepayments are as follows:

2024%F 20234
ARET T ARET T
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEUS BERS 75 7018 (B EE(G)) Amounts due from related parties
(note (i) 22 16
RITEE R AREEREERESTE]  Amounts due from directors related
MEWEENTIE to the exercise of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme 418 416
FITEE R AR EREIRMESTE]  Amounts due from employees
MW BRI related to the exercise of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 2,186 1,986
BRI R NOERSERIERIEE Prepayment for equipment of
SRS EN R (D)) ethanol fuel construction and
alcoholic beverage construction
projects (note (ii)) 5,466 12,331
FEWIZE - 558 (FIEE(I)) Deposits receivables, net (note (iii)) 871 494
Hith > 388 Others, net 2,606 1,115
11,569 16,358

(i)

(iii)

ZERARB BRI « RERIREREE -

ZERRIEAEEERE RN EM
FHERNBREEHERIAE BIRETRYR
R HNRER R ZEREIRHEE
Bl ©

EWREFBIEAERBITERAME N
X PEENREERAB L GNTEN
HE > A ARY78,000,0007T »° BEHE
E# AR #E78,000,0007T (20234 : A
R #78,000,0007T » ReHRBEHARYE
78,000,0007%) > W% i IE B % TEIE
= o HALCOVID-19ZIExZ > BEK
202412831 BMAKRIET B ZE20235F
12A31 B I FERIBEBIBNARE
46,842,0007T °

()

(ii)

(iii)

The amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

The amounts represent the prepayment for equipment for use in the
ethanol fuel construction and alcoholic beverage construction projects
which the Group has contracted with the customers, which will be
recognised as cost of sales when the equipment is delivered and
installed.

Deposits receivables mainly represents up-front payments for
guaranteeing performance of the contracts to Inner Mongolia
Zhongneng Biological Technology Co., Ltd. of RMB78,000,000 with
accumulated impairment of approximately RMB78,000,000 (2023:
RMB78,000,000 with accumulated impairment of approximately
RMB78,000,000) which will be returned upon the project completes.
Due to the COVID-19 epidemic impacts, the projects were not
yet completed as at 31 December 2024. An impairment loss of
approximately RMB46,842,000 was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2023.

“TTUEEFR
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(BB ERIN » FRESEEEMNAANREETTT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

23 HhEWEIERFENTIE 23 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT

(€= (Continued)
HtEWER BN BN IR T E Other receivables and prepayments are denominated in:
&
20245 20234
AREBTT ANREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 11,037 15,839
i GBP 532 519
11,569 16,358
HAEWEIE 2 R BT s B Bk s Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set
37(b) ° out in Note 37(b).
24 BREE 24 CONTRACT ASSETS
20245 20234
ARYETTT AEET T
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEREAEMNEREE Contract assets relating to
construction contracts 184,326 186,900
T ESR RS Less: Loss allowance (35,421) (20,066)
aREE— P8 Contract assets — net 148,905 166,834
K2023F1H1H » EREEMETIEY As at 1 January 2023, contract assets amounted to
# AE¥263,872,0007T © approximately RMB263,872,000.
GREEFERAEERWRERETAMA The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to
HETEAMRRENENER > REA consideration for work completed and not billed because the
BRI BRFEAREBNRKKRITM rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance.
T o ERMARNMARGEHR > GRE The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when
EFSEEEZRIGIE - BiA%ER the rights become unconditional. The Group classifies these
EHREEEEEAARNEZEaRE contract assets as current because the Group expects to realise
EE2R > WAKEHHSBERARNETE them in its normal operating cycle.
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

aREE® 24 CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)
KEE—RMESE10%HNEREER The Group typically agrees to a retention period of one year
BREREEERERAR—FNERS after the completion of construction project for 5% to 10%
A o A EZE ZRANRER of the contract value. This amount is included in contract
BURT RSB TERETSIBFERUL -t assets until the end of the retention period as the Group’s
BEMIBHAGREE B BEREHPG entitlement to this final payment is conditional on the Group’s
AL o 52024 12831H » 5t AA work satisfactorily passing inspection. At 31 December 2024,
FEENRRERS S OMREIEEE) A the retention receivables (net of loss allowance) included in
2 ANERH8435,00077 (202345 © AR the contract assets amounted to approximately RMB435,000
1,245,0007T) ° (2023: RMB1,245,000).
BB EAMIEE37(b) © Details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note 37(b).
IRITHEER IR E 25 BANK BALANCES AND CASH
20244 20234
ARET T ARETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITAFERES Cash at bank and on hand 4,166 5,174

IRITASERIE N F70.02% £0.30% (2023
F 1 0.02%ZE0.30%) AIHHIRETR ©

IRITRFERFESHUTERHE

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from

0.02% t0 0.30% (2023: 0.02% to 0.30%).

Cash at banks and on hand were denominated in:

20244 20234
ARET T AER#ETF T
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEHE (BizE) RMB (Note) 4,007 5,096
BT HKD 140 11
g GBP 5 30
=T usD 8 32
HihEH Other currencies 6 5
4,166 5,174

Kz - Note:

N B S PR 23 MR8 TP EIS N E ETEIE A ©

IRTTASRR N EARIRIRTT PR 2 R E RS
SHEHNMIEES7(b) °

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign

Exchange Control Regulations.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and
pledged bank deposits are set out in Note 37(b).
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(BB ERIN » FRESEEEMNAANREETTT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

26 BHE{IFIE 26 TRADE PAYABLES
20245 20234
ARYTTT AREEFT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
B S ERIE Trade payables 62,260 71,005
7R2024FE%2023F 12831 H » R As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of
ZEOSHHEZEMRENERER DTN trade payables based on invoice date was as follows:
.
20245 20234
ARYETTT AR¥EFT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
DI—% less than one year 9,290 9,317
1E24F 1-2 years 5,274 15,995
2FE34F 2-3 years 10,729 28,336
3FELE over 3 years 36,967 17,357
62,260 71,005
AREBF2024F X 2023F12831HH The Group’s trade payables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
BESEMFIBEBHEUAREHE ° were denominated in RMB.
27 HhFE{IFRIE 27 OTHER PAYABLES
20245 20234
AR¥TTT AR®TT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
JE{TIEER VAT payable 36,889 36,123
HhERIB N EStE R Other payables and accruals 28,352 21,876
I TE Wages payables 6,211 3,526
e EEHIE (fsh) Amounts due to directors (Note) 615 375
72,067 61,900
HiaE - Note:
AN BB RIRERER o The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Other payables were denominated in:

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

20244 20234
ARBFT ABHETFIT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
— AR - RMB 68,964 58,752
—B7T — HKD 2,649 2,841
—HgE - GBP 454 307
72,067 61,900
28 BRAaE 28 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

20245 20234
ARET T ANEBH¥T T
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

HEREAEHNEREaRE Contract liabilities relating to
construction contracts 36,190 42,471

2R TIEMmRI SR EEE » Al
REeERFGAIEESRAR EEME
FaREEZWmBERESEMBILE
AREE B — AR R SR AR TS5 BE AT UER
15%E30% 2 mEWNERTIFFHG
RIWER15% E30% 2 &% © 520234
1518 GR&AENEEA/SARSE

25,145,0007T °

When the Group receives a deposit before the construction
works commence, this gives rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the
relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit. The
Group typically receives a 15%-30% deposit on acceptance
of construction services orders or 15%-30% deposit before
construction work commences. As at 1 January 2023, contract

liabilities amounted to approximately RMB25,145,000.
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(BB ERIN » FRESEEEMNAANREETTT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

28 AEIAE®

TRERNEE2024F K2023F 125
1B FERINEEESSRSEEH
T8 > UNREIEE2024F &
2023F 12831 B IEFEBEBITHNEDN

28 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
in the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 relates to
carried forward contract liabilities and how much relates to
performance obligations that were satisfied in the years ended

ETERNKNEEEE 31 December 2024 and 2023.
ARYET T
RMB’000

2202318 1H As at 1 January 2023 25,145
REEBAFPWEREBRBE Consideration received from customers during the

W58 year over the amounts of revenue recognised 23,706
KEERFEVTAGRBENERR Revenue recognised during the year that was

e included in contract liability at beginning

of the year (6,380)

FR2023%F 12831 B X2024F1H1H As at 31 December 2023 and | January 2024 42,471

FEEAFRNBABEEEHR
W ER

FEERFYFACREENERS
Weam

#2024 128318
29 ERERIEEE(AR)

(i) IRIERIEEE,(BR)

BEREBEE (&R DN

Consideration received from customers during the

year over the amounts of revenue recognised 15,552
Revenue recognised during the year that was

included in contract liability at beginning

of the year (21,833)
As at 31 December 2024 36,190

29 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

(i) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

The analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) is as

T follows:
20244 20234
AREFT UNES
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
RERRIEEE - Deferred tax assets:
—BErBiB12EB%WE - to be recovered after more than
12 months 750 750
— &R 1218 8 muka] —to be recovered within 12 months = -
750 750
EIERIESE ! Deferred tax liabilities:
—BEriBiB12EA %G - to be recovered after more than
12 months (453) (627)
— i HL 1218 B peuk(e] — to be recovered within 12 months (177) (177)
(630) (804)
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

29 RIERMBEEE(ABE) 29 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
(€=) (Continued)
(i) IRIERIBEE (BR) (@) (i) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (Continued)
ERIERIBEE EEBU T ! The movements on the deferred tax assets are as
follows:
20245 20234
AR®TFT AE¥TFT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
LA At beginning of the year 750 15,894
FLEmAIRR Charged to profit or loss = (15,519)
STAEMEENE Credited to other comprehensive
income - 375
RER At end of the year 750 750
ERIERIESEEEU T ! The movements on the deferred tax liabilities are as
follows:
20244 20234
AR¥FT ANE¥TIT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREEA]) At the beginning of the year (804) =
FEHEAE A G0 Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 174 (804)
FRER At end of the year (630) (804)
B E2024F &2023F12831H The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) for
IEFEREIERIBEE (BE) the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, without
g (Rt ME—RFEEEH#E taking into consideration the offsetting of balances
EARAERRIEE) W ¢ within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:
BATE
KB st AEf
IR fETER fig fIEsHE 2HENE st
ARETT  AEBTR AREfr ARETR AEETR ARET:
Bad debt Unutilised
provision Accruals Lease tax loss FVTOCI Total
FILRIEEE / (&f8) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
#2023E181H At 1 January 2023 14,607 624 19 269 375 15,8%
(4188) /3t MB35, (Charged)/credited to profit or loss
Efn 2 EE or other comprehensive income ~~ (14,607) (624) (823) (269) 375 (15,948)
12023F128318 At 31 December 2023 - - (804) - 750 (54)
SFABRY Credited to profit or loss or other
Hth2EdeE comprehensive income = = 174 2 = 174
2024128318 At31 December 2024 - - (630) - 750 120
ZETEFR
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(B EMES > FTESTEEURBARKETT)

29 RIEMIAEE(B1R)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

29 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

€= (Continued)
(i) FRIEESIE (i)  Tax losses
20245 20234
ARYETTT ANREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
WEREERIRIEIRIEE R Unused tax losses for which no
KR ERMRIBEEE deferred tax asset has been
recognised 58,963 39,098
FBERMTEFREMIIE  Temporary differences calculated
STENERERE at applicable enterprise income
tax rate 8,844 5,865
KERIRIERIRTL AR The unused tax losses were incurred by a subsidiary
MEABESE > MEABNRAR located in the PRC that is not likely to generate taxable
HE A AR BTBEE A FERIRULA © income in the foreseeable future. Their respective expiry
HEEBE®MEBUWT - dates are as follows.
20245 20234
ARYETTT AR®TIT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
20244 2024 - 1,278
20254 2025 3,094 3,094
20264 2026 6,326 6,326
20274 2027 34,738 34,738
20284 2028 14,805 -
58,963 45,436
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(PRSP ERESN - FRESEEEMNA AR TT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BIERIREE (B 29 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
€= (Continued)
(i)  KREERDHERERE (iii)  Unrecognised temporary differences
20245 20235
ARETTT ANREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
BURFESRIRIEIRIEE(ERY  Temporary differences relating to
B ARRERRN investments in subsidiaries for
RS ERE which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised:
—RPDEC&EF] — Undistributed earnings = -
RIERIRIERIBEE ER Temporary differences for which
RS ERE deferred tax assets have not
been recognised:
— BRI — Bad debt provision 31,585 26,121
—IERSEERE — Impairment of non-current assets 195 320
— REARIEEE — Unused tax losses 9,290 6,815
—MHEaE — Lease liabilities 664 816

41,734 34,072

“TTUEEFR
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(BB ERIN » FRESEEEMNAANREETTT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

30 #RITfERK 30 BANK BORROWINGS
20245 20234
ARYTTT AREEFT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
BNHA Current
— BEigH — Secured 26,026 14,960
—ERIL I — Unsecured = 5,000
26,026 19,960
JEENHA Non-Current
— BRI — Secured 6,206 7,028
32,232 26,988
(a) FR2024F K 2023%12831H » (@) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the Group’s
KEBFRBIRITERHEUARK bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.
HE °
(b) AHNEEH2024FK2023F12 (b)  The Group's secured bank borrowings as at 31

A31HMERBIRITERN
AE#32,232,000t 2 AR #E
21,988,000 0 M7 EIB(FIR

December 2024 and 2023 of approximately
RMB32,232,000 and approximately RMB21,988,000
respectively were secured by the following.

o
20244 20234
AR®FT AE¥TFIT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
M~ BB NRE Property, plant and equipment 800 902
ERHEE Right-of-use assets 2,110 2,193
W ZEE Bill receivables 3,280 2,120
6,190 5,215

152024 X% 2023%F 124318 »
INEFHEEFN R D H73.85%
K3.72% o

(c) 1520249 X% 2023124318 » (c)
MRAEIREEN R ERN R EL
RERX » IRITERPREEREA
NHERE °
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The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 were 3.85% and 3.72%
respectively.

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximated
their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 as
the impact of discounting borrowings with fixed interest
rates was not significant.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

30 iﬂ TR @) 30 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)
(d) FR2024F K 2023F12831H » (d) At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s bank
AEBEEENRITERNT ! borrowings were repayable as follows:
20245 20234
AR¥FTT AR®FTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
1R Within 1 year 26,026 19,960
1FE24F Between 1 and 2 years 4,882 2,664
2F5F Between 2 and 5 years 1,324 4 364
32,232 26,988
31 HHE&E 31 LEASE LIABILITIES
20245 20234
ARYETTT AR®TIT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEIEEAE . Lease liabilities payable:
—FR Within one year 1,146 1,057
—FE M FERNBBEMEZEARBIA  Within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years 1,261 1,139
MEMU EEBRNBBAFEZHBA  Within a period of more than two
years but not exceeding five years 2,024 3,248
4,431 5,444
B omEEEETFRI2EAER  Less: Amount due for settlement
EERAE T BIFRIE within 12 months shown
under current liabilities (1,146) (1,057)
ERBBEE TRI2ERE Amount due for settlement after
EIHBAE S BIRIE 12 months shown under
non-current liabilities 3,285 4,387

BAREEaSEZ NETHSE
T43.85% (20234 : 4.04%) °

=ti=p el

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities was 3.85% (2023: 4.04%).

“TTUEEFR
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(BB ERIN » FRESEEEMNAANREETTT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

32 7 32 SHARE CAPITAL
EERHE fgs fgs
T ARETTT
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital Share capital
GBP'000 RMB’000
HE Authorized:
15202351818 » 20235%F As at 1 January 2023,
2024 12831H 31 December 2023 and 2024 40,000,000,000 10,000 N/ARER
BRTLEHRE : Issued and fully paid:
20231810 » 2023%F At 1 January 2023,
N2024F12831H 31 December 2023 and 2024 589,758,898 147 1,762
33 f#f& 33 RESERVES
BATHE
stARf
M 2ENENE (Bt /

RiteE  ofER  AEER  AEER  MAEER Pt EER it
Hitte) Mttt Hitte) it Hitte)

Forgign Financial (Accumulated
currency assets losses)/
Share  Combination Statutory ~~ translation ~ at FVTOCI Retained
premium Teserves reseres Teserves reseves  Sub-total” gamnings Total
note () note () note () note (0) note e)
TR03F 1B 1B Balance at 1 January 2023 132,761 (33,156) 29015 21,786 (2124) 14828 46,398 194,680
EnER Loss for the year - - - - - - (1659 (12659)
EthaEEE Other comprehensive loss = 5 = 1687 (2126) (439) E (439)
RA2E12R31 R Balance at 31 December 2023 132,761 (33,156) 29015 23473 (4250) 147843 (80,19) 67,647
TR2000E 151 RE%RES Balance at 1 January 2024 132,761 (33,156) 29015 3473 (4250) 147843 (80,19) 67,647
FREE Loss for the year = = = S = S (59,495) (59.49)
Et2EEE Other comprenensive loss = = - 184 = 184 = 184
T02UE12831 RAGER Balance at 31 December 2024 132,761 (33,156) 29015 23657 (4250) 148,027 (139691) 8336
(1) I IEIS eSS E R AN TEA LS © (1) This represents “other reserve” in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
(@) B&EE (@  Share premium
BIIRMOPTEENRGRER B Share premium arising from the issue of shares can be
FOBMEBSEHENBEE AR o utilised in increasing paid-in capital as approved by the

directors.
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33 f#fEw

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

At

GHREFIELFEER S HERER
FAERWEREANEEFER
BERESWEBIRNEREZER
ZERE o

ERE#E

RIEAE B R PR AL 2 MY
BABERRNRNKRN > e
FIAERE > ZEWBRER
BAERBFTRANEBRIEES
AEEERE EEREATHB
EIHFEMEARSO% AL  Ri%
ME - JRRE R R R IER RS
RNENRFHBIEILUEAL TS
IKTFRBE o

SN E A

MEBINSEEE Z ERZTA
|3ﬁu£3 2P E th 2 o U
s RIS EmABER#EETR
aJr o RETERAIHEREFEERF
BEMOEER

BRAFES ARt E RS HE
MNERMEE

AEREENHEMEE RS ﬁ
RAZBSREN AT EES -
% 50)) W%§®$ﬁﬁk
Hith2 AW nHEENEREERN
F5 o IAERARZANEE S48 LEHEET
o AEERZEHEZREEE
REEA) o

AR TSR IEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

33 RESERVES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Combination reserves

Combination reserve represents the differences between
the nominal amount of net assets of the combining
entities under common control at the date on which
they were acquired by the Group and the nominal
amount of the consideration for the acquisition.

Statutory reserves

According to the rules and regulations applicable to the
Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, when
distributing net profits of each year, these subsidiaries
are required to transfer an amount of their net profits as
reported in their statutory accounts to statutory reserves
until the accumulated balance of such reserves reaches
50% of their registered capital. Depending on the
nature, the statutory reserves can be used to set off
accumulated losses of the subsidiaries or distribute to
the owners in form of bonus issue.

Foreign currency translation reserves

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign
operations are recognised in other comprehensive
income as described in Note 3.2 and accumulated in a
separate reserve within equity. The cumulative amount
is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is
disposed of.

Financial assets at FVTOCI reserves

The Group has elected to recognise changes in
the fair value of investments in equity securities in
other comprehensive income. These changes are
accumulated within the financial assets at FVTOCI
reserves within equity. The Group transfers amounts
from this reserve to retained earnings when the relevant
equity securities are derecognised.

—EFFR
Annual Report 2024 ]. 9 ].
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB ERIN » FRESEEEMNAANREETTT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

34 XEMBATYIER 34

PR #152024F 2 2023F 12531 HHY

LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 December

TERBLTIIE 2024 and 2023:
it/ BEAR MAMELANR  KABELANA
G AR =YL ftEx HREs  REERGRE FRERGRE TTERRASHY
Atributable equity ~ Attributable equity
Place and date of interest of the Group  interest of the Group
incorporation/ Registered Issuedand fully ~ asat 31 December ~ asat 31 December  Principal activities and place of

Company name establishment capital paid capital 2024 2023 operation

2

Directly owned: .

ERTHATRER  GE 10955529570 10955529570 100% 100%  KERE BERRHR
BT (aEr)! 200659520 GEmRE

(Zhongke Tianyuan)* The PRC, USD 10,955,529 USD 10,955,529 100% 100%  Provision of ethanol production

2 September 2006 system technology
infegrated services in the
PRC

R |

Indirectly owned: y y \ -

ﬁ%ﬁé BETHATSN  HED 5,000,007 5,000,007 100% 100% W?ETEIEE‘EGEMEQ
B TEBRAR 1998595308 SHERNEERE
(8% %))

Guangdong Boluo Zhangke  The PRC, RMB5,000,000 RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Fabrication and manufacture of
Tianyuan High and New 30 September 1998 equipment in accordance with
Technology Engineering project requirements
Co., Ltd. (“Boluo and designs in the PRC
Tianyuan")?

ENTBREERAT 5+ 2018E8F8H AEE1,1000007 1,100,007 4% 6% RRERERERERE

Guangzhou Hycrogen Power  The PRC, RMBI,100,000 RMBI,100,000 4% *46%  Provision of technology
Technology Co., Ltd? 8 August 2018 development services

in the PRC
PEE - Notes:
I REPEEREMSII BEERRE 1. Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the PRC law.
2. REPEERAMAEREETAE 2. Registered as a limited liability company under the PRC law.
38 REPEEREMSTIEERSE 3. Registered as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture under the PRC law.
* HZE2023F12831HILEE » ZEEE * During the year ended 31 December 2023, the attributable equity

1LRRRER51 % BB 246% » THERRIFIER
B ARWE100,0007T ° AAREE
BEAEEARESEENTBRREREA
Bl 7 M MASE AR o WAL EEE) P IEER
Fla o At > ENEEEHRERQEER
FEBZWEBREETEZE ©

]. 92 China New Energy Limited

interest of the Group was changed from 51% to 46% due to the
RMB100,000 capital contribution from non-controlling interests. The
directors of the Company determine that the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of Guangzhou Hydrogen
Power Technology Co., Ltd. so as to obtain benefits from their activities.
As such, Guangzhou Hydrogen Power Technology Co., Ltd. is
accounted for as subsidiary of the Group for accounting purposes.
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E FRHFIR ST E

AEEEAREBREENEERE
ZRE » REFEBEEQEEE
BRI REIME N EE 8 (TSRREst
8)) - mEEFEIEHRBIEEAEE
Z EBMEFRING S o RIFBIRE S
g BENHEE RS BRESHERK
AZ5%mBREstBIFHER > 87
ZHERAMA £ PR%30,00058 7T © 381EE
stEIEFR BN R RSP E ©

ERBRPTERIIZNBARREET
BE2EABPREBF S RH MEhR
BATEE > ZetB2EERAEE Y
BEDREE - RiEZtEIZRA > &
SERGERRBEZFELERFRM
o W RSB IIRR o B E MR
PERRIIBIE BB RERE -

RiE L8 WENRKEES ZRIN
B BBHETEEEABERN K&
EiRSEHRINEEAMEE

REBMBAEN T BIFL Z BEHR
MERFENZBHTRE > WERIEE
AR e IR MIEE O IEE -

REB I M E B R PR LGN B A F
ZRERIEMHMBAREE c AR
BIEERA 0 R2024F K%2023%F 124
318 A&EB T EATEREREERNK
ZERIREMRE -

BARREEEE

REBEBHEER  LRFAEENE
BAFRESILUTERRERLE > WEBEL
BERERGRAER ARNRARE
B o FEBZBEREAFEMERT

o

35.

36

AR T IRR I EE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC participate
in a mandatory central pension scheme organised by the PRC
Government for certain of its employees, the assets of which are
held separately from those of the Group. Contributions made are
based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s contributions vest
fully once they are made.

Under the above schemes, retirement benefits of existing
and retired employees are payable by the relevant scheme
administrators and the Group has no further obligations beyond
the annual contributions.

The aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions by the Group
in respect of retirement benefits schemes dealt with in profit or
loss for the year are disclosed in note 10 to these consolidated
financial statements.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its
employees in respect of the subsidiaries outside Hong Kong
and the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 in respect of the retirement of its
employees.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to owners through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

—EFFR
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(xS BRI > FREEREEMNAARKET T)
BAREREER @

FEBENEXEBEEES

36

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36

g

FBIRITRER (WEE30) REESE (it
3D » URAREHEE AEGED (B
BETRA - RAtBE 1 REBEFKRAE

fiti &)

FEBRAEEERXERELS  ME
EEEXDAEBREHEELTDEEA
FEEEEmZ LR - AEERBERBR
REEBRIXENRGEKF ° 172024

F12A31H  *&EBEEEER

363.1% (20234 : 46.7%) °

TRBEERTEHREREARGERE - FRL
EERN—IR  EFCERELRER
HREAERERNAR - RIFESFE
& FEEREEBARE - BITH
REFITHEBREBRBEHE LT
BHEREALRE - AREWAZHIT
ERISNERSRINAIE AN ER o BZE20245F
K2023F12B31HIEFE » EREIR

B1E « B E IS o
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
comprise of bank borrowings (Note 30) and lease liabilities
(Note 31), and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, accumulated losses/retained
earnings and other reserves.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
the Group’s debts over its equity attributable to owners of the
Company. The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio at a
reasonable level. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December
2024 was 363.1% (2023: 46.7%).

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issue and the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debt. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or process for managing capital during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Category of financial instruments

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

2024%F 20234
ARET T AEEFT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREE Financial assets
A H R A ST B RY Financial assets at amortised cost
EREE
B 52 EIGRIE R Trade and bills receivables
eSS 13,448 34,393
HANAEURIE Other receivables 6,103 4,027
IRITHEER IR E Bank balances and cash 4,166 5,174
BATES ARMEE Financial assets at FVTOCI
WRNSmEE - _
23,717 43,594
ERafE Financial liabilities
A H R A ST ERY Financial liabilities at amortised cost
B =X
B 5 MEMMENTIE Trade and other payables
(FEIERETIEER) (excluding VAT payable) 97,438 96,782
HEAE Lease liabilities 4,431 5,444
RITER Bank borrowings 32,232 26,988
134,491 129,214

“TTUEEFR
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(FRAHB RS - FREEEREMA ARETT)

37 EMITH®w

(b) HMBEEREEBFRRER

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

FEENTESHTHABEES
FEWRENREREE - HiE
WRIE ~ SRITERAIRE ~ B2
FESFAHMEERENERE
E~ BRRHEMENTRE HE
BERENMRTER - ZFTMITA
S EIRER S BRI - HE
f T EMRRIN R EETISRR
(BEERRERAERRR)  FER
fERoRB AT AR - [FEZER
BEVBERESINT - EEEEE
NEEER S R o LU R K Bl

BRSEIEEREN

5/ R

BB

BRI EEmERZ WA IFLL

EREE B EEMNIHEEE

BREDEENERS -

EEHER

FEBTBEDEEE » KB

R UAFEEE R

A

RESHERER - ZEBHER?
BEEE/5EE ((5HE) ~ =T
(1&=7e)) RABTHINER ZHE

R o

A B R H T ESMER F &

% o AT > NEEEERE

By
mRE8

BER > LR REREEY

MEREBER
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Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and bills receivables, other receivables, bank balances
and cash, financial assets at FVTOCI, trade and other
payables, lease liabilities and bank borrowings. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with the financial instruments
include market risks (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk arises from commercial transactions or
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
that is not the functional currency of the relevant group
entity.

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the
transactions denominated and settled in RMB, which is
the functional currency of the entities in the Group. The
Group was exposed to currency risk arising from foreign
currency transactions, primarily with respect to Great
Britain Pound (“GBP”), United States Dollar (“USD”)
and HKD.

The Group has not hedged its foreign exchange rate risk
exposure. However, management of the Group monitors
currency risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant currency risk exposure should the need arise.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) EHERAMEEBEIEREEE (@) (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
R () Market risk (Continued)
EEmE L (E) Currency risk (Continued)
NEEEMBERRNFREE » K& The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
ELONESHENEKEENEK denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
BEMNEEENT - at the respective dates of consolidated statement of
financial position are as follows:
20245 20234
ARYETTT ANREETTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
B GBP
— HAnEWNEIE — Other receivables 532 519
—IRTTHEER IR E — Bank balances and cash 5 30
— HAfEAIRRIE — Other payables 454 307
ETT usDh
—IRTTHEER IR E — Bank balances and cash 8 32
HTT HKD
—iRTTHERR IR E — Bank balances and cash 140 11
—HAENFIE — Other payables 2,649 2,841
“ETUEFR
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(b)

M RREEBIEREER (8

5B (4)
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of
a 5% change in RMB against the relevant foreign
currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year-end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. Should RMB strengthened/weakened by
5% against the relevant currencies, the effect on post-tax
loss for the years would be as follows:

ARS8, ((EINES1E)
20244 2023
ARYETTT AREFT
Change of post-tax loss
decrease loss/(increase loss)

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RS . RMB against GBP:
FHES% Strengthened by 5% 4 10
87 1E5% Weakened by 5% 4) (10)
ARERZETT ! RMB against USD:
FHES% Strengthened by 5% = 1
B2 {E5% Weakened by 5% = 1)
AR ET RMB against Hong Kong dollar
(BTl - (“HKD"):
FE5% Strengthened by 5% (107) (120)
B2 (E5% Weakened by 5% 107 120
N (B R ] Fair value interest rate risk

@Y T 2R E 2R B EE
MERER  SAEREBEAF
BENRER - AEETTBERT
KA NH WA LB RE R

2.4
72—

AR B R T A R
SRS o
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The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from
borrowings with fixed rates, which expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. The Group closely monitors
trend of interest rate and its impact on the Group’s
interest rate risk exposure.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
contract assets, trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, bank balances and cash and pledged
bank deposits. The carrying amounts of trade and
bills receivables, other receivables, bank balances and
cash and pledged bank deposits represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets. The tables below detail the credit risk exposures
of the Group’s financial assets and contract assets, which
are subject to ECL assessment:

1288 =25
NEMEETR TEHREEHE IREAEE
ARETT
Internal 12-month Gross
20244 Hisz credit or carrying
2024 Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
RMB’000
REBER A ER Financial assets at
EREE amortised costs
RITHER MRS Bank balances and cash 25 TER 1218 B FEHA 4,166
N/A =EEE
12-month ECL
EWER Bills receivables 22 (b)) 1218 BT8R 4,070
(note i) EEBE
12-month ECL
B RENEIE Trade receivables 22 CGED) 2 HATAHR 105,263
(note i) (515t
Lifetime ECL
BREE Contract assets 24 (PfsEi) 2 HATEHA 184,326
(note i) (515t
Lifetime ECL
HEWEUE Other receivables 23 (B &%) 12{8 B Ta5A 6,624
(note ii) EEBE
12-month ECL
HehpEWEIE Other receivables 23 (B 5Eii) 2 HATEHA 78,000
(note iii) EEBE
Lifetime ECL

—EFFR
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1FEmBER BB (4

37

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

12{BB i =HE
RIBEETR TBHEEESR REAEE
AEEFT
Internal 12-month Gross
20234 BfsE credit or carrying
2023 Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
RMB’000
SR AT R Financial assets at
TRIEE amortised costs
RS MIRE Bank balances and cash 25 B 1218 B a8 5,174
N/A EEEE
12-month ECL
e EE Bills receivables 22 (B s 128 B 785 3,660
(note i) EEEE
12-month ECL
Eidlvees Trade receivables 22 (Hzi) 2 HATEHA 104,365
(note i) EEEBR
Lifetime ECL
EREE Contract assets 24 (b)) 2 HATEHA 186,900
(note i) EEEE
Lifetime ECL
HhpEuza Other receivables 23 (hED) 1218 B TEEH 6,004
(note ii) EEEBE
12-month ECL
HhpEWEIE Other receivables 23 (B 5Eii) 2 HATEHA 78,000
(note ii) EE/E
Lifetime ECL
Mz - Notes:

(i) HEZ W BN EER S
FIBEMS @ FFEEEREFER
HBREEREIRIE L EHL
ZHIER1E BT IR 51 BT R A
o BRAREITIES G HES

(BEEETTRIEFE) S > K5 H
FBHIE W EE = F R ERITRA
1EEH7E °

(ii) AETAEIERERERE » 754
ERFaA s B I E R
RTINS EAMGIENN © JE
20244 202312531 H » &%
FRERR AR BRI B E ST ©

(iii) B FE2023F 12531 HIFFE -
HE S (TEEFEN S 1 Y
HENEBY I RELLE »
WA #578,000,00070
EBBEHELHRBIEERR &
FIRMfEW S - A2 A
23(iii) °

200 China New Energy Limited

()

(i)

(iii)

For trade receivables, bills receivables and contract assets,
the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for items
that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the Group determines the ECL on
these items by past due status.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, these balances are either not past
due or does not have fixed repayment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a debtor of other
recelvable of amount RMB 78,000,000 had been transferred
to lifetime ECL as the project status associated with the deposit
paid to the debtor was paused and significantly delayed. For
details of the other receivable, please refer to Note 23(ii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for contract assets and trade receivables.

Bills receivables

The credit risk associated with bills receivables, which
are all bank acceptance drafts, is limited because the
accepting bank will cash the bills unconditionally when
the Group presents these bills on due dates.

Other receivables

The credit risk of other receivables has been assessed
with reference to historical information about the
counterparties default rate and financial position of the
counterparties. The Group recognised the allowance
for expected credit losses by assessing the credit risk
characteristics of other receivables, discount rate and
the likelihood of recovery and considering the prevailing
economic conditions.

Bank balances and cash
The credit risk of the Group on liquid funds is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are

international banks and state-owned banks with good
reputation.

—EFFR
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(b)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

MR EEBEERBER (8) (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
EERER R ES (& Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
ATtETEIAEERE > BSEW To measure the expected credit losses, trade
RENEGREELRERREE receivables and contract assets have been grouped
BRSEACAIAREDE - & based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
BEARHENTERETENEW days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled
REBEER > WEAREEERE work in progress and retention receivables and have
HNE S ERFCEEE ARIERD substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade
RIS o At > AEBERA receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group
B EWRHIENERSEEEAS has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for
FEEREENSIEILE o trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the
loss rates for contract assets.
FEHEEERDERHE—EER The expected loss rates are based on the estimated
N EEHENOEMENIBL default rates and loss given default applied to each
X WHEBEER P EERIER category of debtor, adjusted for forward-looking
= EpalibN S S ENTO D] information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
BRETRE - ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
REEBBREBESIRS BB Analysis of trade and bills receivables and contract
SIENFENEWERUNEE assets by categories based on method of provision for
BEZOM credit loss allowance
045 3k
2024 023
KHAE fEEEERE i [EEFRER
Gross carrying amount ~~ Credit loss allowance Gross caryingamount~ Creditloss allowance
g8E MR B HAw  REE 0 48 HRW &8 ofln KA
Proportion Proportion  Carrying Proportion Proportion ~~ Carrying
Category £ Amount (%) Amount (%) amount  Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
NEEFTT NEETT AEBTT ARETR AT NEBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB1000 RMB000 RMB'000
Provison on ncividual basls  SRERIEERHE
~Tredeand bils receivebles — ~BHENFERENEE 76,59 2.1 (76,115) 994 481 64%6 20 (64%0) 100 -
- Contract assets ~HREE 159,914 55 (34975) 29 124939 11473 39 (114n3) 100 -
Provision on portolobesis ~ HAREEHE
-Tadeandbilsreceicbes  -SRENGERENZE 2737 IL1 (197700 604 12967 43059 M6 el D1 UM
- Contract assets -RHEEE 2412 8.3 (446) 18 2396 19017 05 (85%) 49 166834
Total 5 293,659 100 (131,306) - 162353 2049 100 (936%) -0

202 China New Energy Limited
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Analysis of trade and bills receivables and contract

assets by categories based on method of provision for

credit loss allowance (Continued)

(i) Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
individual basis:

2024 F FREEER
2024 Closing Balance
REABE EEEERE EEBI(%) BERE
Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion Reason for
amount allowance (%) provision

AREFT ARETR
RMB’'000 RMB’000

EBHMEWIEL  Trade receivables 1
BHMEWEIE?  Trade receivables 2
EBHFEWEIES  Trade receivables 3
EBHMEWEIEA  Trade receivables 4
BHMEWIES  Trade receivables 5
BHMEWIES  Trade receivables 6
BEFEWEIE7  Trade receivables 7
BHMEWIES*  Trade receivables 8*

HEEEL" Contract assets 1*
BRIEE2 Contract assets 2
* UTFEHEBR—7F °
B EBHRIES R AR
HEL o
BREEINGEEE?
2R TS ©

37 (37) 100% Note (iii)

8 (8 100% Note (ii)

74,519 (74,519) 100% Note (iii)
49 (49) 100% Note (ii)

89 (89) 100% Note (ii)

980 (980) 100% Note (i)

280 (280) 100% Note (i)

634 (153) 24.1% Note (iii)
142,100 (31,079) 21.9% Note (iii)
17,814 (3,896) 21.9% Note (iii)

236,510 (111,090)

* The following pairs represent each of the same party.

Trade receivables 8 and contract assets 1.

Contract assets 1 and contract assets 2 are related
parties.

—EFFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37

(b) HBERERBFEREE (&) (b)

1B FEHE ()

RIEEREERHED AN ERE
BRERBRARERRBUNER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Analysis of trade and bills receivables and contract
assets by categories based on method of provision for

BEZ 7 (@) credit loss allowance (Continued)

(M) ZER BEEHREERIE (i) Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
BENEZREZIEBRE for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
BE&EEZDH . (&) individual basis: (Continued)

2023FFE R R
2023 Closing Balance

REMAE EEHEERE EEBII(%) BHERER
Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion Reason for
IEH ltem amount allowance (%) provision

ABEBTT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
BSMEEIE]L  Trade receivables 1 37 37) 100% Note (ijii)
B 2GR EZ Trade receivables 2 8 (8) 100% Note (ii)
B EWEIE Trade receivables 3* 61,158 (61,158) 100% Note (iii)
Eilen AIE4* Trade receivables 4* 2,384 (2,384) 100% Note (ii)
BSMEWEIES*  Trade receivables 5* 30 (30) 100% Note (i)
BSMEWEIE6  Trade receivables 6 89 (89) 100% Note (ii)
B SEWFIE7*  Trade receivables 7+ 980 (980) 100% Note (i)
EZEWFUIES*  Trade receivables 8* 280 (280) 100% Note (i)
BREEL" Contract assets 1* 9,702 (9,702) 100% Note (iii)
BREE2 Contract assets 2 868 (868) 100% Note (i)
BREE3 Contract assets 3* 106 (106) 100% Note (i)
aR&EEL" Contract assets 4* 797 (797) 100% Note (ii)

76,439 (76,439)

MWFEHBE—7 °

B 5 UK

BEL;

H3RAE

S RKRIEAR AR

BEL N

E 5 ERRIE R AR

BE3-°
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The following pairs represent each of the same party.

Trade receivables 3 and contract assets 1;

Trade receivables 4 and contract assets 4; and

Trade receivables 5 and contract assets 3.



(RS EREAS  FIEHEUBARKETT)

37 EMITH®w

(b)

BB RREEBIEREBER (8

15 B R B E AT (45)

RIEEREERHES AN ERE
ZRBRARERRBUNER
BEZ D (R

)

BER B 2SR EEEIR
BHENEZBUGENR S
REEZDT : (8

BER B 2SR EEEIR
BHENEZRUGENR S
FEENT :

st -

FEEEEAEGRZZH S
RN SEEERENBERER
(BERELEER) - WEAEE
BRI T AR FE SR A 1R 1
o

0] EEERS 0 ARNZE
FIENRIRREB A
LB 0 BAEH
EEEEEfahUREIE
% RitFEozBE 5
WRIEEHR 2 ERE

(ii) BERERD > ARAE
EEAREFAKE
% ATz E S
WRIBEHR 2 ERE ©

(iii) EIEERR 0 172024
FR2023F12H31H
FREEAKREEGERN
BEBNEITEBTME

rRE MRS IRR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Analysis of trade and bills receivables and contract
assets by categories based on method of provision for
credit loss allowance (Continued)

(i

Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
individual basis: (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets for which
credit loss allowance is provided on an individual
basis as follows:

Note:

The Group considered the reasonable and supportable
evidence and information (including forward-looking
information) available in relation to the counterparty, to assess
the expected credit losses and recognised the loss allowance

accordingly.

(i) The management believes that full impairment is
necessary in respect of this trade receivable as there
were internal changes of debtor in respect of this
trade receivable and the Group is considering to
have litigation to collect the debts.

(ii) The management believes that fully impairment is
necessary in respect of this trade receivable as the
Group has lost contact with this debtor.

(iii) The management consider the debtor with
significant outstanding balances as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 was assessed individually.

“TTUEEFR
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37 £MTIAw®w 37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) MEBEREEBIRRER (B (b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

EERER R ES (& Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

(i RESEEFHREERBE (ii)
RENEZREFERS
F&EERBEHBARER

Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
for which credit loss allowance is provided on
portfolio basis, based on aging of debtors:

DT
1ER 1E2ER pEXE: IENE st
AREFT ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Over Over
1 year and 2 years and
Within within within Over
1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BARWMFER Trade and bills receivables
FEWERE
1520245128318 At 31 December 2024
FEaE Gross carrying amount
—ERRYZER ~Trade and bills receivables
RWER 12,378 3,030 1,099 16,230 32,737
LIRS Expected loss rate 10% 39% 100% 100% -
BERELE Loss allowance provision 1,257 1,184 1,099 16,230 19,770
REFE Net carrying amount 11,121 1,846 = = 12,967
BREE Contract assets
1%2024%12831H At 31 December 2024
FEeE Gross carrying amount
—REEE ~ Contract assets 15,604 1,212 2,691 4,905 24412
ESEE Expected loss rate 2% 2% 2% 3% 3%
g =g Loss allowance provision 252 20 43 131 446
FEFE Net carrying amount 15,352 1,192 2,648 4,774 23,966
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37 EMTIAw®w 37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) MEBEREEBRRER (B (b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

EERERBEFE (E) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

L 1226/ 2E3ER 3ENE fast
A\EETT ARETE ARETT ARETT ARETR
QOver QOver
1 year and 2 years and
Within within within Qver
1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B REKTER Trade and bills receivables
12023%12A31H At 31 December 2023
RERE Gross carrying amount
—EZRWETIER ~ Trade and bills receivables
EUEE 33,706 1,012 2,734 5,607 43,059
ikt o= Expected loss rate 2% 2% 94% 99% =
BEEESE Loss allowance provision 521 21 2571 5,553 8,666
REFE Net carrying amount 33,185 991 163 54 34,393
BREE Contract assets
1%2023% 1278310 At 31 December 2023
FEeE Gross carrying amount
—AREE - Contract assets 1,992 168,610 4167 658 175,427
EsEx Expected loss rate 6% 2% 100% 100% =
BEEESE Loss allowance provision 113 3,655 4167 658 8593
REFE Net carrying amount 1,879 164,955 = = 166,834

FREREZBUGTRENLEWE
BRI BRR GRS T

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade and bills receivables during the year is as follows:

20244 20234

2 HATEHA 2 HATEHA

EER1EE EEREEE

ARETTT ANREETTT

2024 2023

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

Total Total

RMB’000 RMB’000

1B 1 BRV4EER Balance at 1 January 73,632 42 364
FRERIRERIE Impairment losses recognised

during the year 22,253 31,268

712831 B4R Balance at 31 December 95,885 73,632

ZE T MEFLR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

SET contract assets during the year is as follows:
20245 20234
2 HATEHE S HATEHA
EEREIEE EEE1EEE
ARYETTT AREFT
2024 2023
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Total Total
RMB’000 RMB’000
R1B 184S Balance at 1 January 20,066 21,565
FERFERAVEEREREE  Reversal of impairment losses
recognised during the year 15,355 (1,499)
K128 31 HAiEER Balance at 31 December 35,421 20,066
FL2024F K 2023F 12831 H »

BR1L2024F &2 202312831 H
AR AKR178,000,0007TH
HABUWRIRSD - ZEEFFEH
BRI R BT EEEE
;o AEBERIEAEMEE
RSt ERmEEE - FRNERE
TGRS 1R B A AR B U0

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, except for the other
receivables with gross amount of RMB78,000,000 as at
31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the Group’s other
receivables are either not past due or does not have fixed
repayment, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL. Movement in the loss allowance account in
respect of other receivables during the year is as follows:

B
20245 20234
stz 121E 8 4Bt A2 1218 8
TE(EERsE TEHAE EE51E
AR¥TTT AR®TT
2024 2023
Total and Total and
12m ECL 12m ECL
RMB’000 RMB’000
K181 Hm4ERR Balance at 1 January 80,477 34,215
FAREBB R ERE Impairment losses recognised
during the year (1,934) 46,262
12831 B4 ER Balance at 31 December 78,543 80,477
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage
of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial
assets and liabilities. The Group’s objective is to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through financial support of business partners
and suppliers.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserve of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term. At present,
the Group is financed by advance payments from
customers and bank borrowings.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
Group’s financial liabilities at the reporting date based
on contractual undiscounted payments:

—FR Bim—F st
ARBTT ARETT ARETT
Less than More than
one year one year Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1£2024F12H31H At 31 December 2024
RITIER Bank borrowings 26,527 6,375 32,902
B NEHMERNFIE  Trade and other payables
(FEIEEMISER) (excluding VAT payable) 97,438 - 97,438
HEAaE Lease liabilities 1,291 3,412 4,703
125,256 9,787 135,043
#£2023F12H31H At 31 December 2023
RITIER Bank borrowings 20,474 7,344 27818
B NEHMMERFIE  Trade and other payables
(R EIEREE(ER) (excluding VAT payable) 96,782 = 96,782
HEaE Lease liabilities 1,254 4,703 5,957
118,510 12,047 130,557

—EFFR
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38 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) PRPRISIMABIRSIEESE (FRA) ./ (@  Reconciliation of loss before income tax to net cash
FriSIRE F M HER (used in)/generated from operations
HE12H31HIEEE
20244 20234
AREBTT ARETTT
Year ended 31 December
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRPTSFRETESIE Loss before income tax (59,466) (110,400)
IV Adjustments for:
— A — Finance costs 1,780 1,821
— W2 ~ B NG A — Depreciation of property, 4,508 4,923
e plant and equipment
—(FREEEITE — Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,244 1,212
—E s EE — Amortisation of intangible assets 2,050 1,850
—E EERERE — Impairment loss reversed on (502) (1,390)
#5[al intangible assets
—mEEME — Write-off of intangible assets = 2,245
—tHREEMEREE — Net impairment losses on 35,674 76,031
REREFEE financial assets and contract
assets
— W~ RS K ERIESE  — Write-off of property, plant and 17 =
equipment
—EREIEFEE — Exchange losses, net 80 1,170
— I EHIRAR — Bad debts written off 2,475 4,270
—PLRRERETIE G — Provision for claim 3,500 =
PR =YNSIES Gt Share of result of associate 6,032 (981)
EEESTEERI Operating loss before working (2,608) (19,249)
KZ 518 capital changes
SEETEE Changes in working capital:
—aR&EE — Contract assets 99 98,537
—EFE — Inventories 2,486 (2,474)
— E SRR FEUL — Trade and bills receivables 5,453 (31,244)
ERMU R EAMERR and other receivables and
YN SEINE O] prepayment
== — Contract liabilities (6,281) 17,326
— B NEMENRIE — Trade and other payables (1,958) (50,305)
K& (PR /FrisiRsE Cash (used in)/generated (2,809) 12,591

2 ]. O China New Energy Limited
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AR T IRR I EE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(PRSP ERESN - FRESEEEMNA AR TT)  (Allamounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

38 ZEHRETRERMF @ 38 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) REFEHIR (b)  Net debt reconciliation
AEFHINEEVNFEFHER This section sets out an analysis of net interest bearing
TR BT EEI D HT o debt and the movements in such debts for each of the

year presented.

20245 20234
AR¥FTT AR#FT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
HENIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 4,166 5,174
RITEFNIEESRE Bank borrowings and lease liabilities
—hE——FREE — current — repayable within one
year (27,172) (21,017)
RITEFNIEESR Bank borrowings and lease liabilities
—IEmEN — non-current (9,491) (11,415)
FE Net debt (32,497) (27,258)
20245 20234
AR¥FTT AREFT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
RENMIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 4,166 5,174
WEB—EENE Gross debt — fixed interest rates
(36,663) (32,432)
HER Net debt (32,497) (27,258)

“TTUEEFR
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38 LZEHRERERMF @

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

38 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) HEFEHERG (b)  Net debt reconciliation (Continued)
RER &R fem-  fHEBR-  HERE-
REEEN  BENER ERE ik (i) &3
ARETR  AEETR  ARETr  ARETR  ARETRT  ARETR
Lease
Cash Borrowings Borrowings Lease Liabilities
and cash due within - non- Liabilities - non-
equivalents 1 year current - current current Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
120236 Net debt as at
18184 1 January 2023
FER 1879 (27132) (1,350) (718) = (27.321)
HEERAE Addition of lease liabiliies = - - (1512) (4,387) (5,899)
Bene Cash flows 3301 1,494 - 1,173 - 5968
B Reclassification S h678 (5,678) = = S
BEEE Translation differences ) 5 5 = = )
12023& Net debt as at
12A31R 31 December 2023
FER 5174 (19,960) (7,028) (1,057) (4,387) (27.298)
12024 Net debt as at
1R1AH 1 January 2024
BER 5174 (19,960) (7,028) (1,057) (4,387) (27.298)
Bene Cash flows (1,028) (5,244) - 1,013 - (5,259)
BHNE Reclassification = (822) 822 (1,102) 1,102 5
BEEE Translation differences 20 = = = = 20
120245 Net debt as at
12A31R 31 December 2024
FER 4,166 (26,026) (6,200) (1,146) (3,285) (32,497)

2 ]. 2 China New Energy Limited
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AR T IRR I EE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Related party balances

Details of the outstanding balances with related parties
are set out in the consolidated statement of financial

position and in Notes 23 and 27.

(b) Key management compensation

20245 20234
AR¥FT AR¥EFTT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
IE He LAk Salaries, wages, bonuses and other
HAthtg#] benefits 2,350 2,224
HABE 40 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
122024 % 2023F 128318 » A&H As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no
TR E A EARNAEE © significant contingent liabilities.
BZSKiE 41 CAPITAL COMMITMENT
152024F X%2023F12531H » A&EEH The Group did not have any material capital commitment as at
I AR B K E AR o 31 December 2024 and 2023.
afFal 42 LITIGATIONS

72024128130 » —RBAHAEAR
BB AR ERPR RTH R
BRAB(THRIXTT)) IREERRE
CERRZEH#RTEA(2024)E0181R %)
67135%) o ZERFESNBUE— B IEE
B TENKREBCHEHHEETEARE
3,000,0007t @ EREEABES AR
500,0007T ©

REAEEIINSRANER > AR5
EERNRERRIUEAIRRZE
MIE o At > BE20245F12831H
ILFEERRPRIREBOARE
3,500,0007T » st ABE20244 12831
HEYEMAEIRUE o

On December 13, 2024, a customer initiated a legal
claim (Court Case No. (2024)20181R#]67135%) against
Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy Science and
Technology Co. Ltd (“Zhongke Tianyuan”), a subsidiary of the
Company. The claim involves the cancellation of a revenue
contract and a request for a refund of RMB3,000,000 for the
settled sales amount, along with RMB500,000 in damages for
breach of contract.

Based on the opinion of the Group’s external lawyer, the
Company’s directors consider it probable that the customer will
successfully claim these amounts. Consequently, a provision of
approximately RMB3,500,000 has been made regarding this
claim for the year ended 31 December 2024, which is included
in other payables as of December 31, 2024.

“TTUEEFR
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B RBMBR AR R R

28

(a)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

43 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY
EATFER TR (@)  Statement of financial position of the Company
20245 20234
AR¥FTT AREFT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
HE ASSETS
ERBIEE Non-current asset
—ER B AR Investments in a subsidiary
"E 13,857 70,791
MEMEE Current assets
FEWAS B Dividend receivables 6,140 6,063
HnEWEE A Ta Other receivables and
INEC=! prepayments 3,155 2,932
IRTTAEER IR E Bank balances and cash 149 46
9,444 9,041
BEE Total assets 23,301 79,832
= EQUITY
ERATEEA Equity attributable to
FEfL RS Owners of the Company
% Share capital 1,762 1,762
el Reserves 11,547 71,333
R Total equity 13,309 73,095
afd LIABILITIES
mEnafE Current liabilities
FES I B ABIFIA Amounts due to subsidiaries 6,371 3,265
HthpERTIE Other payables 3,406 3,260
FEIRIE Tax payable 215 212
9,992 6,737
PN =R Total liabilities 9,992 6,737
HEENEE Total equity and liabilities 23,301 79,832

TABMBARNETENR20255F
SABIHHESFEHELIRET
> WA TFIALTARRE !

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 31 March 2025 and are signed on its

behalf by:
REEZ FEIJRE
Yu Weijun Tang Zhaoxing
BE 5
Director Director

2 14 China New Energy Limited
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N

43 zf;’&ﬂﬂﬁ%ﬁkiﬂ%%&ﬁ%{ﬁ 43 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

%) AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

EE)

—~

(b) EATHEEES (b)  Reserve Movement of the Company
M
i aE it 5t fact

ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT
Hrt33(a) Hit33(a)

Foreign
currency
translation Accumulated
Share premium reserves losses Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Hiit33(a) Hi233(a)
12023518 18M4S  Balance at 1 January 2023 132,761 22,075 (65,248) 89,588
EREE Loss for the year - - (20,387) (20,387)
Hih2mess Other comprehensive loss 2,132 = 2,132
1%2023% 1278310 Balance at
s 31 December 2023 132,761 24,207 (85,635) 71,333
EREE Loss for the year = (60,048) (60,048)
Hih2mes Other comprehensive loss = 262 = 262
1%2024%12H31H Balance at
iiaes 31 December 2024 132,761 24,469 (145,683) 11,547

“TTUEEFR
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TREGAAE B & FE 20204 ~ 20214 ~ 2022
F~ 2023F K2024F12B31HIEFEZ %

The following table summarises the results, and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023

|BENER: and 2024
HE12A31HILEE
20245 2023E 20205 20215 2020F
AEEFT NEBTTT NS T NS ANEBTL
Year ended 31 December
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
SaBm R Major Items of Consolidated
2ERER Statement of Profit or Loss and
IEER Other Comprehensive Income
EE Revenue 85,428 41,826 117,354 386,831 H21,561
/(B Gross profit/(loss) 16,872 (5,122) 15,187 45,322 132,716
/()% Gross profit/(loss) margin 20% (12.2%) 12.9% 11.7% 254%
ER (R /ah (Loss)/profit for the year (59,292) (126,723) (50,957) 7,79 44,364
NG 2N (Loss)/profit attributable to the owners
(E538) /A of the company (59,495) (126,594) (50,525) 8421 44,364
IR RIEL Profit/(Loss) atiributable to the
R/ (§58) non-controlling interests 203 (129) (432) (626) =
358/ mh= Net (loss)/profit margin (69%) (303.0%) (43.4%) 2.0% 85%
e W Major Items of Consolidated
IEER Statement of Financial Position
FIRBEE Non-current assets 79,140 91819 54,043 63,246 51,031
MBEE Current assets 187,424 234,581 49177 473511 448,140
Eheat Non-current liabilities 10,121 12,219 1,350 8,246 13,832
i) Current liabilities 246,788 245,418 286,045 278,836 242,729
NEVEB NER Capital and reserves attributable to
BRNRE the owners of the company 10,098 69,409 196,442 249,860 242610
RS Non-controlling interests (443) (646) 617) (185) =
BEGEX Gearing ratio 26.61 375 147 1.15 1.06

2 ]. 6 China New Energy Limited
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